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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

Chairman £
Shi Kancheng Ak

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of Zhong An Real Estate Limited (“Zhong An” or “the
Company”) and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”), | am pleased to
present the results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2014
(“the year under review”).

REVIEW OF RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the turnover of the Group was
approximately RMB1.55 billion, representing a decrease of approximately
36% as compared with that of 2013; gross profit was approximately
RMB391 million, representing a decrease of approximately 57% as
compared with that of 2013; profit after tax was RMB402 million, a
decrease of approximately 12% as compared with that of 2013; and
basic earnings per share were RMBO0.14. The board of directors of the
Company (“the Board”) did not propose to declare a final dividend to the
shareholders of the Company (2013: RMB1.8 cents per share).
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Chairman’s Statement

EFERE

MARKET AND BUSINESS REVIEW

During the first half of 2014, regulatory control remained the main theme of
the PRC real estate market, the market was full of downturn atmosphere.
In the second half of the year, numerous local governments started to
abolish the regulatory control, and loosened home-purchase restrictions
progressively. Later on, with the issue of the “Notice on Further Improving
Housing Financial Services” by the China Banking Regulatory Commission
and the interest rates reduction, market confidence was gradually
recovered, and the sale volume of properties increased. The Group
adhered to its prudent and stable business approach and maintained its
focus on the Yangtze River Delta Region, timely adopting an operation and
sales strategy which matched the market situation and launched products
of high cost performance catering for end-users. For the year under review,
the volume of contract sales was substantially the same as last year’s
under a fierce competitive environment.

For the year under review, two new residential projects were launched for
sale (Jiarun Mansion and Chaoyang No. 8 high-rise apartment in Shushan
Town) in Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province. In 2014, the
Group had twelve residential projects on sale located in seven cities and
districts in the Yangtze River Delta Region and the overall sales result was
basically in line with our expectation. For the year ended 31 December
2014, the Group recorded contracted sales of approximately RMB3.53
billion, which was substantially the same as compared with that of 2013,
and contracted GFA sold of approximately 411,000 sqg. m., representing
a year-on-year increase of approximately 17%, with contracted average
selling price of approximately RMB8,599 per sqg. m., representing a year-
on-year decrease of approximately 15%.
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Chairman’s Statement

EFERE

SPIN-OFF COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES,
ESTABLISH A DIVERSIFIED BUSINESS
COMBINATION

Besides devoting in residential property development, the Group
proceeded towards the development of commercial and investment
properties in a steady progress as in the past, and spun-off the portion of
commercial properties for inclusion beneath the flagship of, China New City
Commercial Development Limited (“China New City”) after restructuring.
China New City was successfully listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong on 10 July 2014. China New City operated as an independent entity
and it has brought in a professional management team to operate the
commercial properties business, and developed urban complex to create
value for cities as well as expanded distinctive property management and
value-added services so as to build up a diversified business portfolio for
enhancing the overall competitiveness as well as mitigating operational
risks.

For the year under review, Holiday Inn of the Group in Xiaoshan, Hangzhou
was in smooth operation with steady occupancy rate. Revenue from
hotel operation was close to that of 2013. Currently, the Group has six
high-end hotels under construction or in planning stage, including the
two hotels managed under the “Run Zhou” brand in Huaibei, Anhui and
Qiandao Lake, Hangzhou, as well as four other hotels to be managed
by internationally renowned hotel operators, namely the Doubletree by
Hilton in Yuyao, Ningbo, JW Marriott Suzhou in Jinjihu, Suzhou, Fairmount
and Swissotel at Qianjiang Century Town in Hangzhou, which will be
successively put into operation starting from late 2015. Meanwhile, the
leasing of Highlong Plaza in Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, the flagship
project of the Group, was satisfactory for the year under review. The
leasing rate for shopping centre and office buildings remained high, and
revenue from leasing saw a slight increase compared to that of 2013. The
Hidden Dragon Bay Project was completed in April 2013. There had been
one full year’s operation of the shopping mall and street shops. The overall
leasing was good, leasing rate was increasing steadily, and began to
contribute a stable cash flow for the Group. At present, the Group has four
major investment properties under construction or planning. These include
high-end shopping centres and grade A office buildings located in Yuyao
of Ningbo, Jinjihu of Suzhou, Qianjiang Century Town of Hangzhou and the
district centre of Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, which will also be put into
operation starting from 2015.
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Chairman’s Statement

EFERE

In 2014, subsequent to the advocation of the new urbanization
development strategy by the government, the professional team of China
New City led the Group into the land development market, which the
Group considered to have huge growth potential. The Group cooperated
with local governments to develop new towns and related infrastructures
planning.

Besides, the Group also has engaged in developing overseas properties
market, 11 townhouses will be developed in 2 phases in wealthy low-density
residential area in Vancouver, Province of British Columbia, Canada. The
development is expected to be completed by 2017. The site is located at
prime location with about 20 minutes’ drive to downtown Vancouver City. It
is expected that it can generate considerable return to the Group.

PRUDENT LAND ACQUISITION FOR
REPLENISHING LAND BANK

Adhering to the healthy financial policy, the Group persistently implements
its prudent land replenishment strategy of acquiring high quality land which
meets market demand at low cost at appropriate time, so as to optimize
the structure of its land bank. On 25 March 2014, the Group acquired the
land use right of a site in Shushan Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province for residential and commercial uses through open tender
auction, at a total consideration of approximately RMB736 million. The
land occupies a site area of approximately 46,703 sg. m. and a total gross
floor area (GFA) of approximately 199,224 sg. m. (of which approximately
146,192 sq.m. is for residential and 53,032 sg.m. for commercial use).
The average land cost is only approximately RMB3,696 per sg. m..
While bringing synergies to the Group’s projects under construction
in Hangzhou, the project enhances the Group’s brand influence in the
Yangtze River Delta Region.

As of the date of this annual report, the Group had a land bank of
approximately 6.61 million sq. m., which is scattered in nine cities and
districts in the Yangtze River Delta Region. The land bank is expected to
support its development in the next five years. The average land cost is
approximately RMB1,051 per sg.m..
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Chairman’s Statement
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OUTLOOK AND DEVELOPMENT
STRATEGY

Looking forward to 2015, the Chinese economy will still face challenges
with uncertainties in the global market, and the ongoing economic reforms
and structural adjustments may hamper the growth momentum in the
short term. It is expected that under appropriate regulatory control by
the central government, the real estate market shall remain steady. The
continued implementation of the new urbanization policy by the central
government will provide room for continued growth of the real estate
industry. Therefore, the demands for value-for-money and end-user’s
products with potential appreciation remain to persist. The Group will
remain prudent in the near term and is optimistic in the long term, and will
proactively seize market opportunities and adjust marketing and pricing
strategies and product mix to maintain sustainable development of the
Group and bring satisfactory return to our shareholders.

The Group will continue to promote its business model of ‘acquiring land
and selling products at a fair price; developing projects and collecting sales
proceeds in quick process’, and, through Zhong An, develop more quick-
sale products targeting end users and high value-added, low-density
residential units in order to accelerate asset turnover. We will continue to
fully leverage on our strong brand name and optimize marketing strategy
with active marketing as the dominant mode for more rapid growth of
sales. As regards its operational management, the Group will carry out
internal reform and adjustment, implement a series of management
policies, e.g. detailed planning management, hierarchical control and
review at critical points, further improvements in the standardization of
product, process and system, in order to enhance management and
operational efficiency. At the same time, the Group will continue to steadily
push forward the development of commercial and investment properties
by China New City whose specialised management team will be in change
of development of commercial properties, hotel management, leasing and
management of investment properties and urbanization development that
will lead to appropriate expansion in downstream services in real estate
industry, thereby generating stable revenue and dispersing operational
risks.
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Chairman’s Statement

EFERE

As one of the main target regions for new urbanization and modern town
development, the Yangtze River Delta Region will be set for building
a world-class city cluster. A veteran developer in the Yangtze River
Delta Region, Zhong An has accumulated extensive experience in the
development of complex real estate projects in the region and has built up
its own premium brand advantage. Therefore, the Group will continue its
established development strategy of seeking investment opportunities in
the affluent second and third-tier cities in the Yangtze River Delta Region
and the Top 100 counties across the country, strengthen cooperation with
its strategic partners to further expand its market share and maintain its
competitive edge in the industry.

The Group will continue to uphold a prudent financial policy. The spin-
off of the commercial properties business, under China New City will
expand the funding channels to support the development of commercial
properties business. At the same time, the finance costs will be lowered
and the debt structure will be optimized. These will maintain a stable
and sufficient cash flow that can support the Group’s development with
ample funding and branding. By gradually building highly efficient investor
relations management system, the Group can develop a long-lasting,
interactive and favourable relation with the capital markets and the media,
S0 as to enhance corporate transparency and corporate governance, and
promote the understanding, recognition and support of the Group among
the general public, thereby strengthening the shareholder base.

Looking forward, the Group is committed to becoming one of the most
competitive real estate developers in the Yangtze River Delta Region, as
well as in China, and to building up a diversified and synergetic business
and product portfolio, in order to maintain sustainable development, and
maximize values and generate excellent return for our shareholders.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express sincere gratitude to the
support and trust of our shareholders and business partners as well as the
dedicated efforts of all our staff.

Shi Kancheng
Chairman

The People’s Republic of China,
24 March 2015
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEWE T

RESULTS

The audited consolidated revenue of the Group for 2014 was RMB1,550.1
million, representing a decrease of about 36.4% from that in 2013. The
gross profit for 2014 was RMB390.5 million, representing a decrease of
about 57.5% from that of 2013. The profit attributable to owners of the
parent for 2014 was about RMB319.7 million, representing a decrease of
about 24.0% from that in 2013. Net core loss (excluding fair value gains
in investment properties, after tax) was RMB115.7 million whereas the net
core profits (excluding fair value gains in investment properties, after tax) in
2013 was RMB220.2 million. The basic earnings per share was RMB0.14
(2013: RMBO0.18). The Board did not propose to declare a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2014 (2013: RMB1.8 cents per share).

Industry Review

In 2014, the real estate industry in China continued to be affected by the
regulatory measures imposed by the central government. There were,
however, signs of stabilizing, in the later part of the year, as the local
governments started to gradually abolish the sale restriction and the
People’s Bank of China cut the interest rate. The property market seemed
to improve and the confidence of the home buyers regained.

According to National Bureau of Statistics of China, the gross floor area
(GFA) of residential properties sold in 2014 was recorded at about 1.21
billion sg. m., representing an increase of about 7.6% compared to that of
2013, which is lower than the increment of about 9.7% recorded in 2013.

According to the portal site of www.tmsf.com (FFEHEREH) in
Hangzhou of Zhejiang Province, the GFA of residential properties sold
in Hangzhou (including Xiaoshan and Yuhang Districts) was about 9.86
million sg. m., representing an increase of about 4.5% as compared to that
of 2013, whereas the average selling price per sg. m. was RMB15,653,
representing a decrease of about 8.6% as compared to that of 2013.
According to Sina.com in Hefei (www.hf.house.sina.com.cn), the GFA of
residential properties sold in Hefei of Anhui Province was about 9.30 million
sg. m., representing a decrease of about 13.9% as compared to that of
2013. The average selling price per sg. m. was RMB7,755, representing
an increase of about 11.0% as compared to that of 2013. According to the
Bureau of Property Management of Huaibei, Anhui Province (Z2#& 4t
MEHEEIE), the GFA of residential properties sold in Huaibei of Anhui
Province was about 1.76 million sg. m., representing a decrease of about
21.1% as compared to that of 2013. The average selling price per sq. m.
was RMB5,262, representing a decrease of about 0.27% as compared to
that of 2013. According to the portal site of www.eyuyao.com (FREkAEE
#8), the GFA of residential properties sold in Yuyao of Zhejiang Province
was about 0.81 million sg. m., representing a decrease of about 1.2%
as compared to that of 2013. The average selling price per sg. m. was
RMB9,846, representing a decrease of about 19.29% as compared to that
of 2018.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEE WD T

BUSINESS REVIEW
Sales and earnings

The GFA of properties sold and delivered by the Group in 2014 was about
137,653 sg. m. (2013: 263,987 sqg. m.), representing a decrease of about
47.9% compared to that of 2013.

The recognised average selling price per sg. m. achieved by the Group in
2014 was about RMB10,693, representing an increase of about 16.8%
from RMB9,152 in the previous year. It is due to the fact that most of
the recognised revenue was contributed by the sales of townhouses of
Dragon Bay and Jade Mansion in Yuyao, Zhejiang Province with average
selling price of RMB29,841 and 20,199 per sqg. m., respectively in 2014
whereas that of 2013 was mainly contributed from the sales of serviced
apartments of Hidden Dragon Bay in Hangzhou and residential apartments
of Vancouver City in Huaibei with lower average selling prices of RMB8,659
and 4,729 per sq. m., respectively.

During the year under review, the total recognised GFA sold for the major
projects of the Group and the respective recognised revenue are as
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follows:
Recognised Recognised
GFA revenue
Projects HH ERAHERDR ERRHEEKRA
sSQ. m. RMB million
7K ARBESETT
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province AT E M
Hidden Dragon Bay fEaEE 8,598 70.8
Landscape Bay 82 19,620 210.0
Others* Hh 2,544 214
Yuyao, Zhejiang Province AT B R
Dragon Bay 15 BE V& 5,636 168.2
Jade Mansion FERREE 27,984 565.2
Hefei, Anhui Province ZHEEAIRSH
Green Harbour resE 17,048 125.5
Huaibei, Anhui Province ZHEEELT
Vancouver City R ETEES 56,223 299.9
Other’ Hi 11.0
Total et 137,653 1,472.0
# including: Landscape Garden, Guotai Garden, New White Horse Apartments,  # B WKGE - BIRER - EEAE 5FBEE -

White Horse Noble Mansion and Yisheng Building Material Market.

* Representing the sale of a plot of land of Amber Rise in Vancouver, Province of

British Columbia, Canada.

BREM TS

BI—WE L7 NS K 3 B i b 3576 )8 BT 3 Amber Rise
B L HHYIHE -
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The average cost of properties sold per sg. m. of the Group was about
RMB7,939 in 2014, representing an increase of about 41.8% from about
RMB5,597 in the previous year. It was due to the fact that most of the cost
of properties sold was contributed from the sales of townhouses (Dragon
Bay and Jade Mansion) with higher construction costs.

Progress of development on the major projects

Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province
Landscape Bay

This is a residential project located on the south bank of Qiantang River,
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, which was completed
in previous years, with a total GFA of about 300,012 sg. m.. The project
includes island-style townhouses, high-rise apartments with river view,
car park lots and clubhouse. The volume of sales of this project is within
expectation.

Hidden Dragon Bay

This is an integrated commercial complex in Wenyan Town, Xiaoshan
District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province with a total GFA of about 241,695
sg. m.. The project includes low-rise luxurious leisure mansions for
corporations, high-rise serviced apartments, a shopping mall, street shops
and car park lots. The project was completed in April 2013. The volume of
sales of this project is within expectation.

International Office Centre

This is a large-scale integrated commercial project in Qianjiang Century
Town (5T t423, ), Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province with
a total planned GFA of about 1,896,860 sg. m. in 3 phases, Phases A to
C. Phase A of the International Office Centre includes two hotels, office
buildings, a shopping mall, serviced apartments and underground car
parking lots. The serviced apartments, a shopping mall and underground
car parking lots of Plot A3 of Phase A, with a total GFA of about 328,367
sg. m., were completed in July 2014. As at 31 December 2014, the
renovation works were in progress. Plots A1 and A2 of the International
Office Centre are expected to be completed by December 2017.

20145 - REETEF TR EHEEXEL A
ARHET7,9397T - B EFEHNHARE 5,507 7018
NAI41.8% - REBHDBHEMERAREEEE (12
B IERE ) IHE - BEKARS -

IERHRAZREMR
WTEHME

=AY
RI/=

AT EMM TR REE TR E - ARER
TE /300,012 F T REEERARNBEFETK °
ZHEERBEXHE  2IRSELS  FHE5
NEMHEK - ZRBNRENETEN -

[EREE

R TENTRILERER  BEEEER
241,695 F ARME ¥ S - ZBEBREER
mEEARNEN  SERBEXAE - KEBEYH
D FEHRIFEISHENK - ZIEER2013F4 A
BT o ZIBAMEEHMETEM -

BYFRAF I L

7 AT & DN T AR L [ 80Tt 4 3 A —TE R A
ETEIER - BARBIREEIEL 1,896,860 T
K HIHRER(FEAZCH) - BEBEHAH L
ABRERMZOBIE « AE - RAEEYH L - RIS
NAE R MEEAEK © 2 ASHEMRBAA
g REBEYP LR MEELAREMEBENR
328,367 F K » 1A2014F 7 A% T - 220144
12 A31 BEETIRETH « BRRIHOA1 R
A2 M ERTEAT SR 2017 F 12 AR &L T -
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White Horse Manor

This is a residential project in Xiaoheshan, Yuhang District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province with a total GFA of about 243,497 sqg. m.. It consists
of high-rise residential buildings and low-density residential townhouses
situated at a hilly terrain with beautiful scenery and green vegetation. The
townhouse units are built with American architectural design and on the
terrain with spacious view. The project is in proximity to local universities
and Xixi Wetland. As at 31 December 2014, the construction was in
progress. It is expected that the project will be completed in around
October 2015. The result of the presale of the project during the year under
review was within expectation.

Ideal Bay

This is a residential project in Linping, Yuhang District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province with a total GFA of about 538,856 sg. m.. The project consists
of townhouses in British architectural design and multi-storey apartment
units. As at 31 December 2014, the construction was in progress. It is
expected that the townhouse portion will be completed in around June
2015 whereas the high-rise residential portion will be completed in around
early 2016. The presale of the project during the year under review was
within expectation.

Chaoyang No. 8

This is a project with multi-storey residential apartments and commercial
amenities in Shushan Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province and its total GFA is about 199,224 sg. m.. It is at the prime
location with Hangzhou Metro Line No.2 terminal in the proximity. As at 31
December 2014, the construction is in progress. The project, as a whole,
is expected to be completed in around May 2017. The presale was within
expectation since its commencement from November 2014.

Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Run Zhou Resort Hotel

This is a hotel project in Qiandaohu Town, Chunan County, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province with a GFA of 46,580 sqg. m.. This hotel will be built at the
shore of Qiandao Lake with a beautiful lake view and natural habitat. As at
31 December 2014, the construction was in progress. It is expected that
the project will be completed in around October 2015.

A5 LA

AT BN ARRE NAILESEEIER - &
REEMEBA R243,497F 5K « ZIEE AR EREE
RIEREHEMEK - RIBEE - FEKILME -
FRAENEERE - ZEAMAEMABRAE
B o FA2014F 12 A1 B - BET R MEHTT
th oo FEETEZIAR R 2015E 10 ARTAE T - F8E
REIBFNTATEE -

&

AT BN AMERETHEFEIES - £2
L EH) /538,856 F oK - %A B BIEHRA AR
HENZERSE - 20145128318 #ETE
MTE#ETTHR o TERTHEE S R 20154 6 A RTi4
%T  SEEEBDER2016FPET - BER
BIEEFAMFETEH -

#5837

WIEB AZEBREEABREERE - (LAMIIE
UM T RR LS & 478 - AR EEEIE40199,224
FAK o UMMM B 2 SRARR UL E S HER o I
201412 A31 8 » BETRMAEIT - WIER
TEEHE 20175 ARIEERT - Z2IBETEER B
2014 F N FHBAFATER -

VT T8 M E BB

AT BN 2R GTERERNEEIER
HEHEEE R 46,580 F 75K o B EHER T 5
FBAEZERAASERBERERE - N20144F
124310 » BETIRHMETFH - Bt ZERH
R 2015F 10 ARIEERT -
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Yuyao, Zhejiang Province

Dragon Bay

This is a high-end low-density residential project in Yuyao, Zhejiang
Province, which was completed in 2013, with a total GFA of 196,809 sq.
m.. The project consists of French, European and Spanish-style low-rise
residential buildings. The sale during the year under review was within
expectation.

Jade Mansion

This is a low-density residential project in Yuyao, Zhejiang Province with
a total GFA of 292,807 sg. m.. The project consists of townhouses and
residential apartments and it is next to the Dragon Bay. As at 31 December
2014, the construction of first phase of townhouse was completed and
the second phase is in the planning stage. The construction of residential
apartments will be completed in around June 2016. The presale of this
project during the year under review was within expectation.

Zhong An Times Square

This is a large-scale integrated commercial project in Yuyao, Zhejiang
Province, with a total GFA of about 628,408 sg. m. in 2 phases. The
project includes a hotel, offices, retail units, residential apartments, and
underground car parking lots. It is next to the Dragon Bay and the Jade
Mansion, which are projects spanning along a river. As at 31 December
2014, the construction of the project was in progress. It is expected to be
completed in around November 2015. The presale of this project during
the year under review was within expectation.

Zhong An Landscape Garden, Cixi

This is a residential project with commercial portion which provides
ancillary services to the local residents. The total GFA is about 494,138
sqg. m.. It consists of multi-storey apartments and commercial block which
will be constructed in phases. As at 31 December 2014, the first phase of
apartments was under construction and it will be completed in around May
2016. The presale of the multi-storey apartments during the year under
review was within expectation.

WTER T

s

AT A RBET - QEEETEA196,809F 5K
N EREFEBEECR2013F R T - Z18H
HER - B FAERFNEZEEEELAK - RE

BER - HE

FERE

AR -

R IERTHERETFEIER  B2%EE
&/292,807F /K - ZIBE AHFEREEAS -
WEIMHEEE - 12014F 12318  BEEE &
FIFRBREIRE - EEATIEE
1572016 F 6 ARTEET ° %

EREERT -

WA TEH] -

RLHLES

URAHTE RO ABLRAE
T8 4628,408F 7K (HMHD) - ZBEEBE—X
BIE - RAE TEBEMN - FEABRMTEE
5o ZIBEYREEREREEBEERIMAE - ©
201412 A31H » BETRMEHEITFT - %EE
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FEARMBET - ZEABBENEBFARATE

H o

RELFEERRAT]

—F-mEER

23



Management Discussion and Analysis

EEE WD T

Hefei, Anhui Province
Green Harbour

This is a low-density residential project in Hefei, Anhui Province, which was
completed in previous years. The presale of this project during the year
under review was within expectation.

Huaibei, Anhui Province
Vancouver City

This is a low density residential project in Huaibei, Anhui Province. The
construction of Phase 3B to D with multi-storey apartment units and GFA
of about 309,712 sg. m., was in progress as at 31 December 2014. The
construction is expected to be completed by June 2016. The presale
during the year under review was within expectation. The construction of
a hotel, VC Hotel, with GFA of about 67,061 sq. m. in Phase 6D will be
completed in the first half of 2016.

Jiangsu Province
Jia Run Square

This is a large-scale integrated commercial project in Suzhou, Jiangsu
Province and it is close to Jinji Lake. It consists of offices, shopping mall,
serviced apartments and a hotel with a total GFA of about 251,391 sg. m..
The construction will be completed in around December 2016.

Overseas

Amber Rise

A project was set up in Vancouver, Province of British Columbia, Canada
with a GFA of about 15,712 sg. m.. The site is located at wealthy district
with about 20 minutes’ drive to downtown of Vancouver city. Totally 11
townhouses with individual swimming pools and deluxe design will be
built in 2 phases. Construction will be commenced in April 2015 and it is
expected that the entire project will be completed by end of 2017.

EHE LB
s

URZHEARETHEZEEEER  ERNBE
FETK - ZBENBEREBEFANTATER -

ZHERELT
B ST

UREZREEILMOEEETEER - £3BED
HEEZEATEN  EEAKELNI09,712F 5
Ko 20146128318 - TI2EMAETH » st
R 2016F 6 ARNET - HEROEEFEFATE
HY o BREEMEL) 467,061 F 7K F 6D HIRYE /5
CREFFERE) B 2016 F L FRIET -

TEE
SBEY

MR IHEHINMHIARGAHERE 208
o BRERAE - BYPL - RERXABR—
SOBE - $REEMAEA251,301F K « R T2
1R 2016 FF 12 A5ERK °

ST\
Amber Rise

RNEXEBT R EERTER AL - B
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S BETREA2015F 4 ARE - W@
HE B 2017 FFEEFIEET -
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Contracted sales in 2014

As at 31 December 2014, the contracted GFA sold by the Group was
about 410,848 sq. m. (2013: 351,952 sg. m.) with the amount of about
RMB3,532.9 million (2013: RMB3,567.3 million). Set out below are the

details of the contracted sales from the major projects:

2014 FHEREHEE

HZE2014F12A310 » AEEMNERIEEEEL
B5410,848F F7 K (20134F : 351,952F /5 3K) » &
FIHEWA BN ARKES532.95E T (20134 :

ARWES567.3HET)  TBHEBMARHER

B
Percentage of
interest in
the project
attributable
to the Group
Contracted Contracted AEE
GFA sold amount hZEH
EREHEEE EREHERA ERMNEDL
(sg.m.) (RMB million)
(FFFK) (AREBET)
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province AT ERME
Hidden Dragon Bay e 12,879 102.4 67.6%
Ideal Bay 148 59,672 359.7 45.9%
Jiarun Mansion =ERE 8,655 116.0 73.1%
Landscape Bay =5E 14,133 156.6 92.6%
Chaoyang No. 8 BHF5% 8 9% 32,748 469.3 90%/65.8%
White Horse Manor BSIE 76,091 878.7 90.0%
Others* Hip~ 2,544 21.5
206,722 2,104.2
Yuyao, Zhejiang Province WL E RS
Dragon Bay 1 EEE 3,012 49.5 90.0%
Jade Mansion SRR 44,003 421.6 93.0%
Zhong An Times Square (Phase Il) R ES (—H) 12,679 135.5 93.0/68.0%
Zhong An Landscape Garden, Cixi 2R &1117K3E 34,886 162.4 90.0/65.8%
94,580 769.0
Hefei, Anhui Province ZRESET
Green Harbour FreBE 19,781 170.7 84.20%
Huaibei, Anhui Province ZREMELT
Vancouver City BEFE 89,765 489.0 100.0%
Total HET 410,848 3,532.9
* Including: Landscape Garden, Guotai Garden, New White Horse Apartments, * B K BREE - FASAE AFBR

White Horse Noble Mansion and Yisheng Building Material Market
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It is expected that the GFA available for sale from the projects to be
completed in 2015 would be about 279,740 sg. m., the details of which are
as follows:

TEE R 2015 F T LIE A MRl N SR EEBEN B
279,740 F 5K - FFBWOT ¢

Percentage of

interest in
the project
Expected GFA available attributable
completion for sale to the Group
date AHHE AEBEMN Usage
BIRIAE MEEHER BHEREON B#
(sa.m.)
(EHK)
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province WIERME
Ideal Bay-townhouses BRE—HE June 2015 36,243 45.9% For sale
20156 A HE
White Horse Manor ASILHE October 2015 243,497 90% For sale
2015610 HE
Total @t 279,740
Land bank T ik

As at 31 December 2014, the total GFA of the Group’s land bank was
about 6,611,428 sq. m., out of which the total unsold or undelivered GFA
of the completed properties projects was about 594,523 sg. m.. As at 31
December 2014, the average acquisition cost of the Group’s overall land
bank was about RMB1,051 per sg. m..

During the year under review, the GFA of properties of which the construction
were newly commenced by the Group was about 392,274 sg. m..

Other business development

The Group strives to build up a diversified business portfolio so as to
provide more stable income in the future and to mitigate operational risk.
We will broaden the scope of property services which includes hotel
operation, leasing, property management services, nursery stock and
agricultural plantation, in order to extend the downstream services of
our property development business and to maintain a steady and solid
operation of our Group.

201412 A31 B » NEE T HEEREmE
#)7%6,611,428 F7K - EHETMEREEIR
RIS BREEEL H594,523 F 5K - 1R 2014F
12 A31 8 » AEE L FEFHRER N BETF
TR AREE,0517T ©

REBEEE  ANEBFFEIVENEERELNS
392,274 F 7K o

Hith B R

AEEBRELZTTENEBHES - BARKEE
FREWS  FERgLERR NEEKERY
¥RGHE SEEELE HE MEEER
B EEEAEERRERERER - JIENET
EXRTHREENER - REFBENER
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Hotel operation

Holiday Inn Xiaoshan Hangzhou, a hotel of the Group, is located next to
the Highlong Plaza in Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province. It is
managed by Holiday Inn (China) Co., Limited, a well-known international
hotel brand within the InterContinental Hotels Group, and recorded a
revenue of about RMB47.6 million for 2014, representing a decrease of
about 14.7% compared to a revenue of about RMB55.8 million recorded
in 2013. The occupancy rate was about 46.6% (2013: 49.8%).

The Group is planning to build a hotel within the large-scale commercial
residential complex at Zhong An Times Square (Phase ) in Yuyao. The
construction of the hotel was in progress as at 31 December 2014.
The hotel will be managed by Hilton, an internationally-renowned hotel
operator, and it is expected to commence operation in 2016.

The Group has also had 2 hotels under construction as at 31 December
2014. They are Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Run Zhou Resort Hotel and VC
Hotel which will be managed by the Group under its own Run Zhou brand
and are expected to be completed in October 2015 and the first half of
2016, respectively. The operation of Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Run Zhou
Resort Hotel and VC Hotel will expected to commence in the fourth quarter
of 2015 and the second half of 2016, respectively.

The Group is also planning to build a hotel at Jia Run Square, Suzhou,
Jiangsu Province. It will be managed by an affiliate of Marriott International,
Inc.. The construction was in progress as at 31 December 2014 and is
expected to be completed in around December 2016. The operation will
commence in 2017.

These new hotels above will, upon their commencement of operation,
create a new income stream to the Group.

HEEE

AREBERTMNELERBBEEMATTENINTER
B ES S - BMBRERBEE T A ML
BOBJE @R AEE (RE) BRAFERE - 2014
FEHEBHBABOARKEA7T6 BB - 2013F
MAANREESS 8B E TR DA 14.7% < BIEAE
KU 46.6% (2013 4F © 49.8%) °

AEEBERRTOALAE -EEREER
R RS () B2 —Z0EE - R2014F12 A
1R ZBECET - HhBERMEEESERD
FHREEIE - IR 2016 FFHEE

MN2014F12 8318 - ASKEB2EARABIE - ©
BN T ESHEE BT EDE - MRAEY
AASELUEMNBEERE - HRIR20156F10A K&
20164 L% T » i T & EMNERERE &
BT B R B R 2015 F F 4 FE X 2016 F
LEFIAEIE o

REENAZNIHE N TR BESEE R
BIE - BARBRBEBB/EEEERE - 20144 12
A318 - ITREME - BN 2016F 12 A#14
BT 2017 EFIHEL -
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Leasing

The leasing revenue for 2014 was about RMB93.1 million, representing an
increase of about 11.2% compared to RMB83.7 million in 2013.

Currently, Highlong Plaza provides the main source of leasing income.
This plaza consists of office buildings, a shopping centre, a hotel, serviced
apartments and underground car parking lots. The leasing rate of the
shopping centre is about 95.2% (2013: 87.1%) and that of office buildings
is about 86.0% (2013: 84.8%). Overall, a general increase was recorded as
compared to those of 2013.

Upon the completion of the construction of Hidden Dragon Bay in April
2013, the retail units with GFA of about 24,328 sq. m. were for lease
subsequently. The leasing rate was about 77.1% in 2014 (2013: 32.5%).
A full year rental income in 2014 is the main factor that contributed to the
increase in the property leasing income of the year under review.

The Group has been launching various festival activities and promotion
events to attract and boost customer flow. This has created a positive
impact on tenants’ businesses and enhanced the overall rental value of the
properties leased by the Group.

The serviced apartments at Highlong Plaza were sublet to and managed
by independent operators, Ningbo Sanbi Hotel and Hangzhou Youbang
Hotel, during the year under review. The operation was highly satisfactory.
Other investment properties also contributed to the leasing income of the
Group.

Property management

The Group provides quality property management services to the
communities located in properties developed by the Group and other
developers. The services are further enhanced by inclusion of the provision
of travel tours, housekeeping and nanny services etc.. This will further
facilitate the Group in the corporate brand management.

HEXK

014FHEXEBFWANAREBITE T &
2013 FH ARE83.7 BETTEMNAI11.2% °

REFAINHESWAZTEREERES - ZE

BERNE S BYHRL - BE - REBEANAEM
HTMEEL o YR ORI EHAEEL95.2%(2013
F:871%) + AR H T EEL86.0% (2013
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BREENR01BF4ATI  HBEEEEBED
24,328 FHORMZE B AN A - R2014F
FAELT77.1% (20134 : 32.5%) - REIEFEY)
¥HEEWALEMEZRARLN 2014 FEEFEHA
SUAFTE

rEE-BEMRSEHREYRERLZY - R
SINREMERE - WRCHBEERBHREBREY
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Other services

The Group is also developing nursery stock plantation for agricultural
purposes and managing organic plantations for producing agricultural
products. The customers are mainly the home-owners of the properties
to which property management services are provided by the Group. Such
value-added downstream services will form an integral part of the Group’s

HAubBR#% %

BEmM-
PIHET - 5LF

property development and management businesses. Accordingly, the

scope of services of the Group will be widened and the Group’s corporate

branding can be enhanced.

Awards and recognitions

The Group had received the following awards and accolades from the PRC
government and recognized authorities during the year under review:

Awarded by
BB

RENERE

>um4>‘r
ﬂ%”

Awards
#R15

AEENEREXR
EFIERBARBEREMEE
M INE TR RIS A A R E Y
EERMEBEBN —&D
B EAREENEERE

AEERGEZAERRSREH]
B

B M R AR TS #

EirﬁﬁﬁﬂwT%%ﬁ$WTﬁ

Awarded parties/projects

®#®7 HE

China Real Estate Research Association, China
Real Estate Association, China Real Estate
Appraisal Center

FEEMERRE  PREEMEXEGS

rp B A R EE A O

China Real Estate Research Association, China
Real Estate Association, China Real Estate
Appraisal Center

FEEMERRE FPREEMEEGS

R B B R FT AR

Xiaoshan 4th Internet Living Expo Committee,
xsnet
BLUENEELLEEY

HEe BB

Housing Industrialization Promotion Center,
Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural
Development

55 AR SR AR E A S (R O

Fang.com

RE®

Keyhouse.com.cn

(ER T

HOUSE365.com
365 B ER fE 4

Top 100 Real Estate Listed Companies in China
with Most Comprehensive Strengths
2014 Bl HhE FTHARISRAE /110034

Top 5 Most Innovative Real Estate Listed
Companies in China

2014 Bl E A FIRIFTEE ) 558

Property with the most comprehensive ancillary
facilities

=R
EITHE

AECERR

China Ecological-livable Supreme Estate

hEAREFERR

2014 Highest Cost Performance Property in
China (Hangzhou)
2014 S () S BB L2 A2

Hangzhou Property Market Annual Award-Most
Investable Commercial Property
MMTETFENERE - FAREBE
[SE3 2

2015 Most Investable Estate
2015 FEHARKRERBERR

Zhong An Real Estate Limited
REEERRRAF

Zhong An Real Estate Limited
RREEARAR

Chaoyang No. 8
FAk5 8 9%

Phase 3 North, Vancouver
City
BT = B

Zhongan Ideal Bay
BRI E

Jiarun Mansion

YN

Jiarun Mansion

YN
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Human resources

As at 31 December 2014, the Group employed a total of 2,225 staff (2013:
1,868). In 2014, the staff cost of the Group was about RMB134.3 million
(2013: about RMB144.7 million), representing a decrease of about 7.2%.
The decrease was mainly due to decrease in amortisation of share option
expenses of about RMB22 million.

The employees’ remuneration policy was determined by reference to
factors such as remuneration information in respect of the local market,
the overall remuneration standard in the industry, inflation level, corporate
operating efficiency and performance of the employees. The Group
conducts performance appraisal on a yearly basis for its employees, the
results of which are taken into account of in the annual salary review
and promotion assessment. The Group’s employees are considered
for the entitlement of annual discretionary bonus according to certain
performance conditions and appraisal results. To attract talented people
and solidify the management, eligible participants (including employees
of the Group) may be granted options to subscribe for shares in the
Company pursuant to the share option scheme adopted by the Company.
The Group also provides continuous learning and training programs to its
employees to enhance their skills and knowledge, so as to maintain their
competitiveness.

Dividend policy

The Board determines the dividend policy of the Company according to
financial condition, operating results, capital requirements, shareholders’
equity, contractual restraint and other factors considered relevant by the
Board.

ANER

MR2014512A31H - AEBEREAEI2225A
(20134F : 1,868 A) ° 20145 - ETRAHAR
#1343 B B (2013F : HARB1447EE
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B BETHSRETENFENR - BIRKE - B
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B AERZ2EE(BRAKERT) IREAR
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group recorded audited gross
profit of about RMB390.5 million, representing a decrease of about 57.5%
compared to that of about RMB918.3 million in the previous year. The drop
is due to the reduction in recognised revenue from the properties sold and
delivered and the selling prices of townhouses of Dragon Bay and Jade
Mansion were less than anticipated due to market causing a reduction in
gross profit margin due to the market reasons in the year under review.

Other income

Other income increased by about 38.9% to about RMB43.6 million in 2014
from about RMB31.4 million in 2013. The increase was primarily due to

increase in interest income earned from joint venture.

Selling and distribution costs

The selling and distribution expenses increased by about 6.0% to about
RMB135.5 million in 2014 from about RMB127.8 million in 2013. This
increase was primarily due to the increase in the marketing expenses spent
for the presales of launched projects to counter greater competition in
unfavourable market condition in 2014. The contracted sales of 2014 was
achieved to similar level of that of 2013.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses increased by about 1.8% to about RMB304.1
million in 2014 from about RMB298.6 million in 2013. This was primarily
due to the increase in the number of staff and the one-off expenses
incurred in connection with the listing of a subsidiary during the year under
review.

Other expenses

The other expenses increased by about 118.8% to about RMB7.0 million
in 2014 from about RMB3.2 million in 2013 which was due to the increase
in charitable donation made during the year under review.
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Fair value gain upon transfer to investment
properties

The fair value gain increased by about 156.3% to about RMB656.8
million in 2014 from about RMB256.3 million in 2013. This was due to the
valuation of the completed properties of International Office Centre A3 with
GFA of 68,550 sg. m. which were classified as investment properties in
2014 whereas the valuation of the investment properties classified in 2013
and comprising at Hidden Dragon Bay with only 24,328 sqg. m. is not of
comparable scale.

Finance costs

The finance costs increased by about 260.0% to about RMB37.8 million in
2014 from about RMB10.5 million in 2013. This increase was primarily due
to increase in bank loans in 2014.

Income tax expenses

The income tax expenses decreased by about 35.1% to about RMB237.7
million in 2014 from about RMB366.2 million in 2013. The decrease was
due to the decrease in assessable profits in 2014 arising mainly from the
decrease in recognised revenue of property business.

Capital structure

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had aggregate cash and cash
equivalents and restricted cash of about RMB1,589.4 million (2013:
RMB1,632.4 million). It was almost the same level of that in 2013. The
current ratio was 0.94 (2013: 1.33).

As at 31 December 2014, the bank loans and other borrowings of
the Group repayable within one year and after one year were about
RMB2,045.6 million and RMB4,920.6 million respectively (2013:
RMB835.9 million and RMB4,620.4 million respectively). The increase was
mainly due to increase in bank borrowings for the project developments in
the year under review.

The consolidated interest expenses in 2014 amounted to about RMB37.8
million (2013: RMB10.5 million) in total. Interests in the amount of about
RMB532.7 million (2013: RMB473.1 million) were capitalized during
the year under review. Interest coverage (including amount of interests
capitalized) was 0.02 times (2013: 1.20 times). As at 31 December 2014,
the ratio of total liabilities to total assets of the Group was 0.66 (2013:
0.64).

HREZREVENDIABERS

AR BEKZEBH2013FNHARKE256.3FET
1% 156.3% £2014 F AR 65685 &
7T © JREAR 2014 F R EEE 15 68,550 F 77 AKEIR
PAROASHN R TYIEME - ZEWHEN2014
FOEBREWE  M2013FEDEAREMER
BIIERREE H 24,328 F 5 RIE B MW FEE 1L R
& o

BB A

BVE AN 2013 FHHAREE10.5 B EITIEIN%)
260.0% £ 2014F MM AREI7T8EETL  TER
2014 FERITEFILINATER -

Fr&HR

ISR 2013 FHARKE366.2HE LR
#4935.1% Z2014 FHARME237.7HETT ° %M
DIRE AR 2014 F Y)W ATESR A FTEL

=N

REEMR2014F12 A31 HWIR & MRS EE YA
XRHIReEHABHAR1,580.4 AF T (2013
F: AR¥1,6324BET) - B12013F 8% © it
bR 50.94 (20134 : 1.33) »

2014512 A31H » NEE—FHNERH R —
FREENRITERRAMERD BN BARE
2,045.6 BBIL R AR 4,920.6 BEEIL(2013F -
DR ABARKESIBIBBETLRARKEA6204EE
TT) e REMEZHREBEFANBRTER MERR

TR -

WUFEEHMNELZHENAREBITSEE T
(20134 : ARM¥1058ET) - HEFAFNBE
MMreEBAHARKES32.7 B8 (2013F : AR
#4731 EEL) - B RFEH(EFEERL
© %) A0.021F (20134 : 1.201% ) « R 20145
12A31H  AEBENEEERLEEL R 50.66
(20134 : 0.64) °

32 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

2014 Annual Report



Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED M

The ratio of bank loans and other borrowings to total assets was 0.34
(2013: 0.32). The net gearing ratio of the Group (defined as net debt
divided by total equity) was 0.77 (2013: 0.62) (net debt is defined as total
debt less cash and cash equivalent, and total restricted cash).

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2014, the capital commitments of the Group were
about RMB2,071.4 million (2013: RMB1,723.7 million), which were mainly
capital commitments for construction costs. It is expected that the Group
will finance such commitments from its own funds and external financing
(such as bank loans).

Guarantees and contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2014, the contingent liabilities of the Group was about
RMB2,520.8 million (2013: RMB2,094.3 million), which were mainly the
guarantee given by the Group in favour of certain banks for the grant of
mortgage loans to buyers of the Group’s properties.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2014, investment properties of the Group with carrying
value of about RMB2,094.0 million (2013: RMB1,576.6 million), properties
under development of about RMB2,658.7 million (2013: RMB2,134.9
million), completed properties of about RMB2,160.1 million (2013:
1,841.1 million) and property and equipment of about RMB153.7 million
(2013: RMB31.5 million) were pledged to secure the banking facilities of
the Group. There were time deposits of about RMB320.0 million being
pledged as at 31 December 2014 (2013: 247.8 million).

Foreign exchange risk

As the sales, purchase and bank borrowings of the Group in 2014 and
2013 were made mainly in Renminbi, the foreign exchange risk exposed
by the Group was relatively minor. The Group did not use foreign exchange
hedging instruments to hedge foreign exchange risks in 2014 and 2013.
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Interest rate risks

The interest rates for certain portion of the Group’s loans were floating.
Upward fluctuations in interest rates will increase the interest cost of new
loans and existing loans. The Group currently does not use derivative
instruments to hedge its interest rate risks.

Subsequent events

There was no matter occurred that bears significant effect to the Group
between the year end date and the date of this report.

Prospects

With the central government’s advocation of urbanization and the
steady economic growth, the demand for value-for-money and end-use
residential properties is expected to remain strong and solid. With the
relaxation of the regulatory measures on the real estate market, coupled
with the recent interest rate cut imposed by the People’s Bank of China
amid slower economic growth, it is expected that there will be a stable real
estate market in 2015.

In line with the prudent approach adopted for years in acquiring land for
development, the Group will continue to acquire land to develop more
projects which will be sold at a fair price and lead to quick cash inflow.
By doing so, it is expected that a quick asset turnover can be achieved
gradually.

In addition, the Group will continue to maintain sufficient cash flow and to
achieve relative low finance cost through enhancing the financing structure
of the Group.

The Group will continue to focus on property development in cities,
particularly, second-and third tier-cities with relatively high GDP per capita
in the Yangtze River Delta. Together with the Group’s quality property
management and other value-added services to the communities of the
properties developed by the Group, corporate branding will therefore be
enhanced further.
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Following the successful implementation by the Company of the spin-off of
the commercial property section which was listed on the Stock Exchange
on 10 July 2014, the Group has established two groups of companies
with more defined business focus in residential and commercial properties
development, respectively. This will enhance their respective brandings
and provide investors and the public with greater investment focus for each
group.

Eventually, the Group will achieve a more fast-paced growth in sales that
leads to greater market share in the Yangtze River Delta.
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Corporate Governance Report
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is committed to AAFEES ([BEEE® ) B HMRERITHD%
maintaining good corporate governance in safeguarding the interests of &8 » NEERN BIRE ([RER ) 9725 RIEF
the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and enhancing  ARE(B(E °

Shareholders’ value.

(A) CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company has adopted, in so far as they are applicable, the code
provisions (the “Code Provisions”) of the Corporate Governance
Code (the “Code”) and certain recommended best practices
contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

During the year ended 31 December 2014 (the “Year”), the Board
has applied the principles of the Code Provisions contained in, and
complied with, the Code with the exception of the deviation from the
Code Provision A.2.1 (as the roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company were not separate and were both
performed by Mr Shi Kancheng).

The Board believes that the performance of the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive officer by the same person provides the
Company with consistent leadership and enables the Company to
formulate its business strategies and implement its business plans
and decisions efficiently.

The Board will review the management structure of the Group
from time to time and will adopt appropriate measures as may
be desirable for future development of the operating activities or
business of the Group.
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(B) DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES

TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors of the Company (the “Directors”) on terms
no less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).

Following specific enquiries by the Company, all Directors have
confirmed with the Company that they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code and the Company’s
code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions during
the Year.

(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr Shi Kancheng (alias Shi Zhongan)
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr Lou Yifei
Ms Shen Tiaojuan (Re-elected on 19 May 2014)
Mr Zhang Jiangang (Re-elected on 19 May 2014)

Independent non-executive Directors
Professor Pei Ker Wei (Re-elected on 19 May 2014)
Dr Loke Yu (with professional qualification

in accordance with Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules)
Mr Zhang Huagiao

During the Year, the Board has at all times met the requirements
of rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise.
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The three independent non-executive Directors represent more than
one-third of the Board, the proportion of which is higher than what
is required by Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Board believes
there is sufficient independence element in the Board to safeguard
the interests of shareholders.

The Board meets regularly throughout the Year to discuss the overall
strategy, the operational and financial performance of the Group.
The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other
electronic means of communication in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles”).

A total of six Board meetings were held during the Year. The
individual attendance of each Director was as follows:
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Number of attendance

H R E
Mr Shi Kancheng HEATAK e A 6
Mr Lou Yifei B—REE 6
Ms Shen Tiaojuan RS SRt 4
Mr Zhang Jiangang o BX 8 55 A 6
Professor Pei Ker Wei BEREHE 6
Dr Loke Yu RGBT 6
Mr Zhang Huagjiao SR S 4

All Directors had attended the annual general meeting of the
Company (the “AGM”) held on 19 May 2014 and the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 30 May 2014, except for
Mr Zhang Huagiao because of attending another matters.

The Board operates and exercises its power in accordance with the
Articles. In addition, the Board has also specifically resolved that all
transactions/contracts/other matters of the Group that are subject
to the disclosure requirement in accordance with the Listing Rules
should be approved by the Board in advance.

The Company has received from each of its independent
nonexecutive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers
that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent
in accordance with the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.
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All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. During the Year, the Directors (namely Mr Shi Kancheng,
Mr Lou Yifei, Ms Shen Tiaojuan, Mr Zhang Jiangang, Professor
Pei Ker Wei, Dr Loke Yu and Mr Zhang Huagiao) had taken
external trainings in the form of seminars and courses provided
by educational institutions and professional bodies. The Board
considered such trainings attended by the Directors are sufficient to
discharge their duties.

The Company had arranged liability insurance for Directors and
senior management officers of the Company with appropriate
coverage in respect of legal action against the Directors arising from
their duties performed.

Save as disclosed in the section of “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” in the annual report of the Company, there
are no relationships (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships) among members of the Board.

Functions of the Board and the Senior
Management

The Board is responsible for providing effective and responsible
leadership for the Group. The Board is responsible for formulating
the Group’s overall objectives and strategies, monitoring and
evaluating its operating and financial performance and reviewing
the corporate governance standard of the Group. It also decides
on matters such as annual and interim results, accounting
policies, proposal of declaration of dividends, major transactions,
appointment or re-appointment of directors after considering,
when necessary and appropriate, the recommendations from the
committees established by the Board.

Senior management is delegated by the Board with the responsibility
for the execution of the business plans and strategies adopted by
the Board, assisting the Board in the preparation of the financial
statements for approval by the Board, the implementation of
adequate procedures put forward by the Board and/or the
committees established by the Board and reporting regularly to and
seeking approval from the Board on important matters from time to
time.
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Appointment, re-election and removal of
Directors

The Articles provide that any Director appointed by the Board to
fill a casual vacancy in the Board or as an additional member of
the Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the
members of Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at
such meeting.

In accordance with the Articles, at each AGM, one third of the
Directors for the time being, shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific
term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. The
members of the Company may, at any general meetings convened
and held in accordance with the Articles, remove a Director by
ordinary resolution at any time before the expiration of his period
of office notwithstanding anything contrary in the Articles or in any
agreement between the Company and such Director and may by
ordinary resolution elect another person in his/her stead.

Board Committees

The Board has established four committees and has delegated
various responsibilities to the committees, including the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”), the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”) and the governance committee
(the “Governance Committee”). All the Board committees perform
their distinct roles in accordance with their respective terms of
reference which are available for inspection by shareholders on
the Company’s website. The Board Committees are provided with
sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable
request, are able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.
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(D) CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

(E)

OFFICER

During the Year, the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company were performed by Mr Shi Kancheng.

The Chairman had held a meeting with all independent non-
executive Directors in the absence of executive Directors. No
specific or other issues had been raised or discussed as it had
been concluded that all issues which would be discussed had been
properly dealt with in the meetings of the Board.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors have been appointed for
a term of two years commencing on 1 January 2013 for Mr Zhang
Huagiao, 30 June 2013 for Dr Loke Yu and 1 November 2013 for
Professor Pei Ker Wei.

The director’s fee specified in the service contract of each of Dr Loke
Yu, Professor Pei Ker Wei and Mr Zhang Huagiao are RMB200,000.

All independent non-executive Directors possess extensive
academic, professional and/or industry expertise and management
experience and have provided their professional advice to the
Board.
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(F) REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Professor Pei Ker
Wei (an independent non-executive Director) and the members
are Ms Shen Tiaojuan (an executive Director) and Dr Loke Yu (an
independent non-executive Director).

The Company has adopted written terms of reference for
the Remuneration Committee. The role and function of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company include the following:

(@  to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(b)  to have the delegated responsibility to determine the specific
remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment,
and make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration
of non-executive Directors;

(¢)  to review and approve performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time;

(d)  toreview and approve the compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management in connection with any loss
or termination of their office or appointment to ensure that
such compensation is determined in accordance with relevant
contractual terms and that such compensation is otherwise
fair and not excessive for the Company;

(e)  to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that such arrangements are determined in accordance
with relevant contractual terms and that any compensation
payment is otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

(f) to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; and

(@  toreview and approve the remuneration report of the Group, if
any.
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The basis of the emolument payable to the Directors is determined
with reference to the range of prevailing directors’ fee for director
of listed companies in Hong Kong and is subject to the approval of
the Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration Committee will
consider factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment, experience and responsibilities of the Directors,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and desirability of
performance-based remuneration.

A meeting of the Remuneration Committee were held during the
Year. The Remuneration Committee had reviewed the remuneration
policy for Directors and senior management of the Group, assessing
the performance of all Directors and their terms of employment,
including but not limited to, the terms of remuneration packages of
the independent non-executive Director, Mr Zhang Huagiao, for the
renewal of his contracts during the Year. The individual attendance

of each member was as follows:
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Number of attendance

HERE

Professor Pei Ker Wei BREHR
Dr Loke Yu B g IE L
Ms Shen Tiaojuan RS Rt

(G) NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr Shi Kancheng (an
executive Director) and the members are Professor Pei Ker Wei, Dr
Loke Yu and Mr Zhang Huagiao (all of them are independent non-
executive Directors).

The Company has adopted written terms of reference for the
Nomination Committee. The role and function of the Nomination
Committee are as follows:

(@ to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually;
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to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and may select individuals nominated for
directorship;

to review the board diversity policy of the Company (the
“Diversity Policy”) and the progress on achieving the
objectives set for implementing the Policy, and to make
disclosure of its review results in the corporate governance
report of the Company’s annual report;

to assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors;

to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to, among others, the appointment or re-appointment
of directors and succession planning for directors (in
particular, the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company);

to give full consideration to, among others, the skills and
expertise required from members of the Board and the
relevant requirements of the Listing Rules with regard to
Directors and such like in the discharge of the Nomination
Committee’s duties;
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(9 in respect of any proposed service contracts to be entered
into by any members of the Group with its director or
proposed director, which require the prior approval of the
shareholders of the Company at general meeting under
Rule 13.68 of the Listing Rules, to review and provide
recommendations to the shareholders of the Company (other
than shareholders who are directors with a material interest in
the relevant service contracts and their respective associates)
as to whether the terms of the service contracts are fair and
reasonable and whether such service contracts are in the
interests of the Company and the shareholders as a whole,
and to advise shareholders on how to vote;

(h)  to ensure that on appointment to the Board, non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
receive a formal letter of appointment setting out what is
expected of them in terms of time commitment, committee
service and involvement outside meetings of the Board;

(i) to conduct exit interviews with any Director upon their
resignation in order to ascertain the reasons for his/her
departure; and

() to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board from time to time.

The determination and review by the Board during the Year of
the Diversity Policy involved the consideration of various elements
including gender, age, culture, qualification, ability, work experience,
leadership and professional ethics of the candidates and against
the objective criteria set out by the Board. The Board recognizes
the importance of having a diverse Board and considers the above
essential elements (which have been included in the existing
composition of the Board) in maintaining a competitive advantage
and achieving sustainable growth for the Group.
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The nomination procedures are as follow: candidates for directorship
are selected by the Nomination Committee subject to the review
and approval of the Board in accordance with the Articles. The
criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee in selecting and
approving candidates for directorship are based on the Diversity
Policy including whether the candidates are appropriate in terms
of experience and the potential contribution to the Group and
with reference to the candidates professional knowledge, industry
experience, personal ethics, integrity and skills.

Two meetings of the Nomination Committee were held during
the Year. The Nomination Committee nominated, and the Board
recommended Mr Shi Kancheng, Mr Lou Yifei and Mr Zhang
Huagiao to be re-elected at the annual general meeting held on 19
May 2014 and reviewed the structure, size and composition of the
Board, as well as the policy for the nomination of directors.

The individual attendance of each member of the Nomination
Committee was as follows:
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Number of attendance

HERE
Mr Shi Kancheng FERAX 55 A 2
Dr Loke Yu R pRiE L 2
Mr Zhang Huagjiao SR S 1
Professor Pei Ker Wei BREHE 2

(H) AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The audit fee of the Group in respect of audit services provided by
the Independent Auditors, Ernst & Young, for the Year was RMB
2,650,000 (2013: RMB1, 900,000).

During the Year, the Independent Auditors was also engaged to
review the interim results of the Group at a fee of RMB670,000
(2013: RMB420,000) and other non-audit services with a total fee of
RMB749,000 (2013: 3,096,000).
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() AUDIT COMMITTEE

The chairman of the Audit Committee is Dr Loke Yu and the
members are Professor Pei Ker Wei and Mr Zhang Huagiao. Al
members of the Audit Committee are independent non-executive
Directors.

The role and functions of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@)  to consider, and to make recommendation to the Board on
the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external
auditor, and to approve the remuneration and other terms
of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of
resignation or dismissal of the external auditor;

(b)  to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards;

(c) to discuss with the external auditors before the audit
commences, the nature and scope of the audit and reporting
obligations and ensure co-ordination where more than one
audit firm is involved;

(d) to develop and implement policy on engaging an
external auditor to supply non-audit services. The Audit
Committee should report to the Board, identify and make
recommendations where action or improvement is needed.
The Audit Committee should also review the non-audit
services provided by the external auditor on an annual basis,
to ensure that the independence of such external auditor will
not be affected;

(e)  to monitor integrity, accuracy and fairness of the Company’s
financial statements and annual report and accounts, half-year
report and, if prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and
to review significant financial reporting judgments contained in
them;
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to review, in draft form, the Company’s annual report and
accounts, half-year report and, if prepared for publication,
quarterly report. The Audit Committee should focus
particularly on the following aspects before submission of
reports to the Board:

i. any changes in accounting policies and practices;

ii. major judgmental areas;

. significant adjustments resulting from audit;

iv. the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

V. compliance with accounting standards;

Vi. compliance with the Listing Rules and other legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

vii.  the fairness and reasonableness of any connected
transaction and the impact of such transaction on the
profitability of the Group;

vii. ~ whether all relevant items have been adequately
disclosed in the Group’s financial statements and
whether the disclosures give a fair view of the Group’s
financial conditions;

ix. any significant or unusual items that are, or may need to
be, reflected in such reports and accounts; and

X. the cashflow position of the Group;

members of the Audit Committee must liaise with the Board,
senior management and the Audit Committee must meet, at
least twice a year, with the Company’s auditors. The Audit
Committee should consider any significant or unusual items
that are, or may need to be, reflected in such reports and
accounts and must give due consideration to any matters
that have been raised by the Company’s staff responsible for
the accounting and financial reporting functions, compliance
officer or auditors;

to discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim
and final audits, and any matters the auditors may wish to
discuss (in the absence of management where necessary);
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to review the Company’s financial controls, internal control
and risk management systems and to discuss with the
management the system of internal control and ensure that
management has performed its duty to have an effective
internal control system and to review the Company’s
statement on internal control systems (where one is included
in the annual report) prior to endorsement by the Board;

to consider any findings of major investigations of internal
control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own
initiative and management’s response to these findings;

where an internal audit function exists, to review the internal
audit programmes, to ensure co-ordination between the
internal and external auditors, and to ensure that the internal
audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate
standing within the Company and to review and monitor the
effectiveness of the internal audit function;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to conduct exit interviews with any director, manager, financial
controller or internal credit control manager upon their
resignation in order to ascertain the reasons for his departure;

to prepare work reports for presentation to the Board and to
prepare summary of work reports for inclusion in the Group’s
interim and annual reports;

to consider the appointment of any person to be an Audit
Committee member, a company secretary, auditors and
accounting staff either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional Audit Committee member, company secretary,
auditors and accounting staff or dismissal of any of them;

to consider the major findings of internal investigations and
management’s response;

to review the external auditor’'s management letter, any
material queries raised by the auditor to management about
the accounting records, financial accounts or systems of
control and management’s response;
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to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor’'s management letter;

to report to the Board on the matters set out in the Code
Provisions contained (and as amended from time to time) in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules;

to review arrangements that employees of the Company
can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters. The Audit Committee should ensure that
proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent
investigation of these matters and for appropriate follow-up
action;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the external auditor; and

to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board from time to time.

A total of three meetings of the Audit Committee were held during

the Year. The work performed by the Audit Committee during the

Year included the following:

reviewed the annual report and results announcement of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2013;

reviewed the interim report and interim results
announcements of the Company for the six months ended 30
June 2014;

reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and other financial reporting matters;

reviewed the results of external audit and had discussion with
external auditors on any significant findings and audit issues;

reviewed the results of internal audit and had discussion with
internal auditors on any significant findings and internal control
issues;
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W)

- discussed with the external auditors before the audit
commenced, the nature and scope of the audit and the
respective relevant issues; and

- considered and approved the service contract of the auditors
for the Year.

The individual attendance of each member of the Audit Committee
was as follows:
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Number of attendance

HERE
Professor Pei Ker Wei BREHR 3
Dr Loke Yu R /G iE + 3
Mr Zhang Huagjiao LB L E 1

GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Company has set up a governance committee (the “Governance
Committee”) and the terms of reference adopted complied with the
requirement of the Listing Rules.

The chairman of the Governance Committee is Mr Shi Kancheng (an
executive Director). The remaining members are Ms Shen Tiaojuan,
Mr Zhang Jiangang, Professor Pei Ker Wei (an independent non-
executive Director) and Mr Zhang Huagiao (an independent non-
executive Director).

The role and functions of the Governance Committee include the
following:

(@)  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(c)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and
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(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the Code
Provisions and the disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report;

One meeting of the Governance Committee was held during the
Year. The Government Committee had fulfilled its role and functions
as stated above, which included discussing and reviewing the
Board’s and the Group’s compliance with the Code Provisions and
the prevailing Listing Rules during the Year.

The individual attendance of each member of the Governance
Committee was as follows:
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Number of attendance

HERE
Mr Shi Kancheng BERAX 55 1
Ms Shen Tiaojuan IARIE X+ 1
Mr Zhang Jiangang ok BX 8 o A 1
Professor Pei Ker Wei BrEHE 1
Mr Zhang Huagjiao SR S 1

The terms of reference of the Governance Committee are available
on the Company’s website.

(K) DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN

PREPARING THE ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the
preparation of accounts which give a true and fair view of the
Company and the Group.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the accounts of the Group is set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” in this annual report.
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(L) ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE

EFFECTIVENESS OF THE INTERNAL
CONTROL OF THE GROUP

The Directors had conducted a review of the effectiveness of
the system of internal control of the Group and resolved that
the system of internal control of the Group during the Year was
effective. Such review had covered all material controls including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions.

The Directors have considered that there are adequate resources
and budget available for the staff with appropriate qualifications and
experience in the aspect of training and discharging the accounting
and financial reporting functions.

(M) COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company had appointed Mr Lam Yau Yiu as its company
secretary (the “Secretary”). Mr Lam had taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training. The biography of Mr Lam is set out
on page 65 of this annual report.

(N) SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening extraordinary general meeting and putting
forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

The following procedures are subject to the Articles, the Companies
Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised from time
to time) of the Cayman Islands and the applicable legislation and
regulation.

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands
Companies Law (2012 Revision). Pursuant to article 64 of the
Articles, general meetings shall be convened on the written
requisition of any two or more Shareholders made to Directors or the
Secretary specifying the objects of the meeting, provided that such
requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition shall
not hold less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within
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a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves may convene the
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that
in which meetings may be convened by the Board and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

If a shareholder, who is entitled to attend and vote at the relevant
general meeting, wishes to nominate a person (not being the
nominating shareholder) to stand for election as a Director, he or
she should give to the Secretary notice in writing of the intention
to propose a person for election as a Director and notice in writing
by that person of his or her willingness to be so elected, no earlier
than the 7 clear days after the dispatch of the notice of the relevant
general meeting and no later than 7 clear days prior to the date
appointed for the relevant general meeting.

Detailed procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director are available on the Company’s website.

(O) INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company attaches great importance to communication with
the Shareholders. A number of means are used to promote greater
understanding and dialogue with the Shareholders. The means
of access includes the release by the Company of the various
corporate communication of the Company via the website of the
Stock Exchange and the website of the Company (http://www.
zafc.com). Shareholders are encouraged by the Company to attend
general meetings of the Company where the Chairman of the
Company and other members of the Board and (if appropriate) the
auditors of the Company, are available to answer questions.

Shareholders are encouraged to communicate with the Company
for any enquiries in relation to the affairs of the Group. Shareholders
may contact the Company in writing to the Company’s head office in
the PRC or the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
or by e-mail at ir@zafc.com or direct any enquiries to the Company’s
investor relations representative, Capital Markets Department,
whose contact details are set out in the annual report of which this
report forms part.
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LEERRE
(P) CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS (P) EEEXH
During the Year, there were no changes to the Company’s RER - RABERE I EEE) -

constitutional documents.

For and on behalf of the Board REESE

Zhong An Real Estate Limited REEERRAT

Shi Kancheng FE

Chairman HEAT A

The People’s Republic of China, 24 March 2015 REARKEME - 2015F3 24 A
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GIVING BACK TO THE SOCIETY 2014

Zhong An - participation in charity and the
pursuit of our mission “Giving Back to the
Society”

Zhong An has always been pursuing the mission of “Giving Back to the
Society”.

The Group embraces the belief of contributing to the society. We strive
to have better economic performance with the goal of benefitting the
society to the greatest extent in mind. Therefore, we devote ourselves
to the development of charitable affairs. We also proactively participate
in community welfare activities. We have from time to time expressed
concerns over the livelihoods of the underprivileged groups and are willing
to undertake our corporate social responsibilities.

We have devoted ourselves to participation of charitable affairs. During the
year under review, we made donations to various organisations so as to
fulfill the essence of “Giving Back to the Society”. Totally, we had donated
about 4 million to various organisations during the year under review.

We had donated RMB50,000 to “Warming Up Project” in Xiaoshan District
of Hangzhou providing the funding for the social services which target
the needy grassroots. This is a local project that Zhong An has supported
continuously for years. We also donated RMB5,000 to another local
welfare organization of Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou as a patronage to the
Warm Giving Operation helping the poors.

Besides, Zhong An provided patronage to religious institutions. We
donated RMB4,800 to Fulong Temple in Cixi, Zhejiang Province. We also
extend the patronage to education. To show our support to educational
development, we donated RMB3 million to Victoria Kindergarten in
Xiaoshan District, the PRC, patronizing its educational programmes.

Furthermore, Zhong An cares about the society in Hong Kong. We
donated RMB783,360 to the Community Chest and RMB160,322 to The
Society of The Academy for Performing Arts.

Zhong An will continue to fuffill its corporate philosophy “Giving Back to the
Society”.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Shi Kancheng (alias Shi Zhongan), aged 52, is the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer of Zhong An Real Estate Limited (the “Company”)
and the Chairman and the non-executive director of China New City
Commercial Development Limited (“China New City”), a subsidiary of
the Company, whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr Shi
also holds directorships in certain of the Company’s subsidiaries. Mr Shi
is primarily responsible for the strategic and development planning of
the Group. He also supervises project planning and the overall business
operation. Mr Shi joined the Group since the establishment of the first
member of the Group, Zhong An Group Co., Ltd. (formerly known
as Zhejiang Zhong’an Property Development Co., Ltd.) (“Zhong An
Group”). Mr Shi served as a tax officer in the finance and revenue bureau
of Xiaoshan District of Hangzhou (formerly known as Xiaoshan City)
and the general manager of Hangzhou Xiaoshan Milkyway Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (“Milkyway Real Estate”). Mr Shi graduated from
an Executive Master of Business Administration program co-organized
by the State University of Arizona and Shanghai National Accounting
College in June 2007. From 2005 to 2006, Mr Shi completed a program
for executive officers, focusing on globalization and real estate developers,
co-organized by Harvard University, Tsinghua University, The University of
Hong Kong and the United States Military Academy. In the same period,
Mr Shi completed a program for presidents of real estate companies
organized by Zhejiang University. Mr Shi has over 22 years of experience in
property development and property investment. Mr Shi is the sole director
and the sole shareholder of Whole Good Management Limited, which is
the controlling shareholder of the Company.

Lou Yifei, aged 65, is an executive Director and the general manager of
Hangzhou Anyuan Property Development Co., Ltd. (a company owned
as to 45.9% by the Group) and holds directorships in certain subsidiaries
of the Company. He is primarily responsible for the operation and project
management of the Group. He joined the Group in March 2006. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr Lou was the vice president and manager of the
engineering department of Laiyinda Real Estate Co., Ltd., a supervisor
of Laiyin Property and had served various positions in the same group of
companies from 2000 to 2006. Mr Lou was a deputy general manager
of Milkyway Real Estate from 1994 to 2000. From 1984 to 1994, Mr Lou
worked for a government bureau of Xiaoshan District of Hangzhou, where
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he was primarily responsible for infrastructure construction management.
From 1978 to 1983, he served as construction and engineering manager
of Linpu Construction Company. He received an associate degree in
architectural engineering from Wuhan University of Technology in 1992
and completed a graduate degree in structural engineering at Zhejiang
University of Technology in 2002. Mr Lou obtained his engineering
qualification in 1999. Mr Lou has 36 years of experience in the construction
operations and management of property development.

Shen Tiaojuan, aged 52, is an executive Director and the Vice President
of the Company and also holds directorships in certain of its subsidiaries.
She is primarily responsible for the financial operation and financial
management of the Group. She joined the Group in December 1997. Prior
to joining the Group, Ms Shen was the chief accountant of White Swan
Industry Co., Ltd. from 1995 to 1997, the chief accountant of Hangzhou
Hualing Electrics Co., Ltd. in 1994, and the chief accountant and finance
manager of Hangzhou Guanghua Chemical Fibres Factory from 1980 to
1993. Ms Shen has 33 years of experience in the financial operation of
property development.

Zhang Jiangang, aged 45, is an executive Director and the general
manager of Hangzhou Zhong’an Service Holding Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary of
the Company) and also holds directorship in a subsidiary of the Company.
He is primarily in charge of strategy implementation and operation
management. Mr Zhang joined the Group in March 2003. He served
as the general manager and vice president of Zhong An Group and the
general manager and assistant to the Chairman of Anhui Zhong An Real
Estate Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary of the Company). From 1995 to 2003, Mr
Zhang served as the office manager, assistant to general manager and
vice general manager of Milkkyway Real Estate. Mr Zhang has 20 years of
experience in construction and property development.

Independent non-executive Directors

Pei Ker Wei (PhD), aged 58, was appointed an independent non-
executive Director in October 2007. Dr Pei worked as assistant professor,
associate professor and professor at Arizona State University, chairman of
North America Chinese Accounting Professors Academy and chairman of
global commission of American Accounting Academy. He is currently the
Executive Dean of China at the W.P. Carey School of Business of Arizona
State University, the U.S. and a member of the American Accounting
Academy. Dr Pei is also serving as an independent non-executive director
of Want Want China Holdings Limited and Zhejiang Expressway Co., Ltd.,
both companies whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, and a
director of Baoshan Iron & Steel Co., Ltd., a company whose shares are
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Dr Pei received his MBA from the
Southern lllinois University, the U.S. in 1981 and PhD from the University of
North Texas, the U.S. in 1986.
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Dr Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam), aged 65, was appointed an independent
non-executive Director on 30 June 2009. Dr Loke is currently the
company secretary of Minth Group Limited, and serves as an independent
non-executive director of Chiho-Tiande Group Limited, China Fire
Safety Enterprise Group Holdings Limited, China Household Holdings
Limited, Matrix Holdings Limited, SCUD Group Limited, Sino Distillery
Group Limited (formerly known as Bio-Dynamic Group Limited), Tianjin
Development Holdings Limited, Tianhe Chemicals Group Limited, V1
Group Limited (formerly known as VODone Limited), Winfair Investment
Company Limited and Wing Tai Investment Holdings Limited (formerly
known as Wing Lee Holdings Limited), the shares of which companies are
all listed on the Stock Exchange. He is a fellow of The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, The Hong Kong Institute of Directors and The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. He holds MBA from
the University Teknologi Malaysia and DBA from the University of South
Australia. He has over 39 years of experience in accounting and auditing
for private and public companies, financial consultancy and corporate
management.

Zhang Huagqiao, aged 52, was appointed an independent non-executive
Director on 1 January 2013. Mr Zhang is the Chairman and non-executive
director of China Smartpay Holdings Limited (formerly known as Oriental
City Group Holdings Limited), a company whose shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange. He is currently an independent non-executive director
of China Huirong Financial Holdings Limited, Fosun International Limited,
Longan Property Holdings Company Limited, Luye Pharma Group Ltd.,
Sinopec Yizheng Chemical Fibre Company Limited and Wanda Hotel
Development Company Limited, and a non-executive director of Boer
Power Holdings Limited, the shares of which companies are all listed on
the Stock Exchange. He is also an independent non-executive director
of Yancoal Australia Limited (a company listed on the Australian Stock
Exchange). Mr Zhang is also a director of Nanjing Central Emporium
Stocks Co., Ltd., a company whose shares are listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange. He was the Chairman of Guangzhou Wansui Micro Credit
Co., Ltd. between June 2011 and July 2012 and an executive director
and chief executive officer of Man Sang International Limited, a company
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, between September 2011
and April 2012. From June 1999 to April 2006, Mr Zhang had worked with
UBS Securities Asia Limited and served as a managing director and the
co-head and head of its China research team. Prior to this, Mr Zhang had
worked as a principal staff member with the People’s Bank of China in
Beijing between July 1986 and January 1989. Mr Zhang graduated from
the Graduate School of the People’s Bank of China with a master’s degree
in economics in 1986 and from the Australian National University with a
master’s degree in economics in January 1991. Mr Zhang has about 24
years of experience in the financial sector.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Jin Jianrong, aged 46, is the co-president of the Group, the executive
vice president of the Zhong An Group and the general manager of
certain subsidiaries of the Group in Zhejiang Province. He is in charge of
engineering management of the projects of the Group. Mr Jin joined the
Group in September 2004. Prior to joining the Group, he was the deputy
general manager in charge of construction matters of Zhejiang Lvdu Real
Estate Development Company from 2003 to 2004, and a construction
manager of Zhejiang Wanxiang Real Estate Company from 1997 to 2002.
He was responsible for project management of Milkyway Real Estate
from 1995 to 1997, and was a project manager and worker of Xuxian
Construction Co., Ltd. from 1987 to 1994. Mr Jin received a bachelor
degree in civil engineering and management from the Sichuan University
in 2006. He has 27 years of experience in operation and management of
property companies.

Dong Shuixiao, aged 50, is the vice president and holds directorships of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. He mainly assists the Chief Executive
Officer on the administration and general project management of the
Group. He joined the Group since 1997. He served as the deputy general
manager (in charge of finance) in Anhui Zhong An Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. in January 2003. He was responsible for the on-site technology
supervision, construction and cost control of the project in Yisheng in
February 2004. In March 2006, he was promoted as the deputy manager
of Zhong An Group, and in charge of financial operation. From 2007 to
November 2012, he served as the general manager of Anhui Zhong An
Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. and certain subsidiaries of the Group
in Anhui Province. Prior to joining the Group, he was the accountant and
deputy finance manager of Xiaoshan Material Bureau from 1985 to 1993.
From 1994 to 1996, he was the manager of Hangzhou Xiaoshan Hongsen
Material Co., Ltd. and responsible for operational management. Mr Dong
received his college diploma in industrial and civil construction from the
China University of Geosciences. He has over 18 years of experience in
property operation and management.

Sun Zhihua, aged 36, is the chief operating officer of the Group and the
officer of the president office of the Group. He is in charge of the operation
management of the Group. Mr Sun joined the Group in July 2001 and had
held various administrative posts of various subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr Sun received a bachelor degree in technological economy from
College of Business Administration of Zhejiang University of Technology
in 2001. He has 13 years of experience in property administration and
management.
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Pan Lei, aged 31, is the chief marketing officer of the Group. He is in
charge of the marketing of the Group. Mr Pan joined the Group in June
2014. Prior to joining the Group, he was the sales director of a property
developer in Jiangsu Province from March 2012 to May 2014. He had been
the planning director of subsidiaries of Top Spring International Holdings
Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange,
from May 2010 to February 2012 and Shenzhen World Union Property
Consultant Co., Ltd., a company whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, from March 2008 to March 2010. Mr Pan received a
bachelor degree in management from Qingdao University in 2005. He has
8 years of experience in property marketing.

Mr Zhou Minghai, aged 44, is the executive director and co-chairman
of the board of directors of China New City. He joined China New City
on 29 January 2015. He has years of senior management experience
in commercial property development, retail, capital and corporate
management. Mr Zhou had been the president of Intime Department
Store (Group) Company Limited (currently known as Intime Retail (Group)
Company Limited), a company which shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange, from 2007 to 2008. Mr Zhou also held senior management
positions at China Putian Information Industry (Group) Company during
2000 to 2004 and was a director of Eastern Communications Co., Ltd.,
a company which shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange,
from May 2001 to September 2004. He obtained a doctoral degree in
management from Fudan University.

Mr Shi Guoliang, aged 48, is the executive director and the president of
China New City. He is responsible for leading the business of China New
City. He joined the Group on 29 January 2015. He has years of experience
in infrastructure and property development, and corporate management.
Mr Shi had been the general manager of Jiaxing City Zhajiasu Highway
Co., Ltd. (FEM EntimR A AKAREEZAR]) from October 2007 to
December 2014. Mr Shi obtained a bachelor degree in ship design and
manufacturing from Wuhan University of Technology in July 1987.

Ms Jin Ni(£1E), aged 39, is the executive Director, vice chairlady of
the board of directors and president of China New City. She is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of China New City. She is responsible for
overall strategic development, and leading the business development of
China New City. She was appointed as an executive director of China
New City on September 30, 2013. Ms Jin has over 16 years of experience
in sales, and operation and management of commercial projects. Ms Jin
resigned from her position as the vice president of the Group in May 2014
and ceased to have any directorial and/or executive roles in the Group,
except for those of China New City and its subsidiaries. She joined the
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Group in December 1997. She has been the general manager of Zhejiang
Zhong An Commercial Investment Management Co., Ltd. since August
2011 and Yuyao Zhong An Times Square Commercial Management
Co., Ltd. since December 2011 and is mainly responsible for managing
commercial operations and our development project in Yuyao. She was
the vice president of the Group from July 2011 to May 2014, the assistant
of president of the Group from January 2010 to November 2010, the
general manager of Hangzhou Zhong An Highlong Commercial Buildings
Co., Ltd. from March 2006 to January 2010, the deputy general manager
from March 2006 to October 2010 and office manager and deputy
sales manager from August 1999 to March 2006 of Zhong An Group.
Ms Jin obtained a bachelor degree in administrative management from
the Zhejiang University of Technology (HT/T T K)in July 2003 and
obtained a diploma in financial accounting from the Oriental Institute of
the Zhejiang University* (ATI AR 75 2Ft) (currently known as Oriental
Institute of Finance and Economics* CIT T B & AER A ER)) in July
1997.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Lam Yau Yiu, aged 51, is the financial controller and the company
secretary of the Company. He joined the Group in October 2008. Prior to
joining the Group, he worked for a company with property development
business in China for more than 2 years. He also acted as the finance
manager, financial controller and company secretary for three listed
companies in the United States of America and Hong Kong for a total
of about 7 years. He also worked for an international accounting firm
over 3 years. Mr Lam graduated from the City University of Hong Kong
with a Bachelor Degree in Accounting. He also holds a degree of Master
of Business Administration from the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He has about 26 years of experience in external auditing,
finance and accounting.
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The directors (the “Directors”) of Zhong An Real Estate Limited (the
“Company’) are pleased to present their annual report to shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) and the audited financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2014.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company’s principal activity is investment holding. The principal
activities of the Group are property development, leasing and hotel
operation. The nature of the principal activities has not changed during the
year under review.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2014 and the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 84 to 91.

The board of Directors (the “Board”) does not recommend the payment of
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2014 (2013: RMB1.8 cents
per share).

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements and restated/reclassified
as appropriate, is set out on page 248. This summary does not form part
of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property and equipment, and investment
properties of the Group and the Company during the year under review are
set out in notes 14 and 15 to the financial statements respectively. Further
details of the Group’s investment properties are set out on pages 159 to
178.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in the ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in
the Company (the “Shares”) and share options of the Company during
the year under review are set out in notes 33 and 34 to the financial
statements.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year under review are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and note 35 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2014, the Company’s accumulated losses amounted
to RMB261,042,000 and the Company’s share premium amounted to
RMB2,966,252,000. By passing an ordinary resolution of the Company,
dividends may also be declared and paid out of share premium account
or any other fund or account which can be authorized for this purpose in
accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The details of the share option scheme approved by the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) on 15 May 2009 (the “Scheme”) are
disclosed below pursuant to the requirements under Chapter 17 of the
Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”):

1. Purpose of the Scheme:

As incentives or rewards to the eligible participants for their
contribution to the Group.

2. Participants of the Scheme:

(@ any employee (whether full time or part time, including any
executive Director but excluding any non-executive Director)
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any equity entity
(the “Invested Entity”) in which any members of the Group
holds an equity interest;

(b) any non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
or any Invested Entity;

(c)  any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity;

(d) any customer of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity;
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(e)  any person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity;

() any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity or any holder of any securities issued by any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity;

(99 any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any
area of business or business development of any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity; and

(h)  any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group.

Maximum number of Shares available for subscription:

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Scheme and any other share option schemes
adopted by the Group shall not exceed 30 per cent. of the share
capital of the Company in issue from time to time.

The total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of this Scheme and any
other share option scheme of the Group) to be granted under the
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group must not
in aggregate exceed 10 per cent. of the Shares in issue as at the
date of passing the relevant resolution adopting the Scheme.

Limited on the total number of Shares available for issue under the
Scheme:

The limit imposed under the Scheme as refreshed by the
Shareholders at the Company’s extraordinary general meeting held
on 23 September 2013 on the total number of Shares which may be
allotted and issued upon exercise of options is 236,763,540 Shares
(representing 10% of total issued share capital of the Company as at
23 September 2013).
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Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Scheme:

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon the exercise of the options granted under the Scheme
and other share option schemes of the Group (if any) (including
both exercised or outstanding options) to each participant in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1 per cent of the issued share
capital of the Company for the time being (the “Individual Limit”).
Any further grant of options, which would result in the Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be
granted to such participant (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) under the Scheme and other share option
schemes of the Group (if any), in any 12-month period up to and
including the date of such further grant in excess of the Individual
Limit shall be subject to Shareholders’ approval in general meeting
of the Company with such participant and his associates abstaining
from voting.

Minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised and the exercise period of the option:

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated in the offer
to a grantee, there is no minimum period under the Scheme for the
holding of an option before it can be exercised. An option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time
during a period to be determined and notified by the Directors to
each grantee, which period may commence on a day after the date
upon which the offer for the grant of options is made but shall end in
any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the option
subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

Amount payable on acceptance of the option and the period within
which payment must be made:

Nominal amount of HK$1 upon acceptance of the grant of option
and options may be accepted by a participant within 21 days from
the date of the offer for grant of the option.

Basis of determining the exercise price:

The exercise price is the highest of the nominal value of the Shares;
the closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange on the date
of grant; and the average closing price of the Shares on the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant.
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9. Remaining life of the Scheme:

The Scheme will expire on 14 May 2019.

OUTSTANDING OPTIONS

Details of options (the “Options”) granted under the Scheme and

outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the year under review are as

Zat Bl RIERE A -

ZAtEIBR 2019F 5 A 14 Bfgm »
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follows:
Outstanding Number of Number of Number of Numberof ~ Outstanding at Exercise price
at 1 January Options Options Options Options 31 December Date of of Option
Name of participants 2014 granted exercised cancelled lapsed 2014 Options granted  Exercise period  HKS per share
o014 0145
1R1H B BfifE B BAM 12A31E BIREAREE
BEARS WAE  BREEE  BREER  BREEE  BREEA HAGE RUAH fTREEE =Ly
Category 1: Directors
EAERE H
ShiKancheng 2,883,720 2,883,720 9 July 2009 (Note 1) 258
il 2097798 (#t1)
2,300,000 2,300,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 1.8
011F18228 o 21 January 2021
M14F1A2A
20214515218
(Note 2)
(#it2)
5,183,720 5,183,720
Shen Tiaojuan 1,441,860 1,441,860 9 July 2009 (Note 1) 258
Paze 2000%7H98 (1)
1,200,000 1,200,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 185
011517228 1021 January 2021
01451828
EANF1A2A
(Note 2)
(i)
2,641,860 2,641,860
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Outstanding Number of Number of Number of Numberof ~ Outstanding at Exercise price
at 1 January Options Options Options Options 31 December Date of of Option
Name of participants 2014 granted exercised cancelled lapsed 2014 Options granted  Exercise period  HKS per share
o014 0145
1A18 B Bff [o5is B&N 128318 BIRENREE
SEENL WRGE  BREHA  BREME  BREME  BREMA HRITE RS el Bl
Lou Yfei 1,821,705 1,321,705 9 July 2009 (Note 1) 2.58
g-# 200957498 (1)
1,100,000 1,100,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 1.8
011517228 1021 January 2021
N14F1A2A
E0NE1A21A
(Note 2)
(o)
24217705 2,421,705
Zhang Jiangang 1,321,705 1,321,705 9 July 2009 (Note 1) 258
R2H 200957498 (Hit1)
1,100,000 1,100,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 185
011E1 5228 to21 January 2021
1451828
Z0NE1A21A
(Note 2)
(i)
2,421,705 2,421,705
Professor Pei Ker Wei 360,465 360,465 9 July 2009 (Note 1) 258
ARRAR 200957498 (Hit1)
300,000 300,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 185
011E1 228 to21 January 2021
N14F1A2H
ENNE1A21E
(Note 2)
(hit2)
660,465 660,465
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Outstanding Number of Number of Number of Numberof ~ Outstanding at Exercise price
at 1 January Options Options Options Options 31 December Date of of Option
Name of participants 2014 granted exercised cancelled lapsed 2014 Options granted  Exercise period  HKS per share
o014 0145
1B18 B Bff [B5ie BAH 128318 BIREREE
SEENL WRGE  BRE®R  BREHE  BREEE  EREHE HRITE RiAH il Bl
Dr. Loke Yu 360,465 360,465 9 July 2009 (Note 1) 258
BEsHEL 2009%57A9R (#t1)
300,000 300,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 185
011517228 1021 January 2021
01451828
E01E1A21A
(Note 2)
(o)
660,465 660,465
13,989,920 13,989,920
Category 2: Employees 14,178,300 (1,201,550) 12,976,750 9July 2009 (Note 1) 258
Fo8 k8 200957A9R (1)
15,800,000 2,200,000) 13,600,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 185
011E1 228 to21 January 2021
1451828
20214518218
(Note 2)
(i2)
29,978,300 (3,401,550) 26,576,750
Category 3: Suppliers of 2,403,100 2,403,100 9 July 2009 (Note 1) 258
goods or services 2009%7F9H (Hit1)
38 ERARBLER 37,000,000 37,000,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 185
011E1228 021 January 2021
01451828
20214517218
(Note 2)
(Ht2)
39,403,100 39,403,100
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Outstanding Number of Number of Number of Numberof ~ Outstanding at Exercise price
at 1 January Options Options Options Options 31 December Date of of Option
Name of participants 2014 granted exercised cancelled lapsed 2014 Options granted  Exercise period  HKS per share
ROUE R014E
1A18 ERH gk B BE3 12A31R BRERE
SaEn HATE  BREZE  BREHE  BRE¥E  BREIEA HATE RiiAS e BRET
Category 4: Others 17,908,101 17,903,101 9 July 2009 (Note 1) 258
B4R Ef 2009%7A9A (hit1)
14,600,000 14,600,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 185
011E1A228 1021 January 2021
M14F1A2A
2021415218
(Note 2)
(i)
78,000,000 78,000,000 10 July 2013 10 July 2013 146
013%7R108 to 9. July 2023
13F7A10R
ENBETAA
(Note 3)
Hi#3)
110,503,101 110,503,101
Total 193,874,421 (3,401,550) 190,472,871
@
Notes: HiaE

The Options may be exercisable at any time during the period from 9 July 2009 to

8 July 2019 (the “Option Period”) provided that the maximum number of Options

which each Grantee is entitled to exercise shall not exceed:

@)

20 per cent. of the total number of Options during the period from the expiry
of the first anniversary of the date of grant to the date immediately before
the second anniversary of the date of grant;

20 per cent. of the total number of Options during the period from the
second anniversary of the date of grant to the date immediately before the
third anniversary of the Date of Grant;

20 per cent. of the total number of Options during the period from the third
anniversary of the date of grant to the date immediately before the fourth
anniversary of the date of grant;

20 per cent. of the total number of Options during the period from the fourth
anniversary of the date of grant to the date immediately before the fifth
anniversary of the date of grant; and
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(e) 20 per cent. of the total number of Options during the period from the fifth
anniversary of the date of grant to the date immediately before the sixth
anniversary of the date of grant.

2. On 22 January 2011, the Company had granted 80,000,000 Options which may be
exercisable after three years from the date of grant (the “Lock-in Period”) provided
that the Grantee has achieved the prescribed performance target during the Lock-
in Period and has passed the Company’s assessment, and be exercisable before
the expiry of the Option Period on 21 January 2021. The closing price of the Share
immediately before the date of granting the Options was HK$1.85 per share.

3. On 10 July 2013, the Company had granted 78,000,000 Options which may be
exercisable between 10 July 2013 and 9 July 2023. The closing price of the Share
immediately before the date of granting the Options was HK$1.43 per share.

4, The exercise price of the Options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights or
bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

Other details of the Scheme are set out in the section “Director’s and Chief
Executive’s interests and short positions in securities” and note 34 to the
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The sales attributable to the five largest customers of the Group accounted
for about 7% of the Group’s consolidated revenue for the year under
review.

The purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for about 28% of the Group’s consolidated purchases for the
year under review.

The largest supplier of the Group accounted for about 7% of the Group’s
consolidated purchases for the year under review.

None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholders of the
Company (who or which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has any interest in any of the
Group'’s five largest suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors as at 31 December 2014 and up to the date of this report
were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr Shi Kancheng (alias Shi Zhongan)
Mr Lou Yifei

Ms Shen Tiaojuan

Mr Zhang Jiangang

Independent non-executive Directors
Professor Pei Ker Wei

Dr Loke Yu (alias, Loke Hoi Lam)

Mr Zhang Huagiao

In accordance with article 108 (A) of the Company’s articles of association,
Mr Shi Kancheng, Dr Loke Yu and Mr Zhang Huagiao will retire by rotation
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting (the “AGM”).

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company still considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

There was no contract of significance subsisting during or at the end of the
year under review in which a Director is or was materially interested.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are set out on pages 60 to 65 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr Shi Kancheng, Mr Lou Yifei, Ms Shen Tiaojuan and Mr Zhang
Jiangang has entered into a service contract with the Company pursuant
to which he/she agreed to act as the executive Director for a term of three
years with effect from 1 November 2013.
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No Director (including the Directors proposed to be re-elected at the AGM)
has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to Shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference
to directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2014, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the Shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules,
were as follows:

(1) Long positions in Shares of the Company
Number of Shares held and nature of interest in the Company:

Number and

MESEE (ARENREAFAS HRERETD
BE)BEARRRAEMTAIAARRR—FRN
EELRIE CEEREIN BiRIEER -

EFERFH

EENE2ARBRRAS LESBRRILE - HE
MeHMEEE2EEE 2R BEARKSE
Bz RBNMEEMEEE

EEREFETHRARROFE

FHER

b

MR20145F12A31H - AARIEERFBITHAE
EA$ AR EMESEE (RS LR R ([ #F

BRI 1) EXVEBFTE 2 BE ) 2 ik - R
f &ﬁﬁé”%ﬁ AR ARIREE 5 R G 14015352
EiIFE 2Bz E = AR - FUKE LT
RAIHER T+ EMBEITAERHITESRH 2ITE
SAN((EESFR D BASTAERARRERAZ
EaEmRABIAT

(1) REQXTRGOHEE
DTS EHORIDEE RIESMEE -

Approximate

class of percentage Long/Short
Name of Director Capacity securities held of interest position
EEpE 3 RS EE RER EEMAETT 373
Mr. Shi Kancheng Interest of controlled 1,628,760,000 shares 69.35% Long
corporation (Note)) of HK$0.1 each in the capital
of the Company
MK S5 A XGRS (fat) RRRIEAGIREEO0.1 HETTH 69.35% R

1,628,760,000 A% A% {7

Note: These shares are held by Whole Good Management Limited, the entire
issued share capital of which is solely and beneficially owned by Mr Shi

Kancheng.

st o it ZR% 15 B Whole Good Management Limited
BE E2HEBTRATEZHEMALE
ERHA

$}
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EEaRE
(2) Long positions in underlying shares of the RAEATREBERONVER :
Company:

Number of Approximate

underlying percentage of

Name of Director Capacity Shares held the Company’s

(Note) issued share capital

FrFEBEROEE EARARE BT

BEgE 54 (H15%) RAEBNE DL

Mr Shi Kancheng Beneficial owner 5,183,720 0.22
BEATLAK 52 4 EmBAA

Ms Shen Tiaojuan Beneficial owner 2,641,860 0.11
LRI £ BEmBEAA

Mr Lou Yifei Beneficial owner 2,421,705 0.10
B—REL EmBAA

Mr Zhang Jiangang Beneficial owner 2,421,705 0.10
ok BXH o A E=mEBA

Professor Pei Ker Wei Beneficial owner 660,465 0.03
BrEHE EmBAA

Dr Loke Yu Beneficial owner 660,465 0.03
R/ G Mg + BEmBEAA

Note: These represent the number of Shares which will be allotted and issued Kt - L BRERIEAR AR R 20094 5 A 15 H R4
EREEINSESREOBREETEM

RS ESEAERETHROBAE -

to the respective Directors upon the exercise of the share options granted
to each of them pursuant to the share option scheme adopted by the
Company on 15 May 2009.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2014, none of the B EFTEEN - R 2014F12 B31H
other Directors and chief executives of the Company had or were AABEMEEL FBITHABBERARD
A R BB A E (R85 R BRI 5 XV 5B
FT¥E 2 ) 2 B ~ ABRANR ) S EHEE
BERARIEZH KAEROEBKEFE
ZERMZ ERETIORE - KIBFLEST
BIESITHEARR B R R AT 2 (AR

Exchange pursuant to the Model Code. KB o

deemed under the SFO to have any interests or short positions in the
Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of SFO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock

X
il
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ExERE

(3) Long positions in shares of the associated
corporation

Number of shares held and nature of interest in the China New City
Commercial Development Limited (“CNC”), a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, whose shares are listed on the Stock

(3) REBEATAROWER

RARFFEZEMBARTEMUTEAEERE
PR ([ HREHHE ) R BT £ ) PR
FRMBE REmEE

Exchange:
Number and Approximate
class of percentage Long/Short
Name of Director Capacity securities held of interest position
PR35
EEpnE 37} BERER EEBNEIL % %A
Mr. Shi Kancheng Interest of controlled 31,303,594 shares 1.80% Long
corporation (Note) of HK$0.1 each in
the capital of CNC
MR SE 4 RS EEE R (FaE) Fh BT A T A S AR T (B 1.80% "R

0.1 87T# 31,303,594 A& A% 7

Note: These shares are held by Whole Good Management Limited, the entire
issued share capital of which is solely and beneficially owned by Mr Shi

Kancheng.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business in which the
Company, any of its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent company
was a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the year
under review.

Btat - R BB Whole Good Management Limited #7/4 +
HE2HEBTRA T2 BN EEERESR

EXER

Apw - HEFMB AR - RRAMBRRSER
NEERT N A M F S B S A R D ATE
EMARREENETERIMEEEEARER
MBRBASBEEBHNERAL
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTEREST IN THE SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2014, so far as are known to any Directors or chief
executives of the Company, the following parties (other than Directors or
chief executives of the Company) were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company, as being directly or indirectly interested or
deemed to be interested in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the

FERRRELFEFHER

BARRMEMESHFEZTHRAEMRE - 1R2014
F12A31H  BRARREEKEBITHRAEIN
RABIRIERE 75 M A 4P E 3361617 B 2 F i
Fiacsk - ESTTHEARQF  EHENEERE
R AEERNA T D EITIRARE% LA L=z
ALF

Company:
Percentage of the
Number of Company’s issued Long/Short
Name Capacity shares held share capital Position
AARE BT
=18 g4 B EE BRABAE D % %A
Whole Good Management Beneficial owner 1,628,760,000 69.35% Long
Limited (Note) (#1:£) EnlEAA e

Note: The entire issued share capital of Whole Good Management Limited is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr Shi Kancheng. Mr Shi Kancheng is the sole director of
Whole Good Management Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2014, no person, other
than a Director or chief executive of the Company, had interests or short
positions in the Shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO.

RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of significant related party transactions of the Group are set out in
note 36 to the financial statements.

There were no transactions required to be disclosed as non-exempt
connected transactions or non-exempt continuing connected transactions
in accordance with the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December
2014.

Hts - Whole Good Management Limited #2582 2 17%
REEZHMEMKEEERER o MBI SERWhole
Good Management Limited B — & 5 ©

B EXXATETEESN 0 FR2014F12 4318  BHET
A AT (RARISEEKEBITHRABRIN RA
AR RABBRR (DB B AREES R
EGPIEIB6EREFENE LM ERIOAE -

B Bk 75 B B Bk 32 5

AEE SR T RS F TN FHRRMEIG -

HZE2014F12A31HIEFERN - EXFHAKRR
ETRABEATERCEB R SN TERREF
BB ST ARE -
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable date prior to the
issue of this annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Company repurchased a
total of 19,053,000 shares on the Stock Exchange pursuant to the general
mandates granted by the shareholders at the annual general meetings held
on 19 May 2014, details of which were as follows:—

LRBERENTEEN

REARBAFAASHENRRESHAM KA
FHRMNFEMOKERERAITAS - ARFC#E
ETRARERN RRFFE

§HE§EEIQEHL

AEE2014F 12 AT ALEFERN - AR EIRE
201465 A19 BRI RRBF ARG LREK
FTH— MR - R 22 AT HEEB1 19,053,000 AR A%
7 BEAFIEERIIOT

33
Fals

%

Number of Highest price Lowest price
Month/year shares purchased paid paid Total paid
B/ &6 BEROHE BREXR (&) BRE® (KIK) REAHE
HKD HKD HKD
BT BT BT
August 2014 390,000 1.27 1.23 486,190
8 A,2014 4
September 2014 380,000 1.30 1.27 489,190
9A, 20145
November 2014 4,964,000 1.22 1.17 5,894,080
11 A,72014 F
December 2014 13,319,000 1.26 1.20 16,414,660
12 A,/2014 %
19,053,000 23,284,120

All shares repurchased were cancelled and accordingly the Company’s
issued share capital was reduced by the nominal value of these shares.
The repurchases were effected for the benefit of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole by enhancing the value of the net assets and
earnings per share of the Company.

Saved as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2014.

FBERBE BN EZMEH AR ZEHITI
ANMEHBULEROD ZHEHE - BEKROHRA/ES
ARRSREEFELRERAN - FRALQR
REPREEANmMATT -

M EXXIEEIN  REE2014F 12 A31 HIEEF
B ARRHETFRMBARHMERE - &k
BEEIAA R LS o
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year under review, the Group made charitable donations
amounting to approximately RMB4 million (2013: RMB551,000).

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There was no matter occurred that bears significant effect to the Group
between the year end date and the date of this annual report.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retired and a resolution for their re-appointment as auditors
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

On Behalf of the Board
Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Shi Kancheng
Chairman

The People’s Republic of China, 24 March 2015

BEHAX

REBEEA  ARBEELNEERFIOR/ARS
4BEIT(2013F « ARM551,0007T) °

HHHA®ER

BEERREEAFRA MMM BBAE KRS
BELEATENEH -

ZBUED

KRB EBARE  ARBEFRBEE B
BETHRB RS SRITHBRAG LIEL -

RErESE
BEEERRAT

E1
B

FREARAME - 2015F3 A 24 H
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B2 AR

EYzx

To the shareholders of Zhong An Real Estate Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhong An
Real Estate Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Group”) set out on pages 84 to 239, which comprise the consolidated and
company statements of financial position as at 31 December 2014, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

BRZEERRATAZERR
(REIEHSTMA L AIES R FRLE])

R ESHNFES4HEE20BNRLEEAR
2R BRARDEREWBAR (BRI &S
F ) BE B RE - LSRR RIEE20144F
12 A 31 HM A& I s R R A A R B G KR &
HEZFZBAILFENEIfERE A 2EER
xR AMEREDR AHRERERAREE
SRR EMEAM FEER

ESMSHMBERAXIED
RiE

ERRERAREREEKR S EAEEER
E) BIRR B 75 5 22 R (TR BR A s #5221 1) A
BRARAGRIINBRBERERREBEMAANAH
MBBERRARESTEERVENRFRZES - A
RETNFHEBRRRFFHERMERNERBRR
ME S TR o

ZRENRRE

BANEEERERMINBZEZEMBERKRIE
HER - HANHZSES BERARREHE  MALT
AEEM B - RS AREOATE E
EMATBRIAERET -

BB REEZE SRS RMOTEELEL
MM ERITER - ELERBREMIETREE
mRE WHRERNTESZ  KMESSEKE
NHEE I ER HYBRRES N FAEMEASE
ARERA
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BB ERE

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31
December 2014, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with IFRSs and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

24 March 2015

BRI R RERA KU BHRRABESRNKEE
HOEZEBRNRITER - MEENRATRR
ZEED ) T - B RT (G e IO EKEE SRR BR 1T 8 B
BHMBHRRFEEANERRANRR - F£FHE
ZERRE  REMEERZARRUATAR
6 G IRRABRE RN BEMES - ARGHEEH
FZA2 - B IEE R AR A DRI RO B A E
RER - BERNERIBESZARANSTEER
VEBEMEREHNEFH AR - ARHE
BHPBRRABEIHRT o

BPEE - BRAMESNEZR R LA
REFINEZE R ER -

=R

BMRE AN BREREBBERRGHREE
AEEmAAKRE BARM BHEEE2014
F12 A31 BN BAA R BESEEEZBILS
EHMFEMRERE @ WEIRBEBQRIEHZ

RAKEFREHAT
HEEEHED

&5

20153 H24H
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

BOfEER

Year ended 31 December 2014 #EZE 2014412 A 31 HILEE

2014 2013
2014 £ 20134
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaE AR¥T T ARET T
Revenue WA 5 1,550,105 2,437,605
Cost of sales SHE AR (1,159,561) (1,519,329)
Gross profit EF 390,544 918,276
Other income and gains E U A R U 5 43,567 31,433
Selling and distribution expenses SHE R RS (135,519) (127,801)
Administrative expenses TR 304,073 (298,629)
Other expenses HEps (7,022) (3,246)
Fair value gain upon transfer to R YR
investment properties AR EERE 15 656,784 256,292
Changes in fair value of REMENLDR
investment properties BEEE 15 33,200 60,793
Finance costs Bi5EA 7 (37,809) (10,535)
Share of profits and losses of: PG EBERN
Joint ventures Y ) K EstE 20 (259) (2,409)
Profit before tax R AT 6 639,413 824,174
Income tax expense FrS B 10 (237,657) (366,160)
Profit for the year FRFHE 401,756 458,014
Attributable to: AT A
Owners of the parent BREEA A 11 319,725 420,539
Non-controlling interests JEPE AR fE 2 82,031 37,475
401,756 458,014
Earnings per share attributable BATREBREFEA
to ordinary equity holders of EEERER
the parent 13
Basic HAR RMB14 cents RMB18 cents
AR¥145 AR89
Diluted i RMB14 cents RMB18 cents

AR¥145 AR89
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BfEEERER

Year ended 31 December 2014 #HZE 2014512 A31 BILFE

2014 2013
2014 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREET T

Profit for the year FRFE 401,756 458,014
Other comprehensive income HEtzmmikes
Other comprehensive income REZPBRES DR

to be reclassified to profit or EEENEMEE

loss in subsequent periods: Wz
Exchange differences on translation of BRE N B AR

the financial statements of WIS RREER

foreign subsidiaries PEH Z=%8 3,980 6,834
Net other comprehensive REZBREHR S8

income to be reclassified EESENEMEE

to profit or loss in subsequent periods Was 5 5a 3,980 6,834
Total comprehensive FRAZHEKEEEE

income for the year 405,736 464,848
Attributable to: LA FELS -

Owners of the parent ISYNCIEZZEPN 323,705 427,373

Non-controlling interests IR R R 82,031 37,475

405,736 464,848
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BOFBFMR R R

31 December 2014 20144 12 431 H

2014 2013
2014 £ 20134
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaE AR¥T T ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property and equipment B E R&E 14 188,068 202,133
Investment properties HEME 15 3,773,200 2,501,000
Properties under development FAEE R 2 16 8,444,787 6,078,296
Goodwill kS 17 - -
Available-for-sale investments A ERE 18 3,300 3,300
Long term prepayments RAEBFEI R 19 80,712 48,584
Investments in joint ventures RELREMIRE 20 46,228 412,448
Loans and receivables from joint ventures KE—HEERERN
B EWGRIE 21 390,931 =
Deferred tax assets FRIEFIIAE BE 22 201,926 142,785
Restricted cash SR HERE 28 - 95,750
Total non-current assets HIEMEN B E 13,129,152 9,484,296
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Completed properties held for sale FEHEEE BRI 24 4,339,181 4,386,355
Properties under development FAEE R Y2 16 1,181,754 1,430,161
Inventories & 9,608 10,078
Trade and bills receivables FEWE 5 R R R R 26 16,954 22,980
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables F&N7X « &€& R EMEYRE 27 433,045 241,004
Equity investments at fair value through AR EEFEAEE
profit or loss AR RS ERIRE 25 815 1,077
Loans and receivables from joint ventures REEGETENER
K RN R IE 21 29,769 =
Restricted cash ZRHR® 28 620,123 301,722
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRS EEY 28 969,306 1,234,975
7,600,555 7,628,352
Investment property classified DEABFIELENIREME
as held for sale 15 31,000 31,000
Total current assets BB EE 7,631,555 7,659,352
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade payables FETE SRR 29 1,784,709 1,794,221
Other payables and accruals H b e N FE K EETE A 30 507,943 495,389
Advances from customers ESSEENNEN 31 3,124,840 1,871,993
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5T ESRTTE I K EMER 32 2,045,636 835,890
Tax payable JE IR 10 619,909 783,047
Total current liabilities wREaE 8,083,037 5,780,540
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS RE (BE) EEFHE (451,482) 1,878,812
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B ORI R

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 H

2014 2013
2014 & 20134
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
i ARET T ARET T
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BREERABHEME
LIABILITIES 12,677,670 11,363,108
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Interest-bearing bank and AT EIRITTE R R EALE K
other borrowings 32 4,920,598 4,620,404
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFRIEAE 22 763,675 553,102
Total non-current liabilities LIEREBBE 5,684,273 5,173,506
Net assets FEE 6,993,397 6,189,602
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners AR A AELERS
of the parent
Share capital A&z 33 220,811 222319
Reserves (e 34 5,781,737 5,621,966
Proposed final dividend EERARE 12 - 42,617
6,002,548 5,886,902
Non-controlling interests e 990,849 302,700
Total equity RS 6,993,397 6,189,602
Shi Kancheng Shen Tiaojuan HEAR X VEIRIB
Chairman and Director Director FEFEE 3
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

EOERZBR

Year ended 31 December 2014 #HZE 201412 A31 BILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATREARK
Share Share  Stafutory  Statutory  Exchange Proposed Non-
Share  premium Contributed ~ Capitll ~ option  suplus  resenve fluctuation  Retained final controlling Total
capital ~ account  surplus  reseve  resene  reseme find  reseve  profits dividend Total inferests  equity
BliE iEE® iR E¥RE B 2R
fx RAGEE E82H RAERe  ERE  MRE  EEE fEe RERW AERE 0 4 0 B 4B
RMB'OO0  RMB'OO0  RMBOO0  RMBO0  RMB'O00  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'0O0  RMB'OO0  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMB000
ARBTR ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTn ARETn ARETn ARETr ARRTR ARRTn ARMTR ARETR
Notes Notedd  Noied5) Notedol) MNoeddc)  Noted4  Note35d)  Note 33
it i = 0 1 = O
At 1 January 2013 DETA1A WHN9 29N NI B0 WK 181480 8239 (108653 2015343 - 53T 339 5701146
Proft forhe year SRl - - - - - - - -5 11 11
Othercomprehensive noomefor theyear,  SEMEHATUE
Bchengedfencesontrnsefon ~ BERIERES
of foreig operafons ZENER - - - - - - -G - - h - 68y
Tota comprehensie moomeforheyer  ERERATNE - - - - - - S - W a4 el
Diidends peld toron-oontoling B TERERS
Sharchaders - - - - - - - - - - - 700 (38700
Eouly-setfed srare opfon arengements ~ RIEEEERERE U - - - -0 - - - - K - 08
Tensfrofrareoptinreseneupon—— RERERY
the forftre ofshe optios anERERE - - - - - - -4 - - - -
Proposed e 2013 cideng EENBERSRE 12 - - - - - - - L - - -
Trnsfer fom retaned profs RiRAETER - - - - - B - - (B - - - -
At31 December 2013 D3E12AIE 2319 208338 %9316 (3% toraor 221087 8239 (01819 23808 42617 5806902 302700 6,189,602
A1y 204 MUE1A1R W B N6 (BNY T 2008 629 {01 260 6T GRS 0 G196
Proft forhe year SRl - - - - - - - - T ST R0 1T
Othercomprehensive noomefor e year,  SEMEMATUE
Bchengedfencesontrnsefon~~ BERIERES
of foreig operafons (ERER - - - - - - -3 - -3 -3
Totd comprehensie moomeforheyer  ERERATNE - - - - - - - 30 KT - MO G0 45T3%
Repurcheseand cancelefon ofshaes.~—~ BERERRE % (1508 (16,986) - - - - - - - - (184 - (1849
Ceptel contbuton byroncontolng.—— FERRRE
shareholders - - - 316,088 - - - - - - 6068 153200 469,269
Didends pac o B TEERRRRS
non-controling shareholders - - - - - - - - - - - (%0 (1230
Foel 2013 cicend dered SEINOERERE 1 - . . . . . . . - e () -
Fouty-setfed e opfon arengements~ REREERBRE ¢ - - - - - - - - - -
Tinserof share cptonresenepon.— HERERN
the forfefre ofshae options rERERERE - - - - (B9 - - -3 - - - -
Diuton due o suance of rewsharesty  RMERARGHRA
asbsiday g - - - - - [0 - - (M2 - 52 465218 -
Trenslr fom retained o RRRETER - - - - - - - By - - - -
At 31 December 2014 DUERRSNA 20811 296625 9318t 22161 156325+ 200306+ 8200 (01,839 2204975 - 6002548 900849 6,993,307

*

financial position.

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves of
RMBS5,781,737,000 (2013: RMB5,621,966,000) in the consolidated statement of

*

ZEBBERECEAHMBMRARAEGHEM
f# # A R #5,781,737,0007T (20134 : A R #
5,621,966,000 7T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EOHRERER

Year ended 31 December 2014 #HZE 2014512 A31 BILFE

2014 2013
2014 F 20134
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Hiat ARETR ARETT
Cash flows from operating activities REXBENRERE
Profit before tax BRECAN A 639,413 824,174
Adjustments for: A
Depreciation e 14 19,236 20,184
Fair value gain upon transfer to EREIREYEN
investment properties AR EEKE 15 (656,784) (256,292)
Changes in fair value of REYER
investment properties DREEE 15 (33,200) (60,793)
Fair value losses/(gains), net: ARBEBE (W) FE
Equity investments at fair value AR EEFE B EEE
through profit or loss STAEBEENERIRE 262 (355)
Equity-settled share option expense RIELE ERER 34 2,207 62,308
Write-down of properties under WoRAZERIES
development to net realisable value AR EE 16 14,204 =
Share of profits and losses of: joint ventures AMhaELENFEREE 259 2,409
Gain on disposal of investment properties HEREYEE B e 5 - (51)
Finance costs %8 A 7 37,809 10,535
Interest income B A 5 (37,142) (7,993)
(13,736) 594,126
Increase in properties under development FRE RN (2,181,839) (388,815)
Decrease/(Increase) in completed properties BEHEEERMERD /(M)
held for sale 47,174 (457,687)
Decrease/(Increase) in trade and bills receivables  [EUE Z 8 R Z iR 4,/ (32 10) 6,026 (19,120)
Increase in prepayments, B - e R E A FE BGRIEE AN
deposits and other receivables (192,041) (25,183)
Increase in long term prepayments REATEFRE N (32,128) (9,674)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FE (M), wm 470 (518)
Increase in restricted cash for pre-sales proceeds A% A S IE IR H27 £ 3E 0 (147,837) (9,467)
(Decreass)/increase in trade payables e E SRR CRD),/ N (9,512) 280,782
Increase in other payables and accruals H At FE 5 5R0E K FE AT B 3 AN 23,635 5,543
Increase in advances from customers RETE I 1,252,847 183,227
Cash (used in)/from operations BEEE (H),/ MRE (1,246,941) 153,214
Interest received B UFE 7,373 7,993
Interest paid BEFE (570,107) (478,158)
Income tax and land appreciation tax paid ERFTEH Rt E R (249,363) (130,975)
Net cash flows used in operating activities EEE£BHEANELHETE (2,059,038) (447,926)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EHBEERER

Year ended 31 December 2014 & ZE 2014412 H31 HILEE

2014 2013
2014 F 20134
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiiF ARETT ARBET T
Cash flows from investing activities RELBELENERLSRE
Capital contributions and loans to AEEhEREFE
joint ventures RER (24,970) (53,235)
Proceeds from disposal of HEREMFEMISTHIE
investment properties sold - 4,344
Purchases of items of property and equipment ~ BEEREE MiREEB (5,351) (16,910)
Proceeds from disposal of HEHHEREMSHE
available-for-sale investments - 2,310
Proceeds from disposal HEEERSEEE
of items of property and equipment 180 1,178
Increase in restricted cash PR IR £ 32 00 (195,634) (170,067)
Decrease in restricted cash SRHB LR 120,820 7,500
Net cash flows used in investing activities REXBRANESREFHE (104,955) (224,880)
Cash flows from financing activities RETHELENERLSRE
Capital contributions by FEERRREE
non-controlling shareholders 469,263 -
Dividends paid ERRE (42,617) =
Dividends paid to BT IR AR
non-controlling shareholders (12,300) (38,700)
New interest-bearing bank and et BRITER R EMER
other borrowings 3,936,566 4,682,097
Repayment of interest-bearing bank and B BRITERRE MR
other borrowings (2,426,626) (3,357,970)
Repurchase of shares BB IR 33 (18,494) -
Decrease in an amount due to JET IR AR ER
a non-controlling shareholder FIER D 30 (9,974) (178,557)
Net cash flows from financing activities BEETHELENRERERE 1,895,818 1,006,870
Net increase in cash and ReRAESESEYIENTFE
cash equivalents (268,175) 334,064
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year Efﬁ]iﬁ/ﬁ&fﬁ/\gﬁw 1,234,975 894,077
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [EXEHHFTLE TR 2,506 6,834
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRASRASEEY 969,306 1,234,975
Analysis of balances of cash ReRESEENERIN
and cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances RE RIRITER 28 969,306 1,234,975
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Statement of Financial Position

B EEIR I 2R

31 December 2014 2014412 431 H

2014 2013
2014 F 20134
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
Hiat ARET T ARETTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB A 7R E 23 2,427,069 885,267
Property and equipment EE K& 14 1,756 2,188
Total non-current assets BIEREEE 2,428,825 887,455
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFEUR BT A B ZRIE 23 364,031 1,830,798
Prepayments, deposits and BN Eek
other receivables H b fE U RIE 27 11,597 565
Equity investments at fair value through UAREBE=BHEES)
profit or loss FTAE HERRERE 25 815 1,077
Cash and cash equivalents He MRS EEY 28 2,322 88,091
Total current assets BB EE 378,765 1,920,531
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAE
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN R 23 255,118 187,044
Other payables and accruals Hth S 5E K B AT E A 30 1,166 2,035
Total current liabilities wREaE 256,284 189,079
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 122,481 1,731,452
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEERABARS
CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,551,306 2,618,907
Net assets FEE 2,551,306 2,618,907
EQUITY &=
Share capital &N 33 220,811 222,319
Reserves il 35 2,330,495 2,353,971
Proposed final dividend EEAHRE 12 - 42,617
Total equity HRER 2,551,306 2,618,907
Shi Kancheng Shen Tiaojuan AR SR IE
Chairman and Director Director FTEHFEEE -
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR RR M

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Zhong An Real Estate Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated as an exempted company in the Cayman
Islands on 13 March 2007 under the Companies Law (revised) of
the Cayman Islands. The registered office address of the Company
is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman

KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) is
principally engaged in property development, leasing and hotel
operation. The Group’s property development projects during the
year were all located in Zhejiang, Anhui and Jiangsu provinces, the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the

year.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors (the “Directors”), the
holding company and the ultimate holding company of the Company
is Whole Good Management Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands on 3 May 2007. Whole Good Management
Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Shi Zhongan, Chairman and Chief

Executive Officer of the Company.

LFEH

BEFERRAR([ARAR E2007F3 A
1I3ABRBERSHS A alE (KB EHS
HEFMK L RERRER AR o AAFIH
sE i S BR M & Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands °

AR MEMB AR (Sl ANEE ) EER/
EMERE  BERHESE - /1 A%
B EFEIR B NP EARKME ([
BT - RBIOTE#E - FAREENT

KEARBEEF(EFDRE ARAH
2N A R mR B2 IR A Bl A Whole Good
Management Limited + —Z A 2007 5 5 A
SHERBHRESEAMKIHATR - AR
AESERFARVTERTLAELERER

Whole Good Management Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 ¥R R B

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2. WREIEERFEHE

2.1 Basis of preparation 21 fmHEIEE

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”),
which comprise standards and interpretations approved by
the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”),
and International Accounting Standards and Standing
Interpretations Committee interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Committee that remain
in effect. These financial statements also comply with the
applicable requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance relating to the preparation of financial statements,
which for this financial year and the comparative period
continue to be those of the predecessor Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 32), in accordance with transitional and
saving arrangements for Part 9 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622), “Accounts and Audit”, which are set
out in sections 76 to 87 of Schedule 11 to that Ordinance. The
financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for investment properties and
derivative financial instruments which have been measured at
fair value as explained in the accounting policies set out below.
These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (‘RMB”)
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

Net current liability

As at 31 December 2014, the current liabilities of the Group
exceeded its current assets by approximately RMB451 million.
In the opinion of the Directors, it is an industry practice for the
retail estate business to keep a low level of current ratio. The
Directors have prepared these financial statements on a going
concern basis notwithstanding the net current liability position
because the Directors expected that the Group will generate
sufficient cash inflows from the operation and have adequate
unused bank and other credit facilities to meet its financial
obligation when they fall due.

N B 75 3R R 1 BR R IR B S R 45 22 A
([R5 2E R ) Rl - Mo EIER
BTSSR B 5 R B e R AR 3R
Fg ((ERgEESEE ) RBEK
B ERIRREEBEZE G EER
EREERI R R o WEMBREN
e BB R THEHIA EREM % ERE
ZHERRE  BRBIENBE SR EE
PlsE 622 ZE 9B [WR B REEaT | Frts
B 38R 1 R AR BB 2 B (3B 5% 1R 151 P
RI1FBT6E8TIK)  HAMBEFE
T LB BRFR A 4B FR AT & A BRI 5B
32F - RILEMERITES R T AL
ATl &5t BERR A BET =
GN - ZRBA RS SR ZR TR PR R S Bk AN SR Al
il o BRARERIGERRSN - ABISIRE
RARB(TARKE DR - WS
L H T T ENL o

BERBAE

R20145612 31 H @ AEERESHE
ERHERBEENARKISIEE
TL o ARAIEERE  EEMETE
REHEKF R RE L R RITZEIER o
BEAEEREFRBEMRE  AARE
SIRARNIFBEICE B EER I H
o NARESTEHANEEMAEES
FERELERHNRSTRAREEH
B i AR E AR RIT REMMOEEE
LArn 2 21 ERBRF FE AT O (5755 ©
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Notes to Financial Statements

AR AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER AR ()

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 wEEHIEE

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2014. The financial statements of the
subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The results
of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until
the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described in
the accounting policy for subsidiaries below. A change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (jii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i)
the fair value of any investment retained and (jii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

At

EHMBREBEAARREREBA
AIEZE2014F 12 A31 A ILFERNE
EHRER o BB A Rl 2 MRz 2 fmE
HEHMEAQFRER - FA-
BETEUR - B AR EE B SER
BEfEZBREZEAAHAR  EE
KEZEGIEZBRIE

RSB B R A R E SRR M5
RBBESEESAREEARIEE
Rias - BV B ALY
A - ANALERRATZHR
SHFEEBMAER AR s
WA B RRSRERA G 28
g o

HEBEMBERBR NXMB AR &5
BRIt e =B SA R — A% %
RLREE  AEEGEMIEER
BEIREHR - HBARMARE
SR E BB IR IT B MRS
IR o

AAZS£2 (5] 5% 2K S BT B8 A ) 0 22 LA
AR TER () HIE R R E E(B1ER
2)REE - (i) EAFEE R R ) BR
TED{E I (iii) A i s RS H) R ETEE K 2=
R RERNBBARENRREE -
(i) AR B I E K2 Jp (BB K (i) (£
FTEARBEBNIBREAL - REEfE
1 LAE A HL fth 2 T U e N FERR B0 36
EBRIASEEELEREEENA
BFRENEREEEN D EAER
SR A (LiEA ) o
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR MR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and

disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised standards

and new interpretation for the first time for the current year’s

financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10,
IFRS 12 and
IAS 27 (Revised)

Amendments to IAS 32

Amendments to IAS 36

Amendments to IAS 39

IFRIC 21

Amendment to IFRS 2
included in Annual
Improvements
2010-2012 Cycle

Amendment to IFRS 3
included in Annual
Improvements
2010-2012 Cycle

Amendment to IFRS 13
included in Annual
Improvements
2010-2012 Cycle

Amendment to IFRS 1
included in Annual
Improvements
2011-2013 Cycle

Investment Entities

Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilties

Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-
Financial Assets

Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of
Hedge Accounting

Levies

Definition of Vesting Condition’

Accounting for Contingent Consideration in a

Business Combination’

Short-term Receivables and Payables

Meaning of Effective IFRSs

1 Effective from 1 July 2014

The adoption of the above revised Standards and

interpretations has had no significant financial effect on these

financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

AR AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.3 New and revised IFRSs and new
disclosure requirements under the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance not

yet adopted

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements.

IFRS 9

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28 (Revised)

Amendments to IFRS 10,
IFRS 12 and
IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 11

IFRS 14
IFRS 15
Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 16
and IAS 38

Amendments to IAS 16
and IAS 41

Amendments to IAS 19

Amendments to
IAS 27 (Revised)

Annual Improvements
2010-2012 Cycle

Annual Improvements
2011-2013 Cycle

Annual Improvements
2012-2014 Cycle

Financial Instruments*

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture?

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation
Exception?

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint
Operations?

Regulatory Deferral Accounts®
Revenue from Contracts with Customers®
Disclosure Initiative?

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
Depreciation and Amortisation?

Agriculture: Bearer Plants?

Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions’

Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements?

Amendments to a number of IFRSs'

Amendments to a number of IFRSs’

Amendments to a number of IFRSs?

2. WREIEER AR ()

2.3 MR RAETE

MM BRELEAUAREEBL
ARG F I B E R
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BRIBREEAS 165
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REB S &R E 385
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SERIE A2 BATA

R E-HERIE 195 2 BTA

R @ sHRR|E 075 (53] K)
ZBFTR
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011 Z013F BBz FEUE

0122014 FEHz FEUE
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR MR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEEREEHRRK ()

2.3 New and revised IFRSs and new 2.3 EAREAWHIT RKIES]E

disclosure requirements under the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance not
yet adopted (continued)

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

5 Effective for an entity that first adopts IFRSs for its annual financial

statements beginning on or after 1 January 2016 and therefore is
not applicable to the Group

In addition, the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622) will affect the presentation and disclosure of certain
information in the consolidated financial statements for the
year ending 31 December 2015. The Group is in the process
of making an assessment of the impact of these changes.

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is as follows:

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9,
bringing together all phases of the financial instruments
project to replace IAS 39 and all previous versions of IFRS 9.
The standard introduces new requirements for classification
and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. The
Group expects to adopt IFRS 9 from 1 January 2018. The
Group expects that the adoption of IFRS 9 will have an impact
on the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial
assets. Further information about the impact will be available
nearer the implementation date of the standard.

MM BHREEAURERLD
AMRBIBF IR EZER ()
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SE
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SE
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Notes to Financial Statements

AR AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER AR ()

2.3 New and revised IFRSs and new 2.3 EARFENWFT RZIESE

disclosure requirements under the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance not
yet adopted (continued)

The amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (Revised) address
an inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and
in IAS 28 (Revised) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business,
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in
the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January 2016.

The amendments to IFRS 11 require that an acquirer of
an interest in a joint operation in which the activity of the
joint operation constitutes a business must apply the
relevant principles for business combinations in IFRS 3.
The amendments also clarify that a previously held interest
in a joint operation is not remeasured on the acquisition of
an additional interest in the same joint operation while joint
control is retained. In addition, a scope exclusion has been
added to IFRS 11 to specify that the amendments do not
apply when the parties sharing joint control, including the
reporting entity, are under common control of the same
ultimate controlling party. The amendments apply to both
the acquisition of the initial interest in a joint operation and
the acquisition of any additional interests in the same joint
operation. The amendments are not expected to have any
impact on the financial position or performance of the Group
upon adoption on 1 January 2016.

MM BRELEAUAREEBL
ARGIEF IR EZER ()
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Notes to Financial Statements

B G R R B =
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2. IRHBIEERSTHBE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.3 New and revised IFRSs and new 2.3 EARERMNHFET REERTE
disclosure requirements under the MM EREZEAUREEBQ
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance not ARBIKFTIREE R (&)
yet adopted (continued)

IFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model that will apply BBR B 7S R & X Bl 55 15 SR~ — (@ ¥
to revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under MAEFERX  BEARBEFAVE
IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects R o AR BN B 765 R A 2 B 5B
the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in 1557 + WA IR BE R B B B TR B ph 2 8
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. B FEEEY AR AE RS
The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach RELFEER - BRI EREZAERSE
for measuring and recognising revenue. The standard also 155 MR A BaT 2 RIERKAIRHEE
introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure MBI A% - ZZERMEIAEZ
requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue, HEENREEHERTE @ BEIIFR
information about performance obligations, changes in A BARETRE - TREFEZ
contract asset and liability account balances between MEHNEERBRERE EHNEE A
periods and key judgements and estimates. The standard will N E B HE LG ER o (X 2R
supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under AR SRS ERITE AR
IFRSs. The Group expects to adopt IFRS 15 on 1 January W AFEREIRE - ANEBTEHIR 2017
2017 and is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 15 upon F1 51 BN B 55 2RI 5515
adoption. 5%+ B BT ERH IR BIRR B IS s 2

EIER IR #:0) -7

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 clarify the principle in IAS BURX S ETAERISE 16 5% R B a1 2ER
16 and IAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of economic FEIBWZIER] BB BB 2 ERIE
benefits that are generated from operating business (of 165 & B BX & 51 % A % 38 5% & /R
which the asset is part) rather than the economic benefits Bl BMIRA R E &L X (ZEE
that are consumed through the use of the asset. As a result, BE 25 ) EAREENSmIER
a revenue-based method cannot be used to depreciate BEEEEELENSENZAER -
property, plant and equipment and may only be used in Eit - #1% - BB REHETEABA
very limited circumstances to amortise intangible assets. REMETINE  WAEERTEAR
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The HIER TRl AW A AE RS ET A
amendments are not expected to have any impact on the E o ZE BB ER - TBEZEE
financial position or performance of the Group upon adoption IR 20164F 1 A1 BHIRNE G~ &Y
on 1 January 2016 as the Group has not used a revenue- INE B R B ISR R S R IR B A R AT
based method for the calculation of depreciation of its non- 2 REEASKEWRARA BERR
current assets. STHEERBEENTE -
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Notes to Financial Statements

AR AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER AR ()

2.3 1K IRA BT R EEITE
BB 4R S5 2B B LR BB A
AEBIFHBEER ()

2.3 New and revised IFRSs and new
disclosure requirements under the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance not
yet adopted (continued)

The Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle issued
in December 2013 sets out amendments to a number of
IFRSs. Except for those described in note 2.2, the Group
expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January 2015.
None of the amendments are expected to have a significant
financial impact on the Group. Details of the amendment most
applicable to the Group are as follows:

72013412 3 A8 Y B PR B 75 i o
BI2010F 22012 F AR 2 FEHZ
&5 % 18 BR B1 75 S Rl B 5T ©
BREFEE2.2FTHLE SN - ANEBTEE B
20151 A1 BREHEMZZF(EE] - 18
HZFETM IS HAREREEKEAN
BT E ERRAEENEET

BT

B PR B 7 SR 5 YR R B 8 SRAF & 5 5L
disclose the judgements made by management in applying BEEEENER R SRS RS
85k NMAR A IR LR UAKEEIEE
TER B2 - BIEMRE RS 5 EA
BESL A B B & 99 B 2 25 2R AR 69

IFRS 8 Operating Segments: Clarifies that an entity must

the aggregation criteria in IFRS 8, including a brief description
of operating segments that have been aggregated and
the economic characteristics used to assess whether the

segments are similar. The amendments also clarify that a I o BTN S DB A E
reconciliation of segment assets to total assets is only required HEEENFHEEEZABRRETE

to be disclosed if the reconciliation is reported to the chief BEEARE BN N HEHE -

operating decision maker.
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PR AR MR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEEREEHRRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTHTEHRBE

policies
Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

When the company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
statement of profit or loss to the extent of dividends received

and receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries
are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

X E]
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A2EREHSAZRRRAEREZHE
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BRI E SR -
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AR AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER AR ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method
of accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that
may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit and loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly
in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group
recognise its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s investments in the associates or joint ventures,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as part of
the Group’s investments in associates or joint ventures.

RBEARARSEEENERE

ERRRAEBERS —RIIR
20% BN R RAER R - WA
HBEBEAZEINER - EARE
RBEREHRUTE MEEBERARK
EVRER] - BIREEHRTER AR
PRI EBR o

RECEE-ERERH Bt ¥
ZHRARRERIRZTOTHAE
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BRBRAENHMES —HLHMAEZ
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ZRIR R —BRIB R ERFE
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TIREER S DA RAKEhEE
FHERERDREBER A B
RINFR o (AR REFEMER G SR
REEHAEABREZER— -
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B BREA R EREG RZES BB E
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REERB R A EERERTHER
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PR AR MR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds

from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of associates and joint ventures are included
in the Company’s statement of profit or loss to the extent
of dividends received and receivable. The Company’s
investments in associates and joint ventures are treated as
non-current assets and are stated at cost less any impairment

losses.

When an investment in an associates and joint venture is
classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance

with IFRS 5.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed

as incurred.

2. WREIEEREEHRRK ()

2.4 FESTHERYE (&)
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AR AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2. WRHEERSHBER (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERBE (&)
policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued) EKEHREE (F)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial BAREEWE —IEEEE - RBRESYD
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification B REIRIBERRIEINES
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, & AR E o5 N 2R E A ER
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the SREERARE - EEBIEHI
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded BABESLHRNNBMmARSTETAESY
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree. Bl °

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the A EEHDPEEREIT  LAFERN
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition MR WS H I A R BEEH T
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in 2 M E ARG E BN I8 s T
profit or loss. R o

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer RS 1% T ERAO AR ARER
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent RUREE B Bz A 2 B EER EJZ?’WQ
consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial Buwriassm TAEEREE:
instrument and within the scope of IAS 39 is measured at HERIZE 30 SR £ lE AR — I8 5%@@{5
fair value with changes in fair value either recognised in profit Az AnEEE  BEESERN
or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If BafEAEt ks EE) - EJZ
the contingent consideration is not within the scope of IAS AREBANIEIEBIBR 2 51 2RI 55 30 5% 6
39, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate IFRS. ER - AR & @m0 BB S a2 R
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not TR DHAERNIAREBTES
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for FetE - MAREERERT AR -
within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of BV TILEKAGTE - AT FTEEE
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount MRE IR ERERNSTE R
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of RN EE B LA AR U BB 75 5 B O RR AN A
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree HEREA AR BERNEMBETEA
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities A S RSFEE R FTRIER A B E
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items B o INREREATE B 2 FERFTUR
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the BEEFENAREE  TEHTM
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss % EZRBEERAFNEBEBRKE ZWE
as a gain on bargain purchase. R A8 ©
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PR AR MR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEEREEHRRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTHERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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AR AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2. WRHEERSHBER (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERBE (&)
policies (continued)

Fair value measurement RABEE
The Group measures its investment properties, equity AREBRSHERARIRARBETE
investments for trading and derivative financial instruments at B EWE  RXHREIEERITES
fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the BMTH - ARBEARGTERYHS
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer SEEFGFRX S5 HEEERINE
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants NEEEEBAYNZER - AAEE
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is AEDENRENEEXEENEE
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset T HHEEEMS 0 AIREES
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market BESE N TS ET e g
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, FZRBARIMETE - TE2HA7F
in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. MGARAEEFG - —THEENKE
The principal or the most advantageous market must be BERNARBERFERIRAMESES
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability HENHEESBBEEREANR
is measured using the assumptions that market participants R WEREMBREEUESRELE
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that FERITE ©
market participants act in their economic best interest.
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic FEeMEENRAABEFENERT
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by H2EEBRBKEERAEREREA
selling it to another market participant that would use the {bei i H H & F BN S B E R iR &
asset in its highest and best use. F RE AL 2 B3 i A A A A i
HIEEN °
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are N B B S R A E T RS
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant TENSENHRAEAAEE &KX
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable {b{sE A AE B8 ] B R BB SO A fE R A
inputs. AR EUR o
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PR AR MR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEEREEHRRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTHERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued) AREEE (&

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or ARG EBEREAABENBEEE

disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the FEERAABEEEASE T

fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest Bt - AR AR BEEEEM

level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a SHEEANRESREBAMETE

whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active F— EREREEN B ERERE
markets for identical assets or liabilities TISRIFRE CREFHR)

Level2 — based on valuation techniques for which the FH  ANRESRH AT EEK
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value MEBRBHAREETZ
measurement is observable, either directly or BERTZENHERE
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the F=H  ARNREZABH AT AR
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value BHEEFEEERATEDN
measurement is unobservable HERE

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial IR E F B S R ER Y SRR RS

statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines é%&ﬁ{ﬁﬁﬁé  REBREFREH

whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.

REBEBEFNAERRREBEHAARE
BEFf EERM = BERNRERHER
BETEBRZEARBEEEY -
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AR AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER AR ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets, completed
properties held for sale, properties under development,
investment properties, goodwill and non-current assets/
a disposal group classified as held for sale), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises,
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case
the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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PR AR MR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the

relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s

family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or of a parent of the Group;
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PR R AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Related parties (continued)
or

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a); and

(vil a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).
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PR AR MR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIREREERRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Property and equipment and depreciation

Property and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. The cost of an item of property and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use. Cost may also include
transfers from equity of any gains or losses on qualifying cash
flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property and
equipment.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The estimated residual
values and useful lives for this purpose are as follows:

Useful lives Residual values
Buildings 20 years 5% to 10%
Hotel properties 20 years 5%
Machinery 10 years 5%
Office equipment 5 years 5%
Motor vehicles 5 years 5%
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PR AR MR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER AR ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Property and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately.

Residual value, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents renovation works in
progress and is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and
is not depreciated. Cost mainly comprises the direct costs of
construction during the period of construction. Construction in
progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property
and equipment or investment properties when completed and
ready for use.
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Notes to Financial Statements

AR AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease for
a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes;
or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Investment
properties comprise completed investment properties and
investment properties under construction. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end
of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit or
loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement for profit
or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or investment properties for disposal, the deemed
cost of a property for subsequent accounting is its fair value at
the date of change in use. If a property occupied by the Group
as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment
property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance
with the policy stated under “Property and equipment and
depreciation” up to the date of change in use, and any
difference at that date between the carrying amount and the
fair value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation
in accordance with the policy stated under “Property and
equipment and depreciation” above. For a transfer from
completed properties held for sale to investment properties,
any difference between the fair value of the property at that
date and its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or
loss.
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PR AR MR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER AR ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

For a transfer from completed properties held for sale or
properties under development to investment properties, any
difference between the fair value of the property at the date of
change in use, and its previous carrying amount at that date is
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group determines whether completed properties held for
sales and properties under development would be transferred
to investment properties when, only when, there is a change
in use, evidenced by the following criteria: (a) the Group has
prepared a business plan that reflects the future rental income
generated by the property and this is supported with evidence
that there is demand for rental space; (b) the Group can
demonstrate that it has the resources, including the necessary
financing or capital, to hold and manage an investment
property; (c) The change in use is legally permissible; (d) If
the property must be further developed for the change in
use, developed has commenced and (e) Change in use is
approved by board resolution.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value and comprise land costs, construction
costs, borrowing costs, professional fees and other costs
directly attributable to such properties incurred during the
development period.

Properties under development which are intended to be held
for sale and expected to be completed within 12 months from
the end of the reporting period are classified as current assets.

Properties under development which are intended to be held
for sale and expected to be completed beyond 12 months
from the end of the reporting period are classified as non-
current assets.
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B FE SRR B EE
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2. WHEERSHEER (8)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTHERBE (&)
policies (continued)

Completed properties held for sale BEHEC ERYE

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower RN E B YR A ) IR AN [z a] B3R
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by FERENREETR - KRGS
an apportionment of the total costs of land and buildings Y5 e + i BT AA R AN 1
attributable to the unsold properties. Net realisable value e AJERFEEERRITMR - &
takes into account the selling price, less estimated costs to be BHEER - WREGTHEHEWER
incurred in selling the properties based on prevailing market BRI o

conditions.

Operating leases KREHE

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of BEEBRAENTERMNEERES
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for SHEARAEMEE - HOYERKETH
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets EoiAEFAEBA @ AIAREER
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in BEEHERENEET A ERBE
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating = miBEgsEEnEKES AT
leases are credited to the statement of profit or loss on the BWHEANAE G AT AR E o WA
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is EE@EAEMA - BIKSHERERTHA
the lessee, rentals payable under the operating leases are SEBHEBRNRER AT ABER

charged to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are LT EIE TRTEN T HAE S FIE R
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the IR ABR - WREBIANE AT
straight-line basis over the lease terms. TR F HAFER ©

When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably il P8 &~ R VA A SEdth 7E £ 3 AR T
between the land and buildings elements, the entire lease ZHEETHE  IBHENREER
payments are included in the cost of the land and buildings as MEREE 2 ERSSEZ i &
a finance lease in property and equipment. BFZKAK -
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PR AR MR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER AR ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables, and available-for-sale financial investments, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs
that are attributed to the acquisition of the financial assets,
except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for trading
if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments as defined by IAS 39.
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AR AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEEREEHRRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTHERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with positive
net changes in fair value presented as other income and gains
and negative net changes in fair value presented as finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss. These net fair value
changes do not include any dividends or interest earned on
these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in IAS 39 are satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for
as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to
those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not held
for trading or designated as at fair value through profit or loss.
These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in
the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.
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PR AR MR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER AR ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in other
income and gains in the statement of profit or loss. The loss
arising from impairment is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in finance costs for loans and in other expenses for
receivables.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and
debt securities. Equity investments classified as available for
sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading
nor designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Debt
securities in this category are those which are intended to be
held for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in
response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in
market conditions.
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AR AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised
gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive income
in the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until

2. WREIEEREEHRRK ()

2.4 FEETHRME(H)

RERHMETEE (H)
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income, respectively, and are recognised in the statement of A BRI BN -

profit or loss as other income in accordance with the policies

the investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative
gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss
in other income, or until the investment is determined to be
impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified
from the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to
the statement of profit or loss in other expenses. Interest and
dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-sale financial
investments are reported as interest income and dividend

set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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& [E 8 S 1 T BT Be & R ATk I A
REFTAREE  MERAABETD

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot
be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range

investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates
within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in

estimating fair value, such investments are stated at cost less RERI SERT 2 AL EERE IR AR 2=
any impairment losses. EfTREEERE -

2rEEARAR —T-—messk 119



Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR MR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER AR ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to
sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are
still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is
unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets,
the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets if
management has the ability and intention to hold the assets
for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised
in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of
the investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference
between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is
also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the
effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined
to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is
reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
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AR AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEEREEHRRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTHERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset, or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the assets.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to
repay.
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PR AR MR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2. WRHEERSHBER (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERBE (&)
policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets SREENRE

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period AEBREFEARSAREEEEITT
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset B NHABREFERESERHA
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists HIEEER AL ER LD A3 4R/
if one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition B - ERVIIRHERBEE—(EzkZ(E
of the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows EHHFRECHEEN —HemE
of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can ENEGARRRERNEXTE  BZ
be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include B STA AR S5 0 AIFEER
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing B - A RENZEAEEEEIFA
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest S—HEEALBRE R EREEE - &
or principal payments, the probability that they will enter AR B KA ST - BERHK
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable ESETEMB SR A REANE
data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the ARBRRAEEGARRRERE
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or 2R B SErtE - IEE A FEE
economic conditions that correlate with defaults. NFREBERITE R
Financial assets carried at amortised cost AR % A

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first HRNIRE A APIBR S mME E © &
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial EEEHLHERERANESREESE G
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for EITEHME R D FERE - s E R
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group EANEMEELXR#ETTE - IR
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists AEEREEBIHNERMEEZE
for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant BUREZSBEL T BERnLSHEE
or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with TEXN HEEEEEEBHLUER
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses BN RmEEHRS NETTRE
them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for AR - BEEBETRENANMEBER
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues BB RS BRI EBEN SR
to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment BE TEBEECRHEEMAATE
of impairment. TTRERIE °
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AR AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEEREEHRRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

2.4 FEETHRME(H)

policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred). The present
value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or
through the use of an allowance account and the amount of
the loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying
amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any
associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised
or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by
adjusting the allowance account. If a future write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to the statement of profit or
loss.
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PR AR MR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried
at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured,
or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled
by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return
for a similar financial asset, and recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. Impairment losses on these assets are not
reversed.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus,
in the case of loans and borrowings, directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables and interest-bearing loans and borrowings.
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AR AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEEREEHRRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTHERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This
category includes derivative financial instruments entered into
by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments
in hedge relationships as defined by IAS 39. Separated
embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not include
any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria of IAS 39 are satisfied.
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR MR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through

the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the

statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under

the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is

recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities

simultaneously.
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AR AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred on disposal.

Cost of inventories includes the transfer from equity of gains
and losses on qualifying cash flow hedges in respect of the
purchases of raw materials.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash,
which are not restricted as to use.
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured
at the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with the general guidance for provisions above;
and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
guidance for revenue recognition.

Employee retirement benefits

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the PRC government,
the companies comprising the Group operating in Mainland
China (the “PRC group companies”) have participated in a
local municipal government retirement benefit scheme (the
“Scheme”), whereby the PRC group companies are required
to contribute a certain percentage of the salaries of their
employees to the Scheme to fund their retirement benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the Scheme
is to pay the ongoing contributions under the Scheme.
Contributions under the Scheme are charged to the statement
of profit of loss as incurred.
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AR AR MR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEEREERRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax and land
appreciation tax. Income tax relating to items recognised
outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill or the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR MR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER AR ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.
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AR AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the

end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is

intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to the statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset
by equal annual instalments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the statement of profit or

loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets,
grants are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary
assets and released to the statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful lives of the relevant assets by equal annual

instalments.
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PR AR MR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Government grants (continued)

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no
or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a
qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government
loans is determined using the effective interest rate method,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial
liabilities” above. The benefit of the government loans granted
with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is the
difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and
the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and
released to the statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from the sale of properties in the ordinary course of
business is recognised when all the following criteria are met:

(@  the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
properties are transferred to the purchasers;

(b)  neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership, nor effective control
over the properties is retained;

(c)  the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

(d) it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

(e) the cost incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.
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AR AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

The above criteria are met when construction of the
relevant properties has been completed and the Group has
obtained the project completion report issued by the relevant
government authorities, the properties have been delivered
to the purchasers, and the collectability of related receivables
is reasonably assured. Payments received on properties sold
prior to the date of revenue recognition are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under current

liabilities.

Property leasing income derived from the leasing of the
Group’s properties is recognised on a time proportion basis

over the lease terms.

Property management fee income derived from the provision
of property maintenance and management services is
recognised upon the rendering of the relevant services.

Hotel operating income which includes room rental, food
and beverage sales and income from the provision of other
ancillary services is recognised when the services are

rendered.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial

asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to

receive payment has been established.
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PR AR MR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer
using the Black-Scholes or binomial option pricing model,
further details of which are given in note 34 to the financial
statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled
in employee benefit expense. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately
vest, except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is
conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are
treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market
or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.
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AR AR M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEEREEHRRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTHERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payment or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date
of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as
if they were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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PR AR MR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2. WRHEERSHBER (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERBE (&)
policies (continued)

Borrowing costs BB

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, g  BMENEESEWREE(BIFH
construction or production of qualifying assets, that is, assets ZRERHERENRERERGRNIEE
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready MEE)EENEREREBR B4
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the KCVEBZEEEME DA ° %
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing ZEEEER FA{ERTERAEHER
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for RILERERNERE - FRERT
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on KEERXNEEERNERRRERT
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending BRI E WA - BEREERE
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the Bk - 1A Bt ERKAREESE
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are HREIRZIERS - B ARG RS
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing MEABSELENF B R EMA o

costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally and used for the M—REAES  RRERGEAER
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation rate of BE  HENEERIEAN T 9%
9% (2013: 10%) has been applied to the expenditure on the (20134 : 10%) NEMEAREE o

individual assets.

Dividends BRE

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a EESEE /[L%HE’]XHHHXE "%EJ%EM‘K
separate allocation within the equity section of the statement MR KRPESEDTHEF DR

of financial position, until they have been approved by the Eiﬁi%ﬁx,@mﬂxﬁﬁéﬁxﬁﬁgiﬁt
shareholders in a general meeting. When these dividends A o ZER SRR B/ S K R i
have been approved by the shareholders and declared, they REAE-

are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared. hHARE B LRI 2SR E R EIK ©
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately bt FHARE TR ERRERE /ﬂiﬁ—;
as a liability when they are proposed and declared. BERNER AEE
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEEREEHRRK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTHERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Foreign currencies

The Company and certain subsidiaries incorporated outside
Mainland China have Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), Canadian
dollars (“CAD$”) and United States dollars (‘US$”) as their
functional currencies, respectively. The functional currency
of Mainland China subsidiaries is the RMB. As the Group
mainly operates in Mainland China, the RMB is used as the
presentation currency of the Group. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with
the exception of monetary items that are designated as
part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the net investment is disposed of, at which time
the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement of profit
or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange
differences on those monetary items are also recorded in
other comprehensive income.

SN

RRAR RAE TR B A IASNEMK
STHKTE AR D BIABTT (BT »
e (e l) RET (TR DIERE
FLERANALEE o B T A RIREBR
RESARE BRAEEI2HE
TEAMmEE MARERAESS
BH2RER - AEEBTSERY
A BITEE A AMEERALYE - &
ERNMSRRET AMNIE B HIAZRL
RAIEIR - NEEE TS E B
BHINER S RYARZ S BB
BRAMEER AR o AMINEEHENE
BKEENE BEZHRE R CRAAL
BEXHE FEIMEREHRAN
EHABRER -

‘RENGERRRANZENARR
R EEEAE T AEBERBINE
BEFEN—F D EEIBB RN o
ZEERNBAEEREFERLET
FTAEMEmEYE - UK - 2EKIA
DEFVRERRR - AREEKRA
B &5 E SRR BES R E R TR
FEAEMEERET o
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER AR ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of
a non-monetary item measure in fair value is treated in line with
the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference is on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss are also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of non-PRC established subsidiaries
are currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period and their statements of profit or
loss are translated into RMB at the weighted average rates for
the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at
the closing rate.

HNES ()

BELKAAIINETFENIFRE IR
B URVRZAEXRRE - ZR
REBEMAELUINERELNIFER
BHEEMAEAA(EEE BMEXK
8- BmEURABEFERIEER
B AT EE A O e ek s S 1R ELRE SR A4 TR B
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(BEz REMZ2MEERALIE
BERAAEEEBNERNELZE
B o RREEE WA LB SE

) e

AT IR BRSO A )2 REBR
KB RARBIAINNEEE - RS
R ZEFEEBNEERBENRIE
BEARNRTETBESARE -
i 1B 25 3R A2 R F N B N4 P15 [E K i
HERARE -

P EAE 2 FE X RN H A 2 e
NEBREINEFEZERHEBEAR
it RHEBIIERE  EZ8IE
R R s N RER RV R T R AT B EENE
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2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of non-PRC established subsidiaries are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of non-PRC
established companies which arise throughout the year are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

(i) Operating lease commitments - the Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, that it retains all the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of these properties which are leased out
on operating leases.

2. WREIEEREEHRRK ()

2.4 FEETHRME(H)

ShEs (&)

HREHFREMERMS - FRPEK
YHBARNRSRERELRSR
EERNRTETLESARY - F
RPBERIAREREFEALTEE
EHR EIRE R RF AR IR TFI9E
KMESARE -

3. EXWEHINR it

RERNEENIBERKE - EREAELH
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HED BRI HBEMRE A RS E 8 EH
% - AN ABBRR LA I EERER - 7]
EYEREARARIZENEEKRRR
EERIEHERAE -

3l

ERBASESHERKBRET  BEEFED
TS A HPBRRAFERSEAREKN
FENFIE - P RAEFTERN

() REBERE-FEEEZHBEA

AEERERENEESTERAEY
Y - AEBERBEHABLBHEN
RMIGFFEEE - BEERAZEHLD
THHE YRR E A LB AR
EWNENIEEE

REFEERRAT]

—z-mery 139



Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR MR

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Judgements (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Classification between investment properties,
completed properties held for sale and owner-occupied
properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the
Group considers whether a property generates cash flows
largely independently of the other assets held by the Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If
the portions could not be sold separately, the property is an
investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual
property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so
significant that a property does not qualify as an investment
property.

Classification of current and non-current properties
under development

The Group classifies properties under development according
to the construction progress and estimated commencement
date of presale. Properties under development are classified
as current assets when the estimated time to completed
construction is less than twelve months from the end of the
reporting period.

3. EXEEHFIENR G5t (#&)
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(iii)
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below:

(i) Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties were revalued based on the appraised
market value by independent professional valuers. Such
valuations were based on certain assumptions, which are
subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the
actual results. In making the estimate, the Group considers
information from current prices in an active market for similar
properties and uses assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period.

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of
sources, including:

(@  current prices in an active market for properties of a
different nature, condition or location or subject to
different lease or other contracts, adjusted to reflect
those differences;

(b)  recent prices of similar properties on less active
markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes in
economic conditions since the dates of the transactions
that occurred at those prices; and

(¢)  discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms
of any existing lease and other contracts and (when
possible) by external evidence such as current market
rents for similar properties in the same location and
condition, and using discount rates that reflect current
market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount
and timing of the cash flows.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Fair value of investment properties (continued)

The principal assumptions for the Group’s estimation of
the fair value include those related to current market rents
for similar properties in the same location and condition,
appropriate discount rates, expected future market rents and
future maintenance costs. The carrying amount of investment
properties at 31 December 2014 was RMB3,804,200,000
(2013: RMB2,532,000,000). Further details, including the key
assumptions used for fair value measurement and a sensitivity
analysis, are given in note 15 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale

The Group’s properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Based on the Group’s historical experience
and the nature of the subject properties, the Group makes
estimates of the selling prices, the costs of completion of
properties under development, and the costs to be incurred in
selling the properties based on prevailing market conditions.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in
net sales value, the net realisable value will decrease and this
may result in a provision for properties under development and
completed properties held for sale. Such provision requires
the use of judgements and estimates. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, the carrying value and
provision for properties in the period in which the estimate is
changed will be adjusted accordingly.

3. EXEEHFIENR G5t (#&)
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

PRC corporate income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Mainland China. As
a result of the fact that certain matters relating to the income
taxes have not been confirmed by the local tax bureau,
objective estimate and judgement based on currently enacted
tax laws, regulations and other related policies are required
in determining the provision of income taxes to be made.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts originally recorded, the differences will have an
impact on the income tax and tax provisions in the period in
which the differences realise.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

LAT in the PRC is levied at progressive rates ranging from
30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the
proceeds from sale of properties less deductible expenditures
including land costs, borrowing costs and other property
development expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in the property
development business in Mainland China are subject to
LAT. However, the implementation of these taxes varies
amongst various cities in Mainland China and the Group
has not finalised its LAT returns with various tax authorities.
Accordingly, significant judgement is required in determining
the amount of land appreciation and its related taxes. The
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises these liabilities
based on management’s best estimates. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
statement of profit or loss and the provision for LAT in the
period in which such determination is made.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(v)

(vi)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences and losses can
be utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets relating
to recognised deductible temporary differences and tax
losses at 31 December 2014 was RMB201,926,000 (2013:
RMB142,785,000). The amount of unrecognised tax losses
at 31 December 2014 was RMB104,179,000 (2013:
RMB51,166,080). Further details are contained in note 22 to
the financial statements.

Impairment of trade and other receivables

Impairment of trade and other receivables is made based
on assessment of the recoverability of trade and other
receivables. The identification of impairment of trade and other
receivables requires management’s judgement and estimates.
Where the actual outcome or expectation in the future is
different from the original estimates, such differences will have
an impact on the carrying value of the receivables and doubtful
debt expenses/write-back of doubtful debt in the period in
which such estimate is changed.
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B R R B =
4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4., BESBEH
INFORMATION
For management purposes, the Group is organised into business MEEMS @ ANEBERBEEKESL

units based on income derived from business and has two
reportable operating segments as follows:

(@ the residential segment develops and sells residential
properties, and provides management and security services
to residential properties in Mainland China and Canada;

(b)  the commercial segment develops and sells commercial
properties, leases investment properties owns and operates
a hotel and provides management and security services to
commercial properties in Mainland China;

Management monitors the results of its operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance
is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/(loss), which
is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax from continuing
operations.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.
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i(« .L/'\ _LB QDT

@ FEDE EFBEABENE
AFEEREEEEME I
MEEMERESTERMRETR
7%

b BRI EREABHEER
HEBMAYE HEREY
X BARKEEE YRR
RERE R MR R ©

EEEeEBERALEN I ER
LAYEH B &R 5 Bt & 2= 3R 5T &Y
RIE o D EBRIVIBIR AT & o 2B A
T (B1R) (AR ELEEBNT
B (E18) 5T E) T UAFHE -

7 PR E KRR RIRIR E R RTT
MERE=TEHNHEEMRANE
BETRS -

REFEERRAT]

—z-mery 145



Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR MR

4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BESWBEH(E)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Residential Commercial Total
== (SES st

Year ended BZE2014 5% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
31 December 2014 12831 HILEE AR®T T AR®T T AR¥T T
Segment revenue: AEWA :
Sales to external customers HIMNEEFHE 1,341,252 208,853 1,550,105
Intersegment sales D EBEISHE 6,291 - 6,291
Sales to external customers HINBEPIHE 1,347,543 208,853 1,556,396
Reconciliation: FE -
Elimination of intersegment sales 73 B 8 T 8 (6,291)
Revenue from continuing operations B E RN 1,550,105
Segment results o EBEELE (16,366) 655,779 639,413
Segment assets DEEE 10,829,245 10,043,821 20,873,066
Reconciliation: SBEN -
Elimination of intersegment receivables 79 BB [ FE R

TE 3 (112,359)
Total assets BB E 20,760,707
Segment liabilities DEEE 8,293,272 5,586,397 13,879,669
Reconciliation: SHEN -
Elimination of intersegment payables 53 BRI LSS

FRIRETEE (112,359)
Total liabilities wafE 13,767,310
Other segment information: Hih D IEH
Share of profits and losses: DI

Joint ventures BEPE - 259 259
Impairment losses recognised in BT FER
the statement of profit or loss EOVEREN 5! 14,204 - 14,204

Depreciation ﬁ%‘ 5,823 13,413 19,236
Investments in joint ventures RE &R

KR E - 46,228 46,228
Capital expenditure BRI 2,655 2,696 5,351
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4. EEFBEHGE)

Residential Commercial Total
*= [EES 1@
Year ended HZE20134F RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
31 December 2013 12 A31 BILFE ARETT ARETT ARBTT
Segment revenue: DEBUA
Sales to external customers HINBEPHE 1,561,763 875,842 2,437,605
Intersegment sales D EBEISHE 16,673 - 16,673
1,578,436 875,842 2,454,278
Reconciliation: JHER -
Elimination of intersegment sales pak- i ikick=Fakic (16,6793)
Revenue from continuing operations FRELEEBUA 2,437,605
Segment results o EBEE 216,158 608,016 824,174
Segment assets DEEE 9,180,054 9,000,465 18,180,519
Reconciliation: GHET -
Elimination of intersegment receivables 73 B FE UL
FRIBETEH (1,036,871)
Total assets HEE 17,143,648
Segment liabilities DHEE 5,581,734 6,459,183 11,990,917
Reconciliation: A -
Elimination of intersegment payables 7 2B E AT
PR HT (1,036,871)
Total liabilities FEy=NE 10,954,046
Other segment information: Hith 5 EEH
Share of profits and losses: HEEE ¢
Joint ventures EEE - 2,409 2,409
Depreciation e 5,770 14,414 20,184
Investments in joint ventures REEBENRE - 412,448 412,448
Capital expenditure BEARFAE 8,568 8,342 16,910
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BESWBEH(E)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Geographical information

(@) Revenue from external customers

HEE R

(@) REIIBEFHUBA

2014 2013

2014 F 20134

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREET T

Mainland China B A, 1,540,157 2,437,605
Canada hngEx 9,948 =
1,550,105 2,437,605

The revenue information of continuing operations above is
based on the locations of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

LR EQEEBHBABHERE

FERLE °

(b) FARBEE

2014 2013

2014 20134

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREET T

Mainland China R A, 12,358,942 8,925,763
Canada hnEx 127,825 =
12,486,767 8,925,763

The non-current asset information of continuing operations above
is based on the locations of the assets and excludes financial
instruments and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

No sales to a single customer or a group of customers under
common control accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue
for the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013.

LPRFEQEEBNIERBDEEER
ERBENMLE -  BTBEESMIA
SIRIERIRE EE -

BAREEEFHNER

WEHEE -—REFENEREH THE
FHERINHEERBBAEEHZ2014F K
201312 431 H IEF R W ARI10%3K A £ ©
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GAINS

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents income

from the sale of properties, property leasing income, property

management fee income and hotel operating income during the

year, net of business tax and other sales related taxes and discounts

allowed.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

5.

WA - Hfll A B i

WA (TRAAEBENEXE) RERHEDE
WA - MEBEWRA - MEERBRATE
JE B (B & 750 e B At 3H 5 AR A Y

KEHEFIEL)

WA~ B AR = 7

MR -

2014 2013
2014 £ 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARET T
Revenue ON
Sale of properties SHEMZ 1,471,965 2,416,043
Property leasing income MERE WA 93,074 83,678
Property management fee income MEEEEWRA 37,126 31,895
Hotel operating income BHIE BRI 47,613 55,815
Less: Business tax and surcharges B EEREMINE (99,673) (149,826)
1,550,105 2,437,605
Other income Haug A
Subsidy income* T N 1,438 6,202
Interest income from a joint venture KE—MEECEMNFEMRA 29,769 =
Bank interest income RITHEUA 7,373 7,993
Others Efb1g 3,059 5,643
41,639 19,838
Gains &
Foreign exchange gain HNES 5 e 1,928 11,544
Gain on disposal of B EREMERE
investment properties - 51
1,928 11,595
43,567 31,433
* There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants. ~ * A AR B I R TR M I S BB B A o
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

6. FRIRAIFIE

AEBBRBAFBE MR, (GEA) Tol%

18 -
2014 2013
20145 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARBFIT
Cost of properties sold B HEMEKA 24 1,103,320 1,477,646
Depreciation e 14 19,236 20,184
Minimum lease payments BEGEHER
under operating leases: =ERSFIE ¢
— Office premises NS 1] 5,115 6,592
Auditors’ remuneration ZEE S 4,069 5,416
Staff costs including directors’ and BINA(BREEEREE
chief executive’s remuneration (note 8): 1T A EBi< ) (Fi7E8) :
— Salaries and other staff costs —TERETCETIKRA 118,642 108,436
— Equity-settled share option expense —REFEEERER R 34 2,207 24,408
— Pension scheme contributions —RIREETEIHR 13,488 11,860
Equity-settled share option expense Efh3EES 2R EEE
to other non-employees AR iR 2 34 - 37,900
Foreign exchange differences, net PEHZR  FE 5 (1,928) (11,544)
Direct operating expenses BEEKERY (BRI
(including repairs and maintenance HEMmREYZE
arising on rental-earning EEREERISE)
investment properties) 6,656 5,766
Gain on disposal of investment HEREE R
properties - (61)
Fair value (gain)/loss, net: PHREE K EE
HE
Fair value gain upon transfer to HEREEREYEN
investment properties RN BERE 15 (656,784) (256,292)
Changes in fair value of WEMEAEE
investment properties E0p=E) 15 (33,200) (60,793)
Equity investments at fair value RARBEFEEEES)
through profit or loss AR BB EmERRE
— held for trading —HEEE 262 (355)
Write-down of properties under WP mMES
development to net realisable value Al IR RE 16/24 14,204 =
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7. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows:

7. BWEEBH

AEEAOPHEERIMDT

2014 2013

2014 F 20134

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR ARETT

Interest on bank borrowings RITIERF B 385,278 299,823

Interest on other borrowings HAbERRF 8 185,196 183,795

Total interest expense FEFAZ Bz 570,474 483,618
Less: Interest capitalised W BT

in properties under development MRS (532,665) (473,083)

37,809 10,535

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules and section 78 of Schedule 11 to the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), with reference to
section 161 of the predecessor Hong Kong Companies Ordinance

(Cap. 32), is as follows:

8. EFREETHARME

BE_ETRAREB R EEHIE 622 M X
1157815 - WRERHBRBIEHIE32E
F1611& FAEZERFZTHRASHSH
BT

2014 2013

2014 % 20134

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETIT

Fees we 600 575
Other emoluments: E By

Salaries, bonuses and allowances e~ JEAL N ERL 4,645 4,622

Pension scheme contributions RIREFT B 14 32

Equity-settled share option expense R sE SRR EE A 276 2,838

4,935 7,492

5,535 8,067
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8. EFEREETHARME
==
EXECUTIVE’'S REMUNERATION (#8)
(CONTINUED)
In 2009 and 2011, certain directors were granted share options, R 2009 F K 2011 FF » BT EEMEE RS
in respect of their services to the Group, under the share option MNAEEMBEARRD 7 EIRET 2 ERKE
scheme of the Company, further details of which are set out in PR BRE—FHBERTBRERM
note 34 to the financial statements. The fair value of such options, 3o ZEBHRHENRLBEEZEBEHR
which has been recognised in the statement of profit or loss over BRRAER  WAREBEET - Mt A
the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and the NEEBRERNESBEIEE P ESANTH
amount included in the financial statements for the current year is IR EE A o
included in the above directors’ remuneration disclosures.
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BAFHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during FABENBIERNTESNHREN
the year were as follows: T
Equity-settled
share option
Fees expense Total
DURRELE N
we BRER X st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT ARETT
2014 2014 F
Mr. Pei Ker Wei BREEsE 200 13 213
Mr. Zhang Huagiao SRAEAE R 200 - 200
Mr. Loke Yu eI 200 13 213
600 26 626
2018 20134
Mr. Pei Ker Wei BREEE 200 134 334
Mr. Zhang Huagjiao SR S 200 - 200
Mr. Loke Yu RS A 175 134 309
OIS 268 843
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8. EREREETHARENS
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (¥8)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Executive directors and the chief (b) HITEERFETHAER
executive
Pension  Equity-settled
Salaries and scheme  share option
Fees allowances Bonuses contributions expense Total
Bfe  DRELEN
e  HeREd T4 TR BRERX &3t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARMTR  ARMTR ARETR  ARMTR  ARWTR

2014 2014%
Executive directors HIEE
Mr. Zhang Jiangang REHEE - 601 159 7 4 815
Mr, Lou Yifei B-Ri&E - 655 111 - 48 814
Ms. Shen Tiaojuan hEBRL - 3 198 - 52 963
- 1,969 468 7 148 2,592
Chief executive and Executive director FEAHAR
REiEE
Mr. Shi Zhongan ikt - 1,803 405 7 102 2,317
- 3,772 873 14 250 4,909
2013 20135
Executive directors HIEE
Mr. Zhang Jiangang REHEE - 529 156 1 491 1,187
Mr. Lou Yife Btk - 607 156 5 491 1259
Ms. Shen Tiaojuan HRRTE - 703 200 5 536 1,444
= 1,839 512 21 1,618 3,890
Chief executive and Executive drector FEHAS
RHGEE
Mr. Shi Zhongan HAREEE - 1,801 470 i 1,052 3,334
- 3,640 982 32 2,570 7,024
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or FEREEEWNES RS HEE A
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2013: Nil). B &% HE (2013 4F « 4&) o
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. AREEHFAL

The five highest paid employees during the year included three
(2013: three) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out
in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining two
(2013: two) non-director, highest paid employees for the year are as
follows:

FRAARRDHFALTABIE=S (20134 :
=Z)EZ HMEFBEHN L=
8o FANER NWE (20136 : MB)IEEER
SFEALTHBEHBLT

2014 2013

2014 £ 20134

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETTT

Salaries, bonuses and allowances AN A A= 420 1,874 2,457
Pension scheme contributions RIREGET IR 7 -
Equity-settled share option expense IREEE B EE R 86 398
1,967 2,855

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

FMNTRATAERIREES =T MEES A
R -

Number of employees

EEAR

2014 2013

20145 20134

Nil to RMB1,000,000 T AR# 1,000,000 7T 1 =
RMB1,000,001 to RMB1,500,000 AER# 1,000,001 TTE

AER# 1,500,000 7T 1 1
RMB1,500,001 to RMB2,000,000 AR#4,500,001 TE

AR 2,000,000 7T - 1

2 2

In 2009 and 2011, share options were granted to the non-director,
highest paid employee in respect of his services to the Group, further
details of which are included in the disclosures in note 34 to the
financial statements. The fair value of such options, which has been
recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the vesting period,
was determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in
the financial statements for the current year is included in the above
non-director, highest paid employee’s remuneration disclosures.

2009 F % 2011 F + — R IEE R & =5 b
1B BBt E RN A S B e - 5
E—SHBHRY SRR FEMEEN -
ZEBREN AL EEREEBINERR
RN L B AT - Mat ARNFETS
HEMESEHREE L EERRETIE
BRI EA
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10. INCOME TAX

The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong and Canada
are not liable for income tax as they did not have any assessable
profits currently arising in Hong Kong and Canada during the year
(2013: Nil).

The provision for the PRC income tax has been provided at the
applicable income tax rate of 25% (2013: 25%) on the assessable
profits of the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from sale of
properties less deductible expenditures including land costs,
borrowing costs and other property development expenditures. The
Group has estimated, made and included in taxation a provision for
LAT according to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax
laws and regulations. Prior to the actual cash settlement of the LAT
liabilities, the LAT liabilities are subject to the final review/approval by
the tax authorities.

10. RS

HRAREBRER R INEARK KK EA A
ARG EE S R NN A 58 A B R A A
B M EER B SR IMERNESHEE
(20134 : &) -

REIFTERE R ASEEET R B QTN
FERR TR A 25% (2013 4F : 25% ) K F B
SRR EAE L B o

B TR ETR R IR ER S E
PRSFRIRR AT HR B X (BRIE LKA - &
BERAREMYEREF ) EN N 80% =
BO% IR KU - REBERETEA
BREERER - et (EH REBRBARG
ATHIEETER - EARSEREE L
BEHEEZA - LHIEET A ERHRTR
BRREERE -

2014 2013
2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREFT

Current — PRC corporate income BNEATIE — F AR
tax for the year EEH 40,266 121,171
Current — PRC LAT for the year BNVEARR I8 — FF A B T b IE E R 13,804 141,052
Deferred (note 22) EIEFRLIE (Pi3E22) 183,587 103,937
Total tax charge for the year FRTRIELRTE 237,657 366,160
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10. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax

using the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in which the Company and
the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the
effective tax rate is as follows:

10. FRi9 1R (#8)

RIBAR B RE AL HHE R B PAERNERE
[ B EE B R ET B R AT A BE A B X
HERBERHEAEOTIEF RO

2014 2013
2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETIT
Profit before tax IR 639,413 824,174
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% 1% 25% (2013 4F : 25%)
(2013: 25%) EEMEFTERTIE 159,853 206,044
Effect of withholding tax at 10% LA S B AR BT B A R A) 4
on the distributable profits of 7K AER AN 10% TEFFR
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries )7 21,296 9,383
Expenses not deductible for tax RIS 20,110 33,274
Tax losses not recognised RIERTIBE R 26,045 11,670
Provision for LAT IR ER Y B 13,804 141,052
Tax effect on LAT THPIREB TS E (3,451) (35,263)
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate ~ ANEEERER RHFIEFH X 237,657 366,160
Tax payable in the consolidated RE BEEATS IR 2R B0 R B
statementof financial position represents: 845 :
PRC corporate income tax (bR 260,020 391,188
PRC LAT A B S b (E R 359,889 391,859
619,909 783,047
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11. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO

12

13

OWNERS OF THE PARENT

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the parent for the
year ended 31 December 2014 includes a loss of RMB20,439,000
(2013: a loss of RMB82,396,000) which has been dealt with in the
financial statements of the Company (note 35).

11.

BARIHA ARETIH

HZE2014F12 A31 HILFERFRARHEEA
FEAEE OF R B B EE A R120,439,0007T
(20134 : 518 AR #82,396,0007T ) B AR
R R R R B iR (PR3 35)

12. iR 2
DIVIDENDS

2014 2013
2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETIT

Proposed final - nil (2013: RMB1.8 cents) #EAHRE SR LB AT
per ordinary share (20135 : ARK1.8%) - 42,617

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent
of RMB319,725,000 (2013: RMB420,539,000) and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 2,366,604,616 (2013:
2,367,635,400) in issue during the year, as adjusted to reflect the
rights issued during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent. The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in
the calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been
issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of
all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

13.

AR EEERERSEA

BREXRBHNZBESQE ZFHRRE
A AEMGFRFEA R 319,725,000
JL(20134F © A R #420,539,0007T )
AR ERE ETE BRI ME TSR
2,366,604,616 i% (2013 4F : 2,367,635,400
BEE - BT AR ERA AT o

BREESRN DER AR T BRRERE
ARIEFENEAE - FHEMA. 2 SR
VOB SREERITHEBRHRE @ A
STESRER BT B BRI H AR
BEEEEE BRI TERBRAER
B RREIETREET
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. B AR HBREEISEE A
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EiEEREF (8)
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
(CONTINUED)
The calculations of the basic and diluted earnings per share are FTESRERREERFTIER
based on:
2014 2013
2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT
Earnings Eﬂ
Profit attributable to ordinary equity NAEERRERE A
holders of the parent, used in the FEEFIE - ARETE
basic earnings per share calculation TRREAZF| 319,725 420,539
Number of shares
gk =]
2014 2013
20144 20134
Shares B
Weighted average number of ordinary AR ESREREF 2
shares in issue during the year used in AEEEEITEBR
the basic earnings per share calculation IIREFI 2 2,366,604,616  2,367,635,400
Effect of dilution — weighted average e e — TmR Nt
number of ordinary shares: F5E
Share options A - 3,500,129

2,366,604,616 2,371,135,5629
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14. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 14. EER R E
Group AEH
Office Motor
Properties  Machinery equipment vehicles Total
L/ B BAERE AE @5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETT AR¥TR AR%TRT ARETR AR%¥Tx
31 December 2014 2014%E12A31H
At 31 December 2013 and 2013F 12 A31 B R
at 1 January 2014; 20141818 :
Cost A 247,519 1,321 32,613 42,672 324,125
Accumulated depreciation ZEITE (66,636) (947) (24,873) (29,536)  (121,992)
Net carrying amount RmFE 180,883 374 7,740 13,136 202,133
At 1 January 2014, net of 2014F1R18 -
accumulated depreciation Mk 25 E 180,883 374 7,740 13,136 202,133
Additions =0 563 127 3,204 1,367 5,351
Disposals T - - (177) ®) (180)
Depreciation provided FAFE
during the year (12,092) 48) (2,635) (4,461) (19,236)
At 31 December 2014, net of 2014124318 -
accumulated depreciation MG 2FHE 169,354 453 8,222 10,039 188,068
At 31 December 2014 201412318 :
Cost PAE 248,082 1,448 35,684 43,964 329,178
Accumulated depreciation ZEITE (78,728) (995) (27,462) (33,925)  (141,110)
Net carrying amount FEFE 169,354 453 8,222 10,039 188,068
2xEEARAT —Z-—maesp 159



Notes to Financial Statements

AR AR M

14. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 14. EER &R (1)
(CONTINUED)
Group (continued) REE (&)
Office Motor
Properties ~ Machinery  equipment vehicles Total
mE W WAERE AE Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
31 December 2013 20135 12A31H
At 31 December 2012 and 201212 A31B R
at 1 January 2013: 20131 R1H :
Cost KAE 240,771 1,085 29,998 38,305 310,159
Accumulated depreciation ZETE (54,132) (921) (23,452) (25069)  (103,574)
Net carrying amount FEFE 186,639 164 6,546 13,236 206,585
At 1 January 2013, net of 2013F1R18
accumulated depreciation MR 25HE 186,639 164 6,546 13,236 206,585
Additions by | 6,748 236 4,638 5,288 16,910
Disposals & - - 276) (902) (1,178)
Depreciation provided FRHE
during the year (12,504) (26) (3,168) (4,486) (20,184)
At 31 December 2013, net of 201312 A318 -
accumulated depreciation MG EFHTE 180,883 374 7,740 13,136 202,133
At 31 December 2013: 2013%F 12 A31H :
Cost RAME 247,519 1,321 32,613 42,672 324,125
Accumulated depreciation ZiiTE (66,636) (947) (24,873) (29536) (121,992
Net carrying amount FEFE 180,883 374 7,740 13,136 202,133
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14. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 14. EER R (1)
(CONTINUED)
Company b /N
Office Motor
equipment vehicles Total
WAE
®E JRE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®T T AR®TT
31 December 2014 201412831 H
At 31 December 2013 and 20183%F 12 A31 B X
at 1 January 2014: 20141 A18 :
Cost BANME 459 2,566 3,025
Accumulated depreciation RETITE (366) (471) (837)
Net carrying amount BREFE 93 2,095 2,188
At 1 January 2014, net of 2014118 -
accumulated depreciation Mk RTITE 93 2,095 2,188
Additions 0 20 - 20
Disposals HE - - -
Depreciation provided FAITE
during the year (45) (407) (452)
At 31 December 2014, net of 2014412 A31H -
accumulated depreciation kR 2atir e 68 1,688 1,756
At 31 December 2014: 201412 A31H :
Cost KAE 479 2,566 3,045
Accumulated depreciation ZEHTE (411) (878) (1,289)
Net carrying amount BREVFE 68 1,688 1,756
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14. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 14. EER &R (1)
(CONTINUED)
Company (continued) AT (&)
Office Motor
equipment vehicles Total
/NS
B B FE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARETIT ARETIT
31 December 2013 2013412831 H
At 31 December 2012 and 2012912 A31 B X
at 1 January 2013: 2013%F 1 A18 :
Cost BANME 473 406 879
Accumulated depreciation 25tinE (813) (363) 676)
Net carrying amount BREFE 160 43 203
At 1 January 2013, net of 20131 18 -
accumulated depreciation MR 2ETE 160 43 203
Additions i - 2,173 2,173
Disposals HE (14) (13) 27)
Depreciation provided FRITE
during the year (63) (108) (161)
At 31 December 2013, net of 2013412 A31H -
accumulated depreciation R EFTITE 93 2,095 2,188
At 31 December 2013: 201312 A31 8 :
Cost BANME 459 2,566 3,025
Accumulated depreciation 25tinE& (366) @a71) (837)
Net carrying amount BREFE 93 2,095 2,188

At 31 December 2014, certain items of the Group’s property
and equipment with a net carrying amount of approximately
RMB153,682,000 (2013: RMB31,472,000) were pledged to secure
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the Group as
disclosed in note 32(jii).

R2014F 128318 A5BETHER
24518 B BREDFE XA R 153,682,000 7T
(20134 : AR%31,472,0007T) © 40fft sk
32(iii) TR ER - BEAK TAKEGERIT
B R E A S KA o
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. IEME
Completed Investment
investment properties under
properties construction Total
EERRENFE EEREYE #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARET T
At 31 December 2012 and 2012912 A31 B X
1 January 2013 201341 A1 H 2,092,400 - 2,092,400
Transfers from completed MRS EHE
properties held for sale (note 24) 2% W% (MizE24) 126,808 = 126,808
Disposal e (4,293) - (4,293)
Fair value gain upon transfer EREN AR BERS 256,292 - 256,292
Changes in fair value of WEMEREEEE)
investment properties 60,793 - 60,793
At 31 December 2013 and 201312 A31 H X
1 January 2014 20141 A1 H 2,532,000 - 2,532,000
Transfers from properties RO RERYE
under development (note 24) (Mg5E24) - 582,216 582,216
Disposal HE - - -
Fair value gain upon transfer EEEHN AL EEKS - 656,784 656,784
Changes in fair value of
investment properties KEMEARBEES 33,200 - 33,200
At 31 December 2014 201412 A31 H 2,565,200 1,239,000 3,804,200
2014 2013
2014 F 2013 F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Kz ARET T ARETT
Current assets MENEE @) 31,000 31,000
Non-current assets JEmMBNE E 3,773,200 2,501,000
Carrying amount at 31 December 12 A 31 HERAEE 3,804,200 2,532,000
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

(@)

All investment properties of the Group were revalued at the
end of the year by an independent professionally qualified
valuer, CBRE Limited, at fair value. CBRE Limited is an
industry specialist in investment property valuation. The fair
value represents the amount at which the assets could be
exchanged between a knowledgeable and willing buyer and a
seller in an arm’s length transaction at the date of valuation, in
accordance with International Valuation Standards.

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of these investment properties are determined (in particular,
the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

15. L W3R ()

(@)

AEERFRENENFRBBILE
¥oERMAEMERREABRA
REARBEERS - tHRETHER
RANEFBREMEGENTER
R AABEREENRIBERE
REEBERNGERRREERGER
ERRNFRGIMEENETHR °

NREFINAEE L FREWENR
R EECCER - FTANM[ERI R
2B MERURREAA(EEFE
BABERBRIZES D AR EER
ENARBERE(F—EE=H) -
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(CONTINUED)

Investment
properties held by
the Group

in the consolidated
statements of
financial positions
SO BARR R
FEEEEREME

Property 1 -
Property in Hangzhou
(Guomao Building)
15— MR
(BERE)

Fair value
hierarchy
DAREE
%

Level 3
FE=

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Valuation technique(s)

and key input(s)

RERTREEZHABE

Direct comparison

approach and Income

approach (term and

reversion approach)

BEREBERMAE (R

5

#5)

The key inputs are:

(1)
2

wW

@
©)
@

2 LD =2

Term yield;
Reversionary yield;
Market unit rent;
Price per square
metre

Z2HR
fﬁﬁm&/ﬁ ;
EEHWER ;
miZEMAE
FYHKRER

15. It B3R ()

Significant
unobservable
input(s)

BEAFUBEGAZE

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the certainty
of term income secured and to be
received, of 5% for office portion and
6% for retail portion.

5T AR S E A U as B SR P
PR RS U ERAE FAU A By R TE M A9 8
B RIS EBKEERE% KTE
#Btn 6% °

Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable
properties, of 5.5% for office portion
and 6.5% for retail portion.

A B s EERS WA KRR
MERELTE - RAPOES R
R /35.5% KRAHAEH 6.5%

Market unit rent, using direct market
comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities, of RMB2.1/sgm/day for
office portion and RMB3.0/sgm/day for
retail portion.
EAEEMSLE R AU LT ALE
MERETIERE MR/ R RIS H A
FERAZR  maBUHESRETAK
BRARE 21 T(HDH2) REEH
KBRAREIOT(ZERS)

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair value
AABRZGARE
HAABEEER

The higher the term
yield, the lower the fair
value.

EHREEES A
REEBE

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

SREEES - A

REEWE -

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher
the fair value.
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment
properties held by
the Group

in the consolidated
statements of
financial positions
SO BARR R
FEBRFEREME

Property 2 -
Property in Shanghai
(La Vie)

2ME— LEYE
(RRE)

Fair value
hierarchy
DREE
8

Level 3
E=MH

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)

RERTRERHABE

Direct comparison
approach and Income
approach (term and
reversion approach)
BEEBERBEAL(E
HERE)

The key inputs are:

(1) Term yield;

(2) Reversionary yield;
(8) Market unit rent;
(4) Price per square
metre
TEZHR

(1) TR

@) EHEWEE
@) mBELAS
@) BFIKER

15. I WM ()

Significant
unobservable
input(s)

BEAFUBEGARE

Price per square metre, using market
direct comparables and taking into
account of location and other individual
factors such as road frontage, size of
property etc., of RMB9,800/sgm for
office portion and RMB15,100/sgm for
retail portion.
FREEMSLEETG RAE R
ERETRE - WEREZEMERNE
= BYARBERAETAIRARE
9,800 L (WA ) RFFHRKARE
15,100 T (BEHA)

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the certainty
of term income secured and to be
received, of 6%.

ET N RIS S A M s B SRR P
PR B AS YR AR EAU A B BERE 1 D 78
B 2tk A6, o

Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable
properties, of 6.5%.

T AB s EEHRS A KR
BEWENELTE BERERER
6.5% °

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair value
TABEBABE
B R EEEER

The higher the price,
the higher the fair
value.

BRES
HE

AR

The higher the term
yield, the lower the fair
value.

HHkERES A
REEYE -

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

SREEES - A
REEYIE -
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comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities, of RMB7.6/sgm/day.
ERAEEMSLER LA ALE

MERETIERE - MER/ N R RIS H A
BHERAE  mBENHESAFTHK
BRAARKT6T -

Price per square metre, using market
direct comparables and taking into
account of location and other individual
factors such as road frontage, size of
property etc., of RMB44,000/sgm.
EREETSL AT A R E R
ARG - WERESEMERNR

= BYARBERAETAIRARE
44,0007 °

B R R M RE
15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. EYE ()

(CONTINUED)
Investment
properties held by
the Group
in the consolidated Significant Relationship of
statements of Fair value  Valuation technique(s) unobservable unobservable
financial positions hierarchy  and key input(s) input(s) inputs to fair value
EHBRBARR R DREE TABEHABE
FEBRFERENFE ER RERNTREIERABE EATTEEGARE B REEER

Market unit rent, using direct market The higher the market

unit rent, the higher
the fair value.

% M*ﬁ%im !
DREEYS -

o

The higher the price,
the higher the fair
value.

BRES  AREE
B

REFEERRAT]
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AR AR M

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment
properties held by
the Group

in the consolidated
statements of
financial positions
SO BARR R
FEBRFEREME

Property 3 —

Property in Hangzhou
(Integrated Service
Center)
3FME-—MIE
(FRERBHL)

Fair value  Valuation technique(s)
hierarchy  and key input(s)
DREE

£8% RERMR T EEmAHE
Level 3 Direct comparison
F= approach and Income

approach (term and
reversion approach)
BEEEERBAE
(REIEE %)

The key inputs are:

(1) Term yield;

(2) Reversionary yield;
(8) Market unit rent;
(4) Price per square
metre
FEZHR

(1) TR

2) BEMNEE

) THEMLES
)

(
3
4) BYITAKER

15. L W3R ()

Significant
unobservable
input(s)

BEAFUBEGARE

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the certainty
of term income secured and to be
received, of 6%.

AEET N [RIAR Y S A F s T SRR P
PR B A YR AR EAU A B BERE 1D 78
2 KSR A6% o

Reversionary yield, taking into account

annual unit market rental income and

unit market value of the comparable

properties, of 6.5%.

BT ABNTISFERSBA KRR

BYENELTE BHEREER
6.5% °

Market unit rent, using direct market
comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities, of RMB2.6/sgm/day.
ﬁﬁ% BEEMSHE AL ALE

FRETIEER RN/ R E A
RIEI% MZENHESRFTHK
BAAREK267T -

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair value
TABEBABE
B R EEEER

The higher the term
yield, the lower the fair
value.

HHREEES - 2
REEYE -

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

BlmEgs - A

REEEE -

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher
the fair value.
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45RME —TINIE

(Bl ESHAED)

BEREBERBNE
(AHERZE)

The key inputs are:
(1) Term yield;

2) Reversionary yield;

4

= TS

)

) Market unit rent;

) Price per square
metre

TEBHRA

1) EHKEE

2) EEKEE

3) MHEMLHAE

4) GTHKER

received, of 5%.

RaT AR S E A AU as B SR P
PR R UCERAR B ) BETE M £ 5
B HEREERE% ©

Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable
properties, of 5.5%.

B ABLMIGFERSBA KR
BWENELTE  ERRaER
5.5% °

ek
15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. EYE ()
(CONTINUED)
Investment
properties held by
the Group
in the consolidated Significant Relationship of
statements of Fair value  Valuation technique(s) unobservable unobservable
financial positions hierarchy  and key input(s) input(s) inputs to fair value
SOFBIEARR R P DREE TAEZRARE
FEBRFERENFE ER RERMREIERBAHE BEXATTEERARE HAAEEBR
Price per square metre, using market The higher the price,
direct comparables and taking into the higher the fair
account of location and other individual ~ value.
factors such as road frontage, size of BHE  AREE
property etc., of RMB13,600/sgm. =)
FREEMSLEET T R B HE
FRETIRE - MERESEMERNR
= BYAABERABTARARE
13,600 7T °
Property 4 - Level 3 Direct comparison Term yield, taking into account of yield The higher the term
Property in Hangzhou & =4 approach and Income generated from comparable properties  vyield, the lower the fair
(Office portion of approach (term and and adjustment to reflect the certainty value.
Highlong Plaza) reversion approach) of term income secured and to be

EHREEES A
REEBE -

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

EREKETES A
REEBE -

REFEEARA

A —E-mEsR
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AR AR M

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(CONTINUED)

Investment

properties held by

the Group

in the consolidated

statements of Fair value  Valuation technique(s)
financial positions hierarchy  and key input(s)

SO BARR R DAREE

FEBRFERENFE ER RERITREERARE

15. L W3R ()

Significant
unobservable
input(s)

BEAFUBEGARE

Market unit rent, using direct market
comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities, of RMB1.8/sgm/day.
EREEMSLE R AT AT ANLE

MERETIERE  MER/ N R RIS H A
BHEAE  mBENHESAFTHK
BRAARK18T -

Price per square metre, using market
direct comparables and taking into
account of location and other individual
factors such as road frontage, size of
property etc., of RMB11,300/sgm.
EREETSLEAT R E R
ERETRE - WEREZEMERNE

= BYARBERAETHIRARE
11,3007 °

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair value
TABEBABE
B R EEEER

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher
the fair value.

% ﬂ*ﬁ%f_m !
DABEYE -

The higher the price,
the higher the fair
value.

B

>
=+
T
¥
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PR AR MR

(CONTINUED)

Investment
properties held by
the Group

in the consolidated
statements of
financial positions
EHBRBARR R
FEBRFEREME

Property 5 -

Property in Hangzhou
(Retail portion of
Highlong Plaza)
SR —TNIE
(ERESEHL)

Fair value
hierarchy
DREE
8

Level 3
B

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)

RERTREREABE

Direct comparison
approach and Income
approach (term and
reversion approach)
BEEBERBEAL(E
HERE)

The key inputs are:
(1) Term yield;

2) Reversionary yield;

W

@)

(3) Market unit rent;

(4) Price per square
metre

TEZHR

(1) TR

2) EEMEE

) MSEMMES

)

BT AKER

=S

4

15. It B3R ()

Significant
unobservable
input(s)

BEAFUBEGARE

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the certainty
of term income secured and to be
received, of 5.5%.

REET N [RIAR Y S A F s T SR P
PR A YR AR B A B BERE 1M D 78
B AR ER5.5%

Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable
properties, of 6%.
B s FEERSBA KRR
MER B TE  ERREERE% o

Market unit rent, using direct market
comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities, of RMB3.6/sgm/day.
ERAEEMSLER LT ALE
MERETIERE MR/ R RIS H A
FERAR maEAHERATTAK
BRARKS6T °

Price per square metre, using market
direct comparables and taking into
account of location and other individual
factors such as road frontage, size of
property etc., of RMB21,300/sgm.
EREEMSLEATE RAE®E
FRETRE - MERREEM(ERE

= BYAREBERRETAIARARE
21,3007t °

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair value
TABEHABE
B REEER

The higher the term
yield, the lower the fair
value.

TGRS EIN
REEWE -

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

FlmEge - A

REEWE -

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher
the fair value.

The higher the price,
the higher the fair
value.

REFEERRAT]

—T-mEER

171



Notes to Financial Statements

AR AR M

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment
properties held by
the Group

in the consolidated
statements of
financial positions
SO BARR R
FEBRFEREME

Property 6 —

Property in Hangzhou
(Serviced apartment
portion of Highlong
Plaza)
Fia/E S TALYES
(ERESRBALNE)

Fair value  Valuation technique(s)
hierarchy  and key input(s)
DREE

£8% RERMR T EEmAHE
Level 3 Direct comparison
F= approach and Income

approach (term and
reversion approach)
BEEBERBEAL(E
HERE)

The key inputs are:

(1) Term yield;

(2) Reversionary yield;
(8) Market unit rent;
(4) Price per square
metre
FEZHR

(1) TR

2) BEMEE

) THEMLES
)

(
3
4) BYITARER

15. L W3R ()

Significant
unobservable
input(s)

BEAFUBEGARE

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the certainty
of term income secured and to be
received, of 5%.

REET N [RIAR Y S A F s T SRR P
PR B AS YR AR EAU A B BERE 1D 78
2 AR A5% o

Reversionary yield, taking into account

annual unit market rental income and

unit market value of the comparable

properties, of 5.5%.

BT BN FERSBA KRR

BYENELTE BHEREER
5.5% °

Market unit rent, using direct market
comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities, of RMB1.9/sgm/day.
ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%lwﬁkuﬁ

FRETIEES RN/ RS E A
Rﬁl% miBENASATELK
BAARE19T -

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair value
TABEBABE
B R EEEER

The higher the term
yield, the lower the fair
value.

HHREEES - D
REEWE -

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

BlmEgs - A

REEYE -

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher
the fair value.
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PR AR MR

(CONTINUED)

Investment

properties held by

the Group

in the consolidated

statements of Fair value
financial positions hierarchy
EHBRBARR R DAREE
FEBRFERENFE ER
Property 7 - Level 3
Property in Hangzhou £ =#

(Landscape Garden)
TSR N
(l7Kkze)

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)

RERTREREABE

Direct comparison
approach and Income
approach (term and
reversion approach)
BERELBERKRAE (A
HERE)

The key inputs are:
(1) Term yield;

2) Reversionary vyield;

wW

@
(8) Market unit rent;
(4) Price per square
metre
Z2HR
fﬁﬁﬁu&z“f
EEWEE
M5 EMHE

BFIKER

= & S =

= By =

15. L B3R (#])

Significant
unobservable
input(s)

BEAFUBEGARE

Price per square metre, using market
direct comparables and taking into
account of location and other individual
factors such as road frontage, size of
property etc., of RMB10,400/sgm.
ERAEEMSLEAT A R B
FRERE - MERRSEMENRE

= BT ARBRABTHARARK
10,4007T °

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the certainty
of term income secured and to be
received, of 5.5%.
EINEELES- Lol ey SN
FEOR K UCERAR BRI O BETE M £ 5
B FHENE R A5.5%

Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable
properties, of 6%.

TS uﬁi%iﬁﬁéuﬁmﬁﬁ‘iﬁ
MR BRI TE - EREREERE% o

Market unit rent, using direct market
comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities, of RMB1.9/sgm/day.

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair value
TABEHABE
B REEER

The higher the price,
the higher the fair
value.

(B IE
B

The higher the term
yield, the lower the fair
value.

BHREEES - A
REEYE -

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

BUEEES A
AEEYE -

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher
the fair value.

FREEMSLE T AT LT ANLE migENEeYE -
MEGEER  MENNRERESE AREBEBS -
FHEAZ  mBEMAEAETAXK
BRARKA19TT -
EREEARAR —T-—megs 173



Notes to Financial Statements

AR AR M

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. I EME (#8)

(CONTINUED)

Investment
properties held by
the Group

in the consolidated

statements of Fair value
financial positions hierarchy
BOFBIERR R P AREE
FEEfFERENE ZR
Property 8 — Level 3

Property in Hangzhou £ =#
(Hidden Dragon Bay)
BIEME — MNP

(F2)

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)

RERTRERHABE

Direct comparison
approach and Income
approach (term and
reversion approach)
BEEBERBAE
(HEERE)

The key inputs are:
Term yield;
Reversionary yield;
Market unit rent;

2882

Price per square
metre
ERER

) MHEE X

) B

) THEMLEE
) BFARER

Significant
unobservable
input(s)

BEAFUBEGARE

Price per square metre, using market
direct comparables and taking into
account of location and other individual
factors such as road frontage, size of
property etc., of RMB11,500/sgm.
ERAEEMSLEAT A R B S
BREBE - MERRSEM(ERNE

= BT AABRABTHARARK
11,5007 °

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the certainty
of term income secured and to be
received, of 5.5%.

ST N [RIAR Y 3 2 A s T SR P
FEOR K UCER AR BRI O BETE 1 £ 5
B FHHNERA5.5%

Reversionary yield, taking into account
of annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable
properties, of 6%.

TS uﬁi%i?%ﬁéuﬁzkﬁﬁiﬁ
MR BRI TE  EHEREERE% o

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair value
TABEBABE
B R EEEER

The higher the price,
the higher the fair
value.

(B S
M o

o>
=
|
¥

The higher the term
yield, the lower the fair
value.

HHREEES A
REEYE -

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

BUEEES A
ABEBIE -
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BFTKER

% BYITAERREFIAARE
18,1007 °

B R R M RE
15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. HEYE ()
(CONTINUED)
Investment
properties held by
the Group
in the consolidated Significant Relationship of
statements of Fair value  Valuation technique(s) unobservable unobservable
financial positions hierarchy  and key input(s) input(s) inputs to fair value
EHBRBARR R DREE TABEHABE
FEBRFERENFE ER RERNTREIERABE EATTEEGARE HAAEEBR
Market unit rent, using direct market The higher the market
comparables and taking into account unit rent, the higher
of location and other individual factors the fair value.
such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities, of RMB3.1/sgm/day.
ERAEEMSLER LA ALE mizBEEeHS
MERETIERE - MER/ N R RIS H A DRBEYS -
BHERAZ  METHEMEE AT
AARBRARKS AT -
Price per square metre, using market The higher the price,
direct comparables and taking into the higher the fair
account of location and other individual ~ value.
factors such as road frontage, size of
property etc., of RMB15,900/sgm.
EREEM S EETG RAE®E B  AREE
FRETIRIE  MEARE M {ERIE M e
% BYHRABBRABTAKRARE
15,9007 °
Property 9 — Level 2 Direct comparison Price per square metre, using market The higher the price,
Property in FH approach direct comparables and taking into the higher the fair
Hangzhou BELEE account of location and other individual ~ value.
(International Office factors such as road frontage, size of
Center) The key input is: property etc., of RMB18,100/sgm.
9SEME - Price per square metre ERAEEMSLEAT A R B Bris  AnEE
(BB FEZHR FRETRE « MERESEMERNR s o

REFEERRAT]

—T-mEER
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PR R AR M

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment
properties held by
the Group

in the consolidated
statements of
financial positions
EHBRBARR R
FEBRFEREME

Property 10 —
Property in Huaibei
(Vancouver City)
1055 —EIL R
CRFFER)

Fair value  Valuation technique(s)
hierarchy  and key input(s)
DREE

£8% RERMR T EEmAHE
Level 3 Direct comparison
F= approach and Income

approach (term and
reversion approach)
BEEEERBAL
(THEESZ)

The key inputs are:
Term yield;
Reversionary yield;
Market unit rent;

2882

Price per square
metre
E2HR

) ME S

) BRI

) TIHEMES
) BTHKER

15. L W3R (#])

Significant
unobservable
input(s)

BEAFUBEGARE

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the certainty
of term income secured and to be
received, of 5.25%.

ST N [RIAR Y S E A F s T SRR P
PR B AS YR AR ERU A B BERE 1 D 38
B HEENE R 55.25% °

Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable
properties, of 5.75%.

T ABAmIZFREESBRA KRR
BEWENELTE  BHERRER
5.75% °

Market unit rent, using direct market
comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities, of RMB1.0/sgm/day.
EREEM BB ALLTALE
NERATIBE ~ WMER/ D RREE A
FHERAZ  AETHEMEERET
FARBRARKI1O0T -

Price per square metre, using market
direct comparables and taking into
account of location and other individual
factors such as road frontage, size of
property etc., of RMB6,700/sgm.
ERAEEMSL VAT A KA E B
HEE  MERBESEMERNEE
BERAREBRATTHRAREG6,700
T o

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair value
TABEHABE
B REEEER

The higher the term
yield, the lower the fair
value.

TGRS N
REEWE -

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

FlEEES A
/Lfﬁgﬁ@tﬁ °

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher
the fair value.

The higher the price,
the higher the fair
value.

BRRHE -
B -

5
S5
W
i
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PR AR MR

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(CONTINUED)

()

The Group’s investment properties situated on the leasehold

land in Mainland China are as follows:

15. L W3R (#])

b) AEBPNHBEABOEE TR

Leases of between 30 and 70 years FAHI30F = 70 F
Investment properties leased out under operating leases

The Group leases out investment properties under operating
lease arrangements. All leases run for a period of one to
fifteen years, with an option to renew the leases after the
expiry dates, at which time all terms will be renegotiated.
The Group’s total future minimum lease receivables under
non-cancellable operating leases generated from investment

properties are as follows:

BYENT
2014 2013
2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETIT
3,804,200 2,532,000

(€ MREKLEECHENRENE

AEBERBLEHELFALIKREY
X -FEHERM—Z=+RF XA
BB EH B REERRER 2 AR
THEITEE - AEERBETABUEL
LHERREMEMENRARRER

Within one year
In the second to fifth years, inclusive
After five years

At 31 December 2014, certain of the Group’s investment
properties with a carrying amount of RMB2,093,990,000
(2013: RMB1,576,589,000) were pledged to secure interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the Group as

disclosed in note 32(j).

EFEBATNT
2014 2013
2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
89,626 70,284
F_EFRT(HEMFEBEEAN) 231,585 150,111
74,765 46,301
395,976 266,696

d MR2014F12A31H - B & W =
32() T - ASBEREERARE
2,093,990,000 7% (20134F : A R #
1,576,589,0007T) K& TR EMHE,
TEARE BRESET BRITER R E A G
IR
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PR AR MR

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

€

The Group entered into certain sale and purchase agreements
to sell certain investment properties with a carrying amount
of RMB31,000,000. The Group had received deposits of
approximately RMB9,061,000 (2013: RMB9,061,000). As
the transfer of the property title were still under progress,
the amount received was recognised as advances from
customers as at 31 December 2014.

Investment properties under construction contains one
property situated in the Mainland China. The property is
designed to deliver fully furnished, and completed registration
for final acceptance in June 2014. As at 31 December
2014, the property is undergoing internal decoration. In the
opinion of the directors, these properties are considered as
investment properties under construction.

16. PROPERTIES UNDER

15. L W3R ()

(€)

AEEFTVETEE R HEKR
& A A R ¥ 31,000,000 T8 & T
WEME - REBEWEHARE
9,061,000 STHYEE (2013 4F : AR
9,061,0007T) - FARMIZEFTE R E
EFEMEETR - WATMEARIE
R AN2014E 12 31 B ERF
HIZATR ©

EREEYMEBBEMRF BRI —
Bz - ZMETEINEREER
& WH 20144 6 AR ERIKESRT ©
R2014FF12 A31 H » ZMEIE#E
TREEE - EFRA - ZEMER
REBERIEEME

16. BASE R

DEVELOPMENT
2014 2013
2014 F 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT
Carrying amount at 1 January 181 BEREE 7,508,457 6,646,559
Additions 0 3,770,650 2,797,231
Transfer to investment properties (note 15) B =R & W% (FizE15) (582,216) =
Transfer to completed properties BB E RS
held for sale (note 24) BRI (M7t 24) (1,056,146) (1,935,333)
Carrying amount at 31 December 12 A 31 HERHEE 9,640,745 7,508,457
Write-down of properties under WOR R B R
development to net realisable value 2R EIHRE (14,204) =
Net carrying amount at 31 December 12 A 31 HEREFE 9,626,541 7,508,457
Current assets mENEE 1,181,754 1,430,161
Non-current assets JEmMBNE E 8,444,787 6,078,296
9,626,541 7,508,457

Except for one property located in Canada, the rest of the Group’s
properties under development are all located in Mainland China.

BR—IEMEMNINER - AEBEHRFHED
MESLIN B AN o
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AR AR M

16. PROPERTIES UNDER

DEVELOPMENT (CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of the properties under development situated

16. BASEhM3R (#8)

AEENRAETYE(CRPEARNEE

on the leasehold land in Mainland China are as follows: T i) WEREET ¢
2014 2013
20145 20134F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETTT
Canada nER
Freehold KA ZERE 127,825 =
Mainland China AR A it
Leases of over 50 years FHEAHE R 50 F 6,475,867 4,782,438
Leases of between 30 and 50 years FAHAB0 F = 504F 3,022,849 2,726,019
9,498,716 7,508,457
9,626,541 7,508,457

The movements in provision for write-down of properties under

WORFE PR E A R FENBRBEESN

development to net realisable value are as follows: T~
2014 2013
2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETIT
At 1 January m1A1H - =
Write-down of properties under ERERR AT
development recognised L E 0 14,204 -
Write-down of properties under 7 Bl O R B R
development reversed W) SEMOR - -
At 31 December W12 A31H 14,204 -

Included in the above provision for write-down of properties under
development is a provision for one individually impaired property
under development of RMB14,204,000 (2013: Nil) with a carrying
amount before provision of RMB203,049,000 (2013: Nil).

FT A L it 5 2 Hh ) ZE U B s — TR (E B
BB (B B9 7 8 R 4 25 A R % 14,204,000 8%
#(20134F : &) - BBAIREERARE
208,049,000 7t (2013 4F : £&) o
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16. PROPERTIES UNDER

DEVELOPMENT (CONTINUED)

There was a significant decline in the forecast future cash flows

for one individually impaired property under development during

the year. The directors consider that such a decline indicates that

the property under development have been impaired and an write-

down of properties under development of RMB14,204,000 was

recognised (2013: Nil).

At 31 December 2014, certain of the Group’s properties under
development with a carrying amount of RMB2,658,731,000 (2013:
RMB2,134,865,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings granted to the Group as disclosed in note

16. BASEh3R (#8)

FAN—IBERERERN R DENTERR
RESHREBEE K -EERE EHETR
FEFAERYELERE  WEBRARE
14,204,000 70 (2013 4F : &) MR R Y

20144 12 B 31 B -+ 4235 M 5% 32(ii) 7 3%
B AEEERAEEAARY2658,731,000
JL(20134F : AR¥52,134,865,000 70 ) H %
TR XD EREBEST BRTER

32(ii). R E M SRR
17. GOODWILL 17. 8
RMB’000
AR®T T
At 31 December 2014: MR20144F12 318 :
Cost B AR 63,928
Accumulated impairment RERUE (63,928)
Net carrying amount BRI ER -
Cost at 1 January 2014, net of 20141 A1 BHRA -
accumulated impairment R 2EHRE
Impairment during the year FRRIE -
At 31 December 2014 R2014F 12 A31H -
RMB’000
ARET T
At 31 December 2013: MR2013F 12 A318 :
Cost BN 63,928
Accumulated impairment Z2EPRE (63,928)
Net carrying amount BRIV R =

Cost at 1 January 2013, net of
accumulated impairment
Impairment during the year

At 31 December 2013

R 201341 A1 BHIBA -

kR REHRE
FRRUE

R 2013412 531 H
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18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE 18. At HHEKRE
INVESTMENT
2014 2013
20145 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARETIT
Unlisted equity investments, at cost 3,300 3,300
The available-for-sale investments were the solely unlisted equity AHEEREEAEREAARE
investments with a carrying amount of RMB3,300,000 (2013: 3,300,000t (20134 : A E # 3,300,000
RMB3,300,000) stated at cost less impairment. T0) B3 E AR E - WA HBRIRER
HIER o
The investments were stated at cost because the investments do AR ERNERT IS EMSRE - E R
not have a quoted market price in an active market. In the opinion KA - EEREZSRENEERAE
of the directors, the fair value of these investments cannot be ETRER] Bt E NZEIREN AL BETD
measured reliably and the underlying fair values of investments RZFIRER 2014412 A31 HAERMEE
were not less than the carrying values of the investments as at 31
December 2014.
19. LONG TERM PREPAYMENTS 19. REAR MR
2014 2013
20145 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARETTT
Prepaid land lease payments TEfT T AR EFKIE 18,347 12,600
Maintenance fund HEES 52,365 35,984
Construction completion deposits BTER 10,000 =
80,712 48,584
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20. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 20. #& &

1 4: 0k 4

2014 2013

2014 F 20135

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARETT

Share of net assets PIREEFEE 46,228 46,487
Loans to a joint venture REF—EEELENER - 365,961
46,228 412,448

Before 31 December 2013, loans to a joint venture are unsecured, HR2013FE 12 A31BHA - BETFT—HEE
interest-free, have no fixed terms of repayment and are considered DEMNEZTEER - 6B REE ifg;jj

as quasi-equity investments in the joint ventures in the opinion of
the directors. Pursuant to revised loan agreements between the
joint venture and the Group, loans provided to the joint venture
for an interest rate of 9% in 2014 and are presented as loans and
receivables from a joint venture (Note 21) as at 31 December 2014.

Particulars of the joint ventures are as follows:

H - BEERA  ZSEFERANEGER
ERMERRIZE - BEAECEEAEE Y
HREFTEF % - R2014 FHRE T —

HEEEENERNERI% - AR20145F
12431 B2%ARE —HEELENER
K e R aE (FfifzE21) o

AEDERBEDT

Percentage attributable to the Group

Particulars AEEEGE DL
of issued Place of Indirectly held Voting Profit Principal
Name shares held registration equity interest power sharing activities
REBRT BERE
% BROBFE it 2 BRAERZ REE NG TEEY
Jiangsu Xiezhong Investment Registered Jiangsu 33% 50% 50% Investment
Co., Ltd. capital of PRC holding
TE BRI ERR AT RMB100,000,000
ARG H BT & REER
AR 100,000,000 7T
Jiangsu Jiarun Real Estate Registered Jiangsu 33% 50% 50% Property
Co., Ltd. capital of PRC development
THREEFERAF RMB100,000,000
RIS BT Bk EEEN
AR# 100,000,000 7T

The 50% equity interests in these joint ventures are held through
two subsidiaries with 90% and 73.1% of equity interest respectively
attributable to the Company.

RZEA S EMNS0%IRANERS TE BN
7] Bl FE (5 90% 2 73.1 % A% ZNAE 25 HY R ] Bt
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20. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 20. PB4 MRS ()

(CONTINUED)
The following table illustrates the summarised consolidated financial TR TERBBRILEBR RS HTBEE
information in respect of Jiangsu Xiezhong Investment Co., Ltd. PEE . I estREE=EEHARLE
adjusted for any differences in accounting policies, and reconciled to B &R R M ER EE FHED
the carrying amount in the financial statements:
2014 2013
20144 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETIT
Cash and cash equivalents HeMREEEY 1,393 4,784
Other current assets HihmEh&EE 3,210 3,274
Current assets MENEE 4,603 8,058
Non-current assets FEMEN B EE 636,152 473,160
Current liabilities MEEE (548,299) (388,244)
Net assets BEFHE 92,456 92,974
Net assets, excluding goodwill BEFME(TRERE) 92,456 92,974
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest EAREENREGE R
in the joint venture AN
Proportion of the Group’s ownership rEERGEASL 50% 50%
Group’s share of net assets of the REEELEGERE
the joint ventures BEFE 46,228 46,487
Loans to joint ventures REFEELENER - 365,961
Carrying amounts of the investment HERAEE 46,228 412,448
Total expenses X 4 %E (518) (4,818)
Loss after tax KRt Esia (518) (4,818)
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21. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES FROM A

JOINT VENTURE
Group

During the year, the Group granted interest-bearing loans to the

following parties:

21. RESERRNERKE
W RIR
REE

FA - AEBERATESREFESER

2014 2013
2014 & 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARETIT
Principal: iNC
Jiangsu Jiarun Real Estate Co., Ltd. IH R EEXBRAR
(note() (B%E (i) 390,931 -
Interest receivable: FEUFI S,
Jiangsu Jiarun Real Estate Co., Ltd. IHnEEXERAR
(note() (F%E (i) 29,769 -
Note: B eE -
[0) Pursuant to loan agreements, the Group provided loans to Jiangsu Jiarun i) RIBERWE » ANEBR 2014 F RT3 8

Real Estate Co., Ltd. with an amount of RMB390,931,000 for an annual
interest rate of 9% in 2014 with no fixed repayment terms (2013: nil).

BXERAQAIRMEEA R 390,931,000 THE
o FRERAFI% - EEFEENKE (20134 -
) o
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22. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

22 BIEMARER AR

BIERRE EMEERIRB ERESHMT

Deferred tax assets

Losses available

Impairment Unrealised  for offsetting Prepaid
of other intragroup  against future corporation
receivables profit of loss  taxable profits income tax Total
AR
AR REREE RRIERH BftE
AERE BB FBNER g2 ast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTR ARETR AREFR ARBTR

At 1 January 2013 2013F1A1H 15,742 19,596 59,859 33,766 128,963
Deferred tax credited FRRERRERN

to the statement of profit BREHE

or loss during the year - 118 10,496 3,208 13,822
At 31 December 2013 201312 A31H

and 1 January 2014 R2014F1 318 15,742 19,714 70,355 36,974 142,785
Deferred tax credited FRRNERRERN

to the statement of profit or loss BREHE

during the year - 8,344 29,211 21,586 59,141
At 31 December 2014 2014512 A31H 15,742 28,058 99,566 58,560 201,926

REFBEIERIER - REEENAE5F
PARSHE RIRMERTAE - B A A
BBEBRNEERREE REERBEH
JERBAHIAEZEREHIREERSE A

In accordance with the PRC laws and regulations, tax losses could
be carried forward for five years to offset against its future taxable
profits. Deferred tax assets relating to unutilised tax losses are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable

profit will be available to allow such deferred tax assets to be utilised.

The Group has accumulated tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
nil that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The Group
also has accumulated tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB201,982,000 (2013: RMB99,867,000) that will expire in one to
five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they
have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time
and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised.

77 2 HERR ©

REEREBRGELR AKHES HEE
BAT B ERTAEN R HIEEE -
REERFBEANMITE £ R HIIEEE
A AR 201,982,000 7T (20134 « AREE
99,867,0007T) * R —ERFWE|H -
Wi BRI ERBFE o ARZEHBAR
EEAEE—BKEME  BRAWEEAEA
AR E BB R R A - MO &R
ZEEBEEREEHIBEE -

EREEARAR —T-—megsk 185



Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR MR

22. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

22 BEMIRBER AR ()

Deferred tax liabilities ELEBIEAE
Fair value
adjustment of
investment  Withholding
properties tax Others* Total
REME
AREE
Fil Stk Hith* @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®T ARET T AR®T
At 1 January 2013 2013F1A1H 387,701 34,374 13,268 435,343
Deferred tax charged to the FARBREE
statement of profit or loss MERREREHIE
during the year 78,198 9,383 30,178 117,759
At 31 December 2013 2013% 12 A31H
and 1 January 2014 K2014F1R1H 465,899 43,757 43,446 553,102
Realised during the year FRER (32,155) (32,155)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) tothe  ERRERFER /(H18) &
statement of profit or loss BRETIE
during the year 172,496 21,296 48,936 247,728
At 31 December 2014 2014% 12 A31H 638,395 32,898 92,382 763,675

* Others mainly include temporary differences regarding capitalised finance

costs.

H b= ERIEEE A RIE K AR E iy

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (the “New CIT
Law”), a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement has become effective from 1
January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007.
A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore
liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008.

BEAFECEMSHE(HECEMER
ED)  BASNEREREEERRE NP E
AIHILER ST FYINE 1B 5 2 AR B 10% T8 30
i o BREAMTEB20084F1 A1 BBAERR - I
HAR 2007 12 A 31 RgATEL 2 &BF -
fir R B A BRSNE 188 & PR Rl AR 2 T
A BB R R AHREETE HFH R - A
SEZEALLEREAE10% - At - NEBEER
Z AR B A A ST 2 BB /A Rk 2008 4F 1
A1 BREEZ BRI IK 2R SR IEH
it o
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22. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND

23

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

Other than the deferred tax liability in relation to the PRC withholding
income tax provided above, no deferred taxation has been
provided for the distributable retained profits of approximately
RMB1,020,854,000 (2013: RMB1,137,314,000), which were
derived from the PRC subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

22.

EEMARER AR ()

EEBIR S E ()

BRER_F I RO R B TR TS AR AR RE RO IR AE
MIBAGIN  BERREREMBR RN
A R #1,020,854,0007T (20184F : A R %
1,137,314,000 7T, ) {R B8 4 | 1 H 305 E 7 78 13
18 A7 S B AL I BT B |4 2 KA [0 /0 B
B B RN AT T8 R AR A B T g ] o

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 23. R A TS
Company AT

2014 2013
2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
Unlisted shares, at cost JE TR - IBAE 100 100
Loan to subsidiaries FHIB A RIMER 2,426,969 885,167
2,427,069 885,267

The amounts due from and to subsidiaries included in the Company’s
current assets and current liabilities of RMB364,031,000 (2013:
RMB1,830,798,000) and RMB255,118,000 (2013: RMB187,044,000),
respectively, are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand
or within one year.

The amounts advanced to the subsidiaries included in the investments
in subsidiaries above are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed
terms of repayment. In the opinion of the directors, these advances are
considered as quasi-equity loans to the subsidiaries.

BIERARRIRENE E LR A ER R R
M B R B 5RIB D Bl A A REE 864,031,000 7T
(20134F : A R%51,830,798,0007T) & AR#E
255,118 000720134 : A K ¥ 187,044,000
TT) B - BB RAREREFR—FAE
o

ERE AR A RHRE TR T HE AR
PRI 8 REEEETY - EFR
7 REBFAIE AR TIB R RN ERARE

h
N
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows:

23. B2 FIRKRE ()

MBARMFENT

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Group as at
31 December

Place and date Issued ordinary/

of incorporation/ registered 12 A 31 BAEE
registration capital as at EERER AL Principal
Name of company and business 31 December 2014 2014 2013 activities
EEMA L 201461278310
DRER R AR ES BRTLEEMER 20145 20135 FTEEY
Zhejiang Zhong An PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 59.2% 81% Property
Property Development 3 April 1997 leasing
Xiaoshan Co., Ltd. @
IR T EHERL hE/hEA, AR 2,000,000 nERE
FERRAF W 1997454 A3H
Zhong An Group PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 90% 90% Property
Co., Ltd. © 26 December 1997 development
RLEERRAEO B/ E At AR 50,000,000 7 and leasing
1997 F12 A 26 H ELIEN
RHE
Zhejiang Zhong An PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90% 90% Property
Property Co., Ltd. @ 18 November 1998 service
IRLYERBER LR hE/hEA AR ¥ 10,000,000 70 NEERRYG
1998511 A18 H
Anhui Zhong An Real Estate PRC/Mainland China US$5,000,000 100% 100% Property
Development Co., Ltd. @ 9 August 2001 development
ZHRLEHEREFRRF HE BRI, 5,000,000 7T EGE
20018 A9 H
Hangzhou White Horse Property PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 65.8% 90% Property
Development Co., Ltd. © 27 June 2002 development
MMAEEHEREERAR HE Bl AR 50,000,0007C e
20026 A 27 H
Anhui Zhong An Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB57,000,000 84.2% 84.2% Property
Co., Ltd. @ 17 January 2003 development
ZHRREXBRAA hE/HENL AR 57,000,000 70 ELIES
2003F1 A17H
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

23. B2 FIRIKRE ()

MBARMFEIT : (&)

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Group as at

Place and date

Issued ordinary/

31 December

of incorporation/ registered 12 A 31 BAEH
registration capital as at EERERAL Principal
Name of company and business 31 December 2014 2014 2013 activities
AEMASL, R Mt 2014512310
AR BB AR & Em S M EARNEE 2014 2013 F TEXK
Hangzhou Danube Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 92.6% 92.6% Property
Co., Ltd. @ 7 March 2003 development
MMNSHAEEBRATO HE BRI, AR 50,000,0007T ESEE
20034 3H7H
Chunan Minfu Property PRC/Mainland China RMB6,000,000 73.1% 100% Property
Co., Ltd. © 24 October 2003 development
FERBREEEERAFO B/ E A AE#6,000,0007T EGE
200310824 H
Anhui Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 90% 90% Property
Management Co., Ltd. 24 November 2003 management
THREYEEBERARY hE/hEA AR 3,000,0007C NEER
2003 11 A 24 H
Shanghai Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 65.8% 87.1% Property
Development Co., Ltd. @ 19 January 2004 leasing
FERZEMEREERARO B/ HEAM AR 10,000,000 70 nERS
20041 A 19A8
Zhejiang Huijun Real Estate PRC/Mainland China US$77,600,000 72.9% 99.7% Property
Co., L td. @ 1 April 2005 development
HTERE % BRARC HE BRI, 77,600,00057T ESEE
20054 H1H
Hangzhou Zhong An PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 65.8% 89.4% Property
Highlong Commercial 20 September 2005 management
Buildings Co., Ltd. @
MNRLEEBEARAR® hE/HER AR 2 000,000 7T yEEm
20059 A 20H

REFEERRAT]

—z—mess 189



Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR MR

23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

23. B2 FIRKRE ()

MBARMFEIT : (&)

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Group as at

Place and date

Issued ordinary/

31 December

of incorporation/ registered 12 A 31 BAEE
registration capital as at EERER AL Principal
Name of company and business 31 December 2014 2014 2013 activities
AL, AR At 2014512310
DRER BAREELE AMEANEE 2014 2013 F FTEEY
Qirui Enterprise Management PRC/Mainland China US$14,900,000 100% 100% Investment
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. @ 21 November 2005 holding
HnCEERMMARDRY  RE/HENM 14,900,000 7T REER
2005F 11 A21H
Hangzhou Zheng Jiang Real Estate  PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 67.6% 94.5% Property
Development Co., Ltd. @ 16 March 2006 development
MNEIFHEREERARY HE BRI, ARH 50,000,000 7 EE
20063 H16H
Henlly Enterprise Management PRC/Mainland China US$149,061,280 73.1% 100% Property
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. @ 4 December 2006 development
BRCEERMMAERDRY  RE/RERD 149,061,280 % 7T EIES
200612 A4H
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Zhong'an PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 65.8% 90% Hotel
Holiday Inn Co., Ltd. @ 28 May 2007 management
MR RZREEE hE/HENL AR 10,000,000 7 BIEER
ARRE 200745728 H
HeFei Green Bay Property PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 90% 90% Property
Management Co., Ltd. ¢ 1 August 2007 management
RIEGEEEMEERERARC  HE/HEN AR 500,0007T WERER
2007468 H1H
Hangzhou Junjie Investment PRC/Mainland China US$29,990,000 100% 100% Investment
Co., Ltd. 4 December 2007 management
MMBEAREERER AR B/ hEA, 29,990,000 7T REER
200712 A48
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

23. B2 FIRIKRE ()

MBARMFEIT : (&)

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Group as at

Place and date

Issued ordinary/

31 December

of incorporation/ registered 12 A 31 BAEH
registration capital as at EERERAL Principal
Name of company and business 31 December 2014 2014 2013 activities
AL, AR e aE 2014512310
AR AR BAREELE M EARNEE 2014 2013 F FTEEY
Hangzhou Huijun Information PRC/Mainland China US$59,700,000 100% 100% Consultation
Technology Co., Ltd. @ 5 December 2007 management
MMESRESEMAR AR hE/hEA 59,700,00037T HAEE
200712 A5H
Hangzhou Dehong New PRC/Mainland China US$29,900,000 73.1% 100%  Manufacture of
Constructions Materials 1 February 2008 construction
Management Co., Ltd. @ materials
MMNEEF R M AR AR hE/hEA 29,900,000 7T BEYREE
20082 H1H
Hangzhou Huihong Investment PRC/Mainland China US$49,990,000 73.1% 100% Investment
Management Co., Ltd. 19 February 2008 management
MMERREERAR AR HE/RER, 49,990,000%7T REER
20082 A19H
Hefei Zhong'an PRC/Mainland China RMB350,000,000 73.1% 100% Hotel
Holiday Inn Co., Ltd. © 18 March 2008 management
AERZBRBEERRARO hE/hEA ARH350,000,0007T BIEER
200863 H18H
Huijun Construction PRC/Mainland China US$12,000,000 73.1% 100% Material
Materials Trading (Hangzhou) 16 July 2008 trading
Co., Ltd. @
ESEMMER S () B,/ E At 12,000,000 7T MHE S
ARRARO 20087 A 16 H
Zhejiang Anyuan Agriculture PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90% 90% Agriculture
Development Co., Ltd. @ 11 June 2009 development
HIZRBRERBERAR RE/HER AR 10,000,000 70 BERE

200956 A11H
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Place and date

Issued ordinary/

MBARMFEIT : (&)

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Group as at
31 December

23. B2 FIRKRE ()

of incorporation/ registered 12 A 31 BAEE
registration capital as at EERER AL Principal
Name of company and business 31 December 2014 2014 2013 activities
AEMASL, R Myt 2014512310
NEER BAREELE M ERNEE 2014 2013 F TEXK
Zhong'an Service PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 90% 90% Investment
Holding Group Co., Ltd. ¥ 13 August 2009 holding
RRRBEREBGR AT @ HE BRI, AR 50,000,0007T REER
200948 H13H
Hangzhou Dehong Energy PRC/Mainland China USD45,000,000 N/A 100% Energy
Development Co., Ltd. @ 3 September 2009 development
mMMERERFAERR AR €0 HE/ R E A 45,000,000 7T Ak
200949 H3H
Zhejiang Anyuan Real PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90% 90% Real estate
Estate Agent Co., Ltd. @ 30 October 2009 agency
HIRRTBESRE L/ ERi, AEH10,000,0007T EiERRE
ARRAR 2009 10 A 30 A
Zhejiang Anyuan Housekeeping PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90% 90%  Housekeeping
Senvice Co., Ltd. @ 30 October 2009 service
T RRRHREERA R E/HER, AR 10,000,000 70 RBRH
200910430 H
Hangzhou Zhong’an Image PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 45.9% 45.9% Construction
Construction Design Co., Ltd. @ 10 December 2009 design
MM R L NGRS hE/hEA AR 1,000,0007T BER
TRERFERRA 200912 F10H
Hangzhou Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 90% 90% Property
Co., Ltd. @ 1 February 2010 development
MMNBREZBRAR B/ hEA, AEH 200,000,0007T ESSES
20102 H1H
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(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Place and date

Issued ordinary/

23. B2 FIRIKRE ()

MBARMFEIT : (&)

Percentage of equity

attributable to the Group as at

31 December

of incorporation/ registered 12 A 31 BAEH
registration capital as at EERERAL Principal
Name of company and business 31 December 2014 2014 2013 activities
AEMASL, R Mt 2014512310
AR BB AR & Em S M EARNEE 2014 2013 F TEXK
Yuyao Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90% 90% Property
Development Co., Ltd. @ 5 March 2010 development
ARBREHERBERLTG  E/ HERM AR%100,000,000 70 MERE
20103 H5H
Zhejiang Anyuan Travel Agency PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90% 90% Travel
Co., Ltd. @ 17 August 2010 agency
LRI TALBR ARG hE/hEA AR ¥ 10,000,000 70 IRITAL
2010F8 A17H
Hangzhou Anyuan Property PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 45.9% 45.9% Property
Development Co., Ltd. @ 14 September 2010 development
MMZREESB AR hEhER, AR%100,000,000 7¢ ESEE
20109 H 14H
Yuyao Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China US$150,000,000 93% 93% Property
Co., Ltd. © 10 December 2010 development
RKBREEXBRATO HE BRI, 150,000,000 7T ESEE
201012 A10H
Hangzhou Fukai Management PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 65.8% 89% Property
2 March 2011 management
MM CEERERARY HE B, AR 500,0007T MEER
201143H2H
Zhejiang Jinnong Investment PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90% 90% Investment
Co., L td. @ 15 March 2011 holding
IS BREEREERARY HRE/HER, AK®100,000,000 70 REER
20113 A 150
Zhejiang Xingidian Agriculture PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 90% 90% Agriculture
Co., Ltd. © 22 June 2011 development
ISR EREARARTO  RE/HENM AR ¥ 3,000,000 BERE
2011%6H22H
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Place and date

Issued ordinary/

MBARMFEIT : (&)

Percentage of equity

attributable to the Group as at

31 December

23. B A FINKRE ()

of incorporation/ registered 12 A 31 BAEE
registration capital as at EERER AL Principal
Name of company and business 31 December 2014 2014 2013 activities
AL AR aE 2014512310
NRER BAREELE HMEANEE 20145 20135 FEEY
Zhejiang Zhong An Commercial PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 65.8% 90% Investment
Investment Management Co., 1 August 2011 holding
Ltd. @
WIRLTHFREERERARY  hE/HEAM AR#10,000,0007 REER
201148 A1 H
Zhejiang Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 90% 90% Property
Development Co., Ltd. @ 4 August 2011 development
MIRREWEREBRAT HE B, AR 20,000,0007T EE
20118 H4H
Zhejiang Zhong An Changhong PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 57.7% 92.2% Investment
Investment Management 26 August 2011 holding
Co., Ltd. ®
MNBREREREERER AR hE/HEAM AR¥1,000,0007C REER
201148 H26H
Yuyao Zhong An Agriculture PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 90% 90% Agriculture
Development Co., Ltd. @ 9 November 2011 development
AR ZREREERARY B hEA AR ¥ 20,000,000 7 BERE
2011411 A9A
Yuyao Zhong An Times Square PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 65.8% 90% Property
Commercial Management 6 December 2011 management
Co., Ltd. @
RURLRRESHEEE R/ E A AR 2,000,00075 gt
BRARE 201112 A6 A
Hangzhou Zhong An PRC/Mainland China RMBS5,000,000 90% 90% Construction
Construction Design Co., Ltd. © 28 November 2011 design
MMNB LR ERR hE/hEA AR ¥5,000,0007C BER
2011411 A28H
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

23. B2 FIRIKRE ()

MBARMFEIT : (&)

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Group as at
31 December

Place and date Issued ordinary/

of incorporation/ registered 12 A 31 BAEH
registration capital as at EERERAL Principal
Name of company and business 31 December 2014 2014 2013 activities
AEMASL, R Mt 2014512831 H
AR BB AEIREEMm S EMEARNEE 2014 2013 F TEXK
Hangzhou Jia Ju Le Housekeeping ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 72% 72%  Housekeeping
Senvice Co., Ltd. @ 15 October 2012 service
MNB R EELERBRS hE/HEA, AE#3,000,0007T KBRS
eI 2012F10A 15 A
Hangzhou Pulotos Investment PRC/Mainland China RMB37,500,000 90% 90% Investment
Management Co., Ltd. ¢ 4 February 2013 management
N EBIEREER hE/hER AR 37,500,0007C REER
AR AT 20132 A4 H
Cixi Zhong An Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90% 90% Property
Development Co., Ltd. @ 28 February 2013 management
BERREMERE hEHEAL, AR 100,000,000 7 NEER
BB ATEH 20132 A28 H
Yuyao Zhong An Times Square PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 65.8% 90% Property
Development Co., Ltd. @ 5 August 2013 management
R RRERESFE E/HEA AR 100,000,000 7 NEER
BB AT 20138 A5H
Yuyao Zhong An Times Square PRC/Mainland China USD16,000,000 68.0% 93% Property
Property Co., Ltd. @ 13 August 2013 management
RRBERRBESEE HRE BRI, 16,000,000 7T NEER
eI 20138 A13H
Tianjing San Jiu Zhong An PRC/Mainland China RMB10,204,100 90% 90% Property
Property Consulting Co., Ltd.® 5 September 2013 management
REENBRREEEM hE/HEA AR¥10,204,100 7T NEER
BRAF® 2013F9A5H
Zhejiang Zhong An Sheng Long PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 65.8% 90% Property
Commercial Co., Ltd. 9 September 2013 management
MIRLREREAR AR hE/hER, AEH50,000,0007C NEER
20134 9H9H
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Place and date

Issued ordinary/

MBARMFEIT : (&)

Percentage of equity

attributable to the Group as at

31 December

23. B2 FIRKRE ()

of incorporation/ registered 12 A 31 BAEE
registration capital as at EERER AL Principal
Name of company and business 31 December 2014 2014 2013 activities
AEMASL, R Myt 2014512310
NEER AR & ENm S M ERNEE 2014 2013 F TEXK
Huaibei Run Zhou Hotel PRC/Mainland China USD1,000,000 100% 100% Hotel
Management Co., Ltd.® 16 October 2013 management
L EMNBEEERERARC hE/HER, 1,000,000 7T BEER
201310816 H
Qirui Commercial (Hangzhou) PRC/Mainland China USD14,900,000 73.1% 100% Investment
Management Co., Ltd. @ 18 October 2013 holding
HnaEERE (MM FERARY B/ E A, 14,900,000 37T REER
20131018 H
Cixi Zhong An PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 65.8% 90% Property
Property Co., Ltd. @ 6 December 2013 management
RERLBEBERARA L/ ERi, AR 50,000,000 7 NEER
2013412 A6H
Hangzhou Juntuo Investment PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 90% 90% Investment
Management Co., Ltd. 6 December 2013 management
MMBERREERERAR HE/HER, AR 1,000,000 7 REER
201312 A6H
Zhejiang Zhong An City PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 65.8% 90% Investment
Construction Co., Ltd. @ 17 December 2013 holding
HIERLTHTERABR AR B/ hEA, AR 100,000,0007T REER
201312 A17H
Tonglu Xiaoyuanshan Wellness PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 55.9% N/A Property
Investment Development 31 March 2014 management
Co., Ltd. @@ RE/HER, AR 100,000,000 7% NEER
RENRLUBEREREBRARY 2014331 R
Hangzhou Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 90% N/A Property
Co., Ltd. @@ 18 April 2014 development
MNBREREREERARO  RE/HENM AR H# 200,000,000 70 ESES
20144 A18H
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Place and date

Issued ordinary/

MBARMFEIT : (&)

Percentage of equity

23. B2 FIRIKRE ()

attributable to the Group as at

31 December

of incorporation/ registered 12 A 31 BAEH
registration capital as at EERERAL Principal
Name of company and business 31 December 2014 2014 2013 activities
AEMASL, R Mt 2014512310
AR BB BAREELE M EARNEE 2014 2013 F TEXK
Hangzhou Zhong An Sheng Long  PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 65.8% N/A Property
Liyumen PropertyCo., Ltd.®® 21 April 2014 development
MNBRRRERBMEE RE/HER, AR 20,000,000 7 ESEE
ARAF O 20144 R21H
Happy days Co., Ltd.@® PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90% N/A Consultation
REFHBRAT QW 25 June 2014 management
hE/ AN AR 100,000,000 7 HERER
2014F 6 A25H
Hangzhou Zhong An network PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 90% N/A Technology
Technology Co., Ltd.@® 23 July 2014 development
MNBRBREERMERDR Y RE/ RENMD AR#1,000,0007T BRI
2014%7H23H
Taoranshan Wellness Co., Ltd.@®  PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 65.8% N/A Property
BALEEEERAR W 19 August 2014 management
hE/hEA AR 50,000,000 7 NEER
2014F 8 A19H
|deal World Investments British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment
Limited 6 November 2003 holding
ERERRHS e REER
2003% 11 A6H
Huijun (International) Holdings Hong Kong HK$100,000 73.1% 100% Investment
Limited 4 March 2005 holding
0 100,000 77T RERR
2005F3 A4 H
China Bright Management British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment
Limited @ 13 November 2007 holding
EBEARAS e RERR
200711 A13H
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Place and date

Issued ordinary/

MBARMFEIT : (&)

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Group as at
31 December

23. B2 FIRKRE ()

of incorporation/ registered 12 A 31 BAEE
registration capital as at EERER AL Principal
Name of company and business 31 December 2014 2014 2013 activities
AL, AR At 2014512310
DRER BAREELE AMEANEE 20145 20135 FTEEY
Esteem High Enterprises British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment
Limited 13 November 2007 holding
EBERRAS e REER
200711 A13H
Everplus Management British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment
Limited 13 November 2007 holding
REERRES e REER
200711 A13H
Gain Large Enterprises British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment
Limited 13 November 2007 holding
EBERRHS 17T REER
200711 13 A
Plenty Management British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment
Limited @ 13 November 2007 holding
EBERRHS 17T REZRR
2007 %11 A13H
Hong Kong Bo Kai Construction Hong Kong HKS$1 100% 100% Construction
Design Limited © 26 February 2008 design
BEERERTBRARY B 18T BEERG
20082 A 26 H
Hong Kong Huiyuan Real Estate Hong Kong HKS$1 100% 100% Property
Limited 26 February 2008 development
ERERMERRARY e 18T EE
20082 H26H
Zhong An International Shipping Hong Kong HK$780,000 72.9% 99.7% Shipping
(Hong Kong) Limited ¢ 11 November 2011
RLEGEME(BE)BERARG  BE 780,000787C fiE

2011E11 A11H
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Place and date Issued ordinary/

MBARMFEIT : (&)

23. B2 FIRIKRE ()

Percentage of equity

attributable to the Group
31 December

as at

of incorporation/ registered 12 A 31 BAEH
registration capital as at EERERAL Principal
Name of company and business 31 December 2014 2014 2013 activities
AEMASL, R Mt 2014512831 H
AR BB AR & Em S M EARNEE 2014 2013 F TEXK
Zhong An Property British Virgin Islands US$50,000 100% 100% Property
(China) Ltd. 20 June 2013 management
BRREX(FE)BRAR D ERERRHS 50,0003 7T MERERE
20136 H20R
China New City Commercia Cayman Islands HK$100,000 73.1% 100% Investment
Development Limited. 2 July 2013 holding
REFH MR EERAB AR HEHS 100,000/ 7T REER
20134 7H2H
Zhong An Real Estate Canada CAD$100 100% 100% Property
(Canada) Ltd. @ 8 November 2013 development
MER 100407T MERERE
2013411 A8H
Hengyuan Properties Limited® Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Investment
ERMESRAR 27 December 2013 holding
) 18T REER
2013F 12 A 27 H
Zerun Management Limited® Hong Kong HKS$1 100% 100% Investment
EHEERRAR 31 December 2013 holding
) 18T REER
2013F 12 A31H
Zhong An Real Estate Development  Canada CAD$100 100% N/A Property
(Canada) Ltd. @ 15 January 2014 management
MER 100407T MERERE
2014%1H15H
Shengze Management Limited @ Hong Kong HK$1 100% N/A Investment
BEEBARAR @O 29 February 2014 holding
6 18T REER
2014%2 A 29H
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

23. B2 FIRKRE ()

MBARMFEIT : (&)

Place and date

Issued ordinary/

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Group as at
31 December

of incorporation/ registered 12 A 31 BAEE
registration capital as at EERER D Principal
Name of company and business 31 December 2014 2014 2013 activities
FERARSL B bt 201461278310
DRER BAREELE AMEANEE 20145 20135 FTEEY
Glorious Days Management Hong Kong HKS$1 100% N/A Investment
Limited @ 23 June 2014 holding
HEERBRAT 0 5 18T REER
201446 H23H
Greenfield Investment Limited @ British Virgin Island US$1 100% N/A Investment
[REFZEBRR AR @0 19 May 2014 holding
ERERRHS e REER
20145 H19H
Zhong An Real Estate Australia AUDS$1 100% N/A Investment
(Australia) Pty Ltd.@® 31 October 2014 holding
M 18T REER

Notes:

201410 A31H

N/A  Not yet incorporated/established/acquired or liquidated by the Group

BifFE

NERAREBNARZMARL R B REE

(@) These subsidiaries were established by the Group in 2014. (a) Z S B A BN 2014 FERARE B ©
(o) Types of legal entities: (o) EEEBER -

(1) Wholly-foreign-owned enterprise (1) INEBE R

@) Sino-foreign equity joint venture @) RN BEE

©) Limited liability company invested by foreign invested enterprises (€) SN EBREE AR

(4) Limited liability company (4) BREFEAR]

(c) These subsidiaries were disposed by the Group in 2014.

ZEHBRAIN 2014 FHAKREHE -
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 23. RIIB A TIRRE (18)
(CONTINUED)

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-controlling A E SRS ANEE B A TS
interests are set out below: HT -
Percentage of equity interest held by non-controlling interests: IR R R DL ¢
2014 2013
2014 % 20134
Zhejiang Zhong An Sheng Long IR EEEER AT
Commercial Co., Ltd. 532130 Immaterial 10%
(“Zhong An Sheng Long”) FEKX
Hangzhou Zheng Jiang Real Estate mINEIEHERZEERAT
Development Co., Ltd. ([HMIET D) Immaterial 7.5%
(“Hangzhou Zheng Jiang”) FEKX
China New City Commercial PR ERERA A 26.9% N/A
Development Limited (‘CNC?”) ([T ) TEA
Accumulated balances of non-controlling interests at the reporting RS B EAIEE A = RAT 45 5% ¢
dates:
2014 2013
2014 % 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT
Zhong An Sheng Long RREE 500,053 147,125
Hangzhou Zheng Jiang LN IET 89,826 24,596
Profit for the year allocated to non-controlling interests: FRADIRTIFERERARF] -
2014 2013
2014 % 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT
Zhong An Sheng Long ML B E (3,621) 4,752
Hangzhou Zheng Jiang N ET (16,449) 22,312
Bt 5T

TNER 2013 HARM AR -
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 23. RIEBATIRKRE (&)

(CONTINUED)
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of TREIA LB RRNTTEELEE - FT
the above subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed are before any inter- WERHSREANMEM A RIBEHEAT 2 S5

company eliminations:

CNC
BT T
2014 RMB’000
2014 AR¥T
Revenue ON 208,853
Changes in fair value of WEMEN R EEE
investment properties 689,984
Total expenses M 4a%E (436,333)
Profit for the year & A A 462,504
Total comprehensive income for the year FA 2 E W 4258 464,706
Current assets mENEE 2,530,083
Non-current assets EmBEE 7,513,738
Current liabilities mENEE (2,629,837)
Non-current liabilities EmMBEE (2,956,560)
Net cash flows used in operating activities & EBEALIB S REFHAE (1,213,759)
Net cash flows used in investing activites & EEFERIR S REFE (96,579)
Net cash flows from financing activities MEEDEARSRE TR 1,809,404

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 8% I8 & Z(E Y16 HnF 58 499,066
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 23. RIIB A TIRRE (18)
(CONTINUED)

Zhong An Hangzhou
Sheng Long Zheng Jiang
RLBRE MU IET
2013 RMB’000 RMB’000
20134 ARETT ARETT
Revenue WA 36,074 782,917
Fair value gain upon transfer to HEREIEYER
investment properties A EERE - 256,292
Changes in fair value of REMER
investment properties DR EEEE) 54,900 1,400
Total expenses Fsz %8 (43,453) (743,114)
Profit for the year F A 47,521 297,495
Total comprehensive income for the year  FAZMEIEE 4258 47,521 297,495
Current assets MENEE 1,968,568 1,229,136
Non-current assets JEMBNEE 2,917,820 393,574
Current liabilities mENEE (3,046,122) (629,339)
Non-current liabilities ERBAG (369,017) (665,423)
Net cash flows from operating activities BEEEERSNEFE 60,560 146,384
Net cash flows used in investing activites & & EEFEAE S REFHE - (494)
Net cash flows used in financing activites B & EENFEAE S REFHE - (161,000)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRRSEFEY
cash equivalents i ORidb) F5 60,560 (15,110)
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24.

25

26.

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD
FOR SALE

24.

B CERYE

2014 2013

2014 % 20134

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETT

Carrying amount at 1 January ©®1 A1 BZEREE 4,386,355 4,055,476
Transfer from properties i E AP (i 16)

under development (note 16) 1,056,146 1,935,333

Transfer to investment properties (note 15) B =R EW % (MizE15) - (126,808)

Transfer to cost of properties sold (note 6) &%= & HE W EAA (FizE6) (1,103,320) (1,477,646)

Carrying amount at 31 December K12 A 31 B ZEREE 4,339,181 4,386,355

As at 31 December 2014, certain of the Group’s completed
properties held for sale of RMB2,160,113,000 (2013:
RMB1,841,098,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings granted to the Group as disclosed in note
32(iv).

EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

25.

201412 31 H @ AEEE T H1EH
BEEEXKMER AK®2160,113,0007T
(20134 : AR 1,841,098,0007T) » LNFf
32V TR - BEEAR TASE SR
FTER R H M SRR o

Listed equity investments, at market value FH#EHIRE @ IHHE

The above equity investments at 31 December 2014 were classified
as held for trading and were, upon initial recognition, designated by
the Group as financial assets as at fair value through profit or loss.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly lease
receivables on credit. The credit period is generally one month,
extending up to three months for major customers. All balances of
the trade receivables as at the end of the year were neither past due
nor impaired and aged within one to three months.

Trade and bills receivables are non-interesting-bearing and
unsecured.

26.

UaREENEARSEH
FFAERIRENERIRE

2014 2013

2014 F 20134

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETTT

815 1,077

iR IRE R 2014F 12 A 31 BB AR
EEZURENIERE - AEBERKES
BUIAARBEEBESE A PEEN
SREE -

BN 38 55 Rk B TR 4

AEBEARPIIVNEZIEREIEREE
MERWTR - EEM—RA—EA - 5iE
ERFMes&ZERE=(EA - BKE SR
RERBERFRAMASRBSRAHHRE
ARk A—==MEA -

EWE SHERARRR AR L MELR -
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27. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES

27. i - e RHEtER
®IR

Group Company
REH RATF

2014 2013 2014 2013
2014 £ 20134 2014 5 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AREFTT AR¥TT ARETT
Due from other related parties ~ FEUCEL 4th B 5 7k 18 (@) 2,397 2,397 - =
Advance to suppliers L ERTE R 33,589 12,560 - 8
Deposits e 52,367 52,963 11,556 -
Prepaid other tax A E AL FTE 196,004 109,696 - =
Other receivables H A fEUGRIE 211,654 126,354 41 557
496,011 303,970 11,597 565
Impairment TIE (b) (62,966) (62,966) - -
433,045 241,004 11,597 565
(@) As at 31 December 2014 and 2013, all of the other receivables due from (@) HR2014FE 2013412 A31 H * FraEU R

related parties are due from a non-controlling shareholder.

(b) Included in the above provision for impairment of other receivables is a full (o)

provision for individually impaired other receivables of RMB62,966,000 with

a carrying amount before provision of RMB62,966,000 as at 31 December

2014.

B 77 Bt SRR A FE MR SR AR ASR R

EEHE fh ECR IR R E R ERERERR
BB B L fih B R IR 1 I ) 2 BB A RIS
62,966,000 7T * 1M & 5T 4 & A &) B B E »
2014412 A 31 A A AR 62,966,0007T °
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28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2. 5@ RBESEFERMEZR
AND RESTRICTED CASH Hl 5 &

Group Company
rEH AT
2014 2013 2014 2013

2014 5 20134 2014 & 20134
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AR¥TT ARETT

Cash and bank balances IR & MIRT T #R 1,255,691 1,345,954 2,322 88,091
Time deposits TEHFR 333,738 286,493 - =

1,589,429 1,632,447 2,322 88,091
Less: Restricted cash B ZREHE S (620,123)  (397,472) - =
Cash and cash equivalents He NIREEEY 969,306 1,234,975 2,322 88,091
Current assets MENEE 620,123 301,722 - =
Non-current assets IEREEE - 95,750 - =
Restricted cash SZPR HI38 & 620,123 397,472 - =

Cash at banks eans interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between one day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective
short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and restricted
cash are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

Pursuant to relevant regulations in the PRC, certain property
development companies of the Group are required to place in
designated bank accounts certain amounts of pre-sale proceeds of
properties as guarantee deposits for the construction of the related
properties. The deposits can be used for purchases of construction
materials and payments of the construction fees of the relevant
property projects when approval from relevant local government
authorities is obtained. As at 31 December 2014, such guarantee
deposits amounted to approximately RMB258,816,000 (2013:
RMB110,979,000).

RITERERIRIT B B RHEE R LB R
B EHERFERA—RE=(AATZHH
ROSAEBNENRIRSFRME) - RIED
[FIR R HIE BRI G B - RITARER R
IR FIER S F MU T A 8 KR SE 1 (58
RIFZRAT -

BRI BBEER - NEEMNE TYERR
A EZERFTIREN R A T8 & BT S sUBE RR
EERITERP - {ERBBEMERERMNERIEZ
© o EESIERE IR I PI MR ER - IR
{27 AP IE BRI 2ETE B SR K
SEEER - K2014F12A318 © %
ERIZSH A AR 258,816,000 7T (2013
F: AR#110,979,0007T) °
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28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2. 5ERBEFRMEZR
AND RESTRICTED CASH HRE ()
(CONTINUED)
As at 31 December 2014, certain of the Group’s current time MR2014F12 A31 B » NEBEHE TRIEE
deposits of RMB41,355,000 (2013: RMB38,743,000) were pledged HATE AR5 41,355,000 7T (2013 4F : AR
to banks as guarantees to mortgage facilities granted to purchasers #38,743,0007T) B IR FIRTT - IEAARE
of the Group’s properties. EVMEERERIZBERNER -
As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s non-current time deposits 201412 A31 B » Ak E32(v) BT #
of nil (2013: RMB95,750,000) were pledged to secure a long-term B AN I A IERN AR E BATE s (2013 4F ¢
interest-bearing bank loans and certain of the Group’s current time AR#¥95,750,0007T) BEEHEA » LEUEAR
deposits of RMB319,952,000 (2013: RMB152,000,000), were EREREHTERITERME TAEE
pledged to secure a short-term interest-bearing bank loans granted BIHAE HATF ;A R #5 319,952,000 7T (2013
to the Group as disclosed in note 32(v). £ : 152,000,000) B fE#H I - AEUB A S

B E Rt RERTTE R »
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29. TRADE PAYABLES 29. FEf 88 AR
An aged analysis of the Group’s trade payables as at the end of the REEFENB SRR RS BARIZ 2 A
reporting period, based on the payment due dates, is as follows: HErEHREEDITIT ¢
2014 2013
2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT
Within six months ~NMERAR 1,578,817 1,544,719
Over six months but within one year HxRNEAE—FR 152,400 190,125
Over one year BiE—F 53,492 59,377
1,784,709 1,794,221
The above balances are unsecured and interest-free and are iR T EEIR R R B R IR EREE
normally settled based on the progress of construction. R o

30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 30. HftFEfI IR ERT B H

Group Company
AEH AT
2014 2013 2014 2013

2014 F 20134 2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETIT ARETRT ARETT

Deposits related to construction & B ENL S 110,038 64,818 - =
Payables for acquisition of TLULEEFT B A R RS U RIR

subsidiaries 22,056 22,056 - -
Interest expenses accrued FEEFI SRS 13,642 13,275 - =
Due to a non-controlling FEAS FEFE AR AR SR Y SRR

shareholder 264,720 274,694 - 40
Other payables HAh R 1~ FRIE 97,487 120,546 1,166 1,995

507,943 495,389 1,166 2,035
Other payables are unsecured and interest-free. HiENRAEERRRE
31. ADVANCES FROM CUSTOMERS 1. ERMAf®

Advances from customers represent sales proceeds received from EPEMNZERAEBREZE2014F &
buyers in connection with the Group’s pre-sale of properties during 2013%F 12 A 31 B ILFE st FEE W3 MU ER
the year end as at 31 December 2014 and 2013. BRHHEFTSHIA ©

208 Zhong An Real Estate Limited 2014 Annual Report



Notes to Financial Statements

gy s
32. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND 2. MERITERRAMMEBR
OTHER BORROWINGS
2014 2013
2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARET T
Group REE
Current; BER -
Bank loans-secured SRITER—HIEH 1,114,636 195,890
Bank loans-unsecured IRITE R — EIE R 80,000 80,000
Other loans-secured HitwER—HEHR 851,000 560,000
2,045,636 835,890
Non-current: JEBNER :
Bank loans-secured RITER— B IEH 4,420,598 3,769,404
Other loans-secured HivER—HEHF 500,000 851,000
4,920,598 4,620,404
6,966,234 5,456,294
Repayable: AR5 EAREE -
Within one year or on demand —F Rk B R 2,045,636 835,890
Over one year but within two years LR —FEDRRF 615,100 2,130,070
Over two years but within five years ZHMEBELRAE 3,062,498 1,979,334
Over five years FFLAE 1,243,000 511,000
6,966,234 5,456,294
Current liabilities mEaE 2,045,636 835,890
Non-current liabilities SEMEBIAE 4,920,598 4,620,404

REFEERRAT]

—z—mag 209



Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR MR

32. INTEREST-BEARING BANK

AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

Bank and other borrowings bear interest at fixed rates and floating
rates. The Group’s bank and other borrowings bore effective interest
rates ranging as follows:

32.

HERITEREHAMERR

BRITE TR B AR TR B M R A F B
R ARERRITERREMETIZIAT
MEETR

2014 2013
2014 & 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R AR®ETF T

Effective interest rates ERR A%

The carrying amounts of all the Group’s borrowings during the year
were denominated in RMB, Hong Kong dollars and United States
dollars. The denominated amounts at the end of the reporting
periods are as follows:

3.66%-13.00%  3.66%-13.00%

AEBERFAMBERNEEETIAAR
¥ BTTRETTAHE - REME PR ERE
FHESERWT

2014 2013

20145 2013 4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT

RMB loans and borrowings AREERRER 6,666,599 5,200,224
HK$ loans and borrowings BITERRERK 42,604 =
US$ loans and borrowings ETERRER 257,031 256,070
6,966,234 5,456,294
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32. INTEREST-BEARING BANK
AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2014, the Group’s bank and other borrowings were

secured by:

(i)

the Group’s investment properties with a carrying
amount of approximately RMB2,093,990,000 (2013:
RMB1,576,589,000) (note 15);

the Group’s properties under development with a carrying
amount of approximately RMB2,658,731,000 (2013:
RMB2,134,865,000)(note 16);

the Group’s property and equipment with a net carrying
amount of approximately RMB153,682,000 (2013:
RMB31,472,000) (note 14);

the Group’s completed properties of RMB2,160,113,000

(2013: RMB1,841,098,000) (note 24); and

the Group’s time deposits of RMB319,952,000 (20183:
RMB247,750,000) (note 28).

At 31 December 2014, the Group’s borrowings of RMB922,000,000
(2013: RMB1,4983,000,000) were guaranteed by Mr. Shi Zhongan
(note 36(c)).

2. BRHMITERE KGR

(i

o

)

R2014F12 A31 B - ARERTERRHE
L fE R R A T B IR AR AT -

(i

)

R BEREAEL AR 2,093,990,000
JC(20134F : AR¥51,576,589,0007T) K
KA (RE15)

ANEERREAAEL AR 2,658,731,000
TC(20134F : AR¥52,134,865,0007T) K
Y (EE16)

ANEEERRTAFEL A R 153,682,0007T
(20134F : ARMES1,472,0007T) V%
a8t (Rt 14) 5

REBE AR YE AR 2,160,113,000
JC(20134F © A R #1,841,098,000 7T )
(BtzE24) « &

NEE A AR 319,952,000 7T (2013
F . AR¥E247,750,0007T ) KE 1K
(BftzE28) -

R2014F12H31H REE /M AR
922,000,000 7T(20134F : AR¥& 1,493,000,000

7T) Ef

B bR 22 ST A YRR (BIRE36() ©
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33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. &
Shares i 15
2014 2013
2014 F 2013 F
’000 '000
T T
Authorised: ETE
4,000,000,000 (2013: 4,000,000,000 % (2013 4F :
4,000,000,000) ordinary shares 4,000,000,000 %) BAXE(E HK$400,000 HK$400,000
of HK$0.10 each 0108 i) E B 400,000 /& T 400,000 70
Issued and fully paid: BEETRER
2,348,582,400 (2013: 2,348,582,400 f% (2013 FF :
2,367,635,400) ordinary shares 2,367,635,400 %) &R EE RMB220,811 RMB222,319
of HK$0.10 each 01078 TR @A AR¥2208115t AK¥2223197T
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as RARRAZEHE -
follows:
Share
Number of Share premium
shares in issue capital account Total
ERITRHOBE BA  REOORER et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETRT
At 1 January 2013 201341 A1H 2,367,635,400 222,319 2,983,238 3,205,557
2013 movements 2013 F & &) - = = =
At 31 December 2013 and 2013 12 A31H
1 January 2014 &2014%1H1H 2,367,635,400 222,319 2,988,238 3,205,557
Repurchase and cancellation (e oot sH AR D
of shares (19,053,000) (1,508) (16,986) (18,494)
At 31 December 2014 201412 A31H 2,348,582,400 220,811 2,966,252 3,187,063
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include the directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other employees of
the Group, suppliers of goods or services to the Group, customers
of the Group, the Company’s shareholders, third parties, and any
non-controlling shareholder in the Company’s subsidiaries. The
Scheme became effective on 15 May 2009 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from the offer
date.

The initial maximum number of shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all options granted (excluding options which
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme and other
share option schemes of the Group, if any) under the Scheme and
other share option schemes of the Group (if any) must not exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at 15 May 2009,
being the date of approval of the Scheme by the shareholders at the
annual general meeting of the Company. Such maximum number
may however be refreshed at a general meeting of the Company
by shareholders. In addition, no options may be granted under the
Scheme or other share option schemes adopted by the Group (if
any) if the grant of such options will result in the maximum number
of shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted but yet to be exercised under the
Scheme and other share option schemes adopted by the Group
(if any) exceeding 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

34. R Rt &

RNARRN — BB B ([ZAr81]) - A
MANSEEEERNEL BEBINA ERSH
EREEE KR - ZErEMA EKSEE
PRES(BEBIFNTES) RAEE
HiES « mASERESE R RSAHE
& AKENEF ARRMERE =4
LA RS RIS B A BRI AE (A SRR AR AR ER. © 32
2R 2009F5 A 15 BREAR * BIERTT
sEiEskEE] - BRIKHEN B BRE+FAE
B o

ERIEZ T8 R AN B E i AR T 2 (10
BB 2 EERE(TEEREZS
EIRAEEHMEREREI(AF ) KRR
B 5 R BE IR AR ) 1T T o] AR R Je B
TS RERHEE - TREBBAAFRN
200945 A 15 B (AMAR R AR 2 Al iR R 4B
FRE LHEZEIZ BH) BEITRMDA
10% ° AT - BEASZ=RMNEE ATRAQR]
R A FRRRIELER o ttoh - HEE
B AR R G S BURR R R B R AN E
A E b AR AERT 8 (0 ) B BB RAT
(ERIFT A B AR A T T A T AR 3 AT HY
BE NS E BRA A R TRE I TIRAR
30% * RIS AR RS AR M AT &l ok AN S R A
B EL (AR RT 8 (0B ) IR L 2 SRR -
R+ = {6 A #AfE A A AR R BB AR R skt
BT HREEK2HERTNESRMHE
B ' ERAAR RN ERRFEE TR E
1% o fEfalHE — 25 5% H B 8 I R KB A BB AR 8
BRRERAS FEERRAHLE
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 34. BRxiEs B (]8)

(CONTINUED)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of
grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted by the grantee
within 21 days from the date of offer at a consideration of HK$1.00.
The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by
the directors, and commences after a vesting period of one to five
years and ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the
date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of the Scheme, if
earlier.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors,
but may not be less than the highest of:

(i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of offer of the share options;

(i) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s
shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of offer; and

(i)~ the nominal value of a share of the Company.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

BFARRIES TETRABREERE
S 1 S AT B A T ROBRARAE - ZB RS
B IEMITEFRBLE © LEIN - A RAEM
+ =& A B T AR A £ ERR R B FE
WITES - WEEREMHE AN FEME
A& ARE AR B AN A B] AT (] B P B B2 T AR 1D A9
0.1% Sk HAAE (RIEA R AR L B BRI
{E51H) 885,000,000/ 7T » BIZEE LA
RAE FEBREHAE o

ROBRENENREENATE21 AR
A ARRE.00B T - AT KB
EZITEHRESEE YR —E2AF 2R
BHERE - EABREENRMETNER
tHEzBHZABZERB R ARREE
ERE)RL -

BREITEERESERE - BTAHERNI

TR

) ANRBRNABREZL A HERR
Ptz Wi (g

(i) ANRBRMREZRZL AR EZE

EREBR Tz FHRHE - R

(i)  ANREBEARDEOEE

PR B TRAAZEREINERA
B HIREHER -
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 34. MERRAERTE (§8)
(CONTINUED)
The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme FRZETEIE NTARBETEZ BRENT ¢
during the year:
2014 2013
2014 20134
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price of options price  of options
InREF 15 BRE TS BB e
TEE HE 1112 E B
HK$ HKS$
per share ’000 per share ‘000
BRET T4 BRET F15
At 1 January ®W1A1H 1.85 193,874 2.12 120,717
Granted during the year FRERE - - 1.46 78,000
Forfeited during the year F 2L 2.11 (3,401) 2.16 (4,843)
At 31 December K12 A31H 1.85 190,473 1.85 198,874
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options R BAR M AR TTERBAE 2 TT{EE RITE
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: BN -
2014 2014 &
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREHE THEE> 768
’000 per share
T4 =10
78,000 HK$1.46 10 July 2013 to 9 July 2023
1.46 47T 20137 A10BZE2023F7 A9H
71,500 HK$1.85 22 January 2014 to 21 January 2021
1.85%87T 20141 22 H=202141 A21H
40,973 HK$2.58 9 July 2010 to 8 July 2019
2.58 87T 20107 HOBZE201967 A8H
190,473
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

(CONTINUED)

2013

Number of options

34. MEBx st (4&)

Exercise price*

2013 &

Exercise period

BREHE TEE> 1T

’000 per share

T4 =14
78,000 HK$1.46 10 July 2013 to 9 July 2023
1.46 87T 201837 H10 HE 20237 A9H
73,700 HK$1.85 22 January 2014 to 21 January 2021
1.85%87T 20141 H22 HZE 202141 A21H
42174 HK$2.58 9 July 2010 to 8 July 2019
20107 A9HZE 201947 A8H

193,874

* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in case of * BN IT R EEMRRRARETERA T

rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share

capital.

The Group recognised a share option expense of RMB2,207,000
(2013: RMB62,308,000) during the year ended 31 December 2014.

The expected life of the options is the validity of the options
upon grant date and until expiry. It is not necessarily indicative of
the exercise patterns that may occur. The suboptimal exercise
behaviour multiple is applied to the exercise price, and indicates the
stock price at which the holders of the option may exercise prior to
expiration. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome.

AR AR RRANEMARERE) o

AEBPREZE2014512 A31 BILFEHER
BE IS HRE R St A R 2,207,000 7T (2013 £F
AR#62,308,000 TT) °

BRE G FRRREZ A EEERRE
R BRI - BERVIRRARER A 21T
R - RBITEITHEEERRITEER
ERBERER A AR R ERATTE 2 BRRE
1% o TRRERIR 08 IR AR R AR SRR T FEUR AR 2R
B TRV ERERER
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

35

(CONTINUED)

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

As none of share options was exercised during the year, there was
no impact on ordinary shares of the Company, share capital or share
premium.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 190,472,871
share options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in full
of the outstanding share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of 190,472,871
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share
capital of RMB15,242,000 (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 187,610,856 share options outstanding under the Scheme,
which represented approximately 7.99% of the Company’s shares in
issue as at that date.

RESERVES
Group

(@) Share premium

The share premium represents the excess of ordinary shares
paid by the shareholders over their nominal value.

(b)

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the
difference between the aggregate of the nominal value of
the paid-up capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant
to the reorganisation of the Group from 2006 to 2007 for
the purpose of preparation for the listing of the share of the
Company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong, and the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued in exchange therefor. Prior to the incorporation of the
Company, the contributed surplus represented the aggregate
of the normal values of the paid-up capital of the subsidiaries
of the Group.

34.

35.

R HEET B (4F)

R R 2 R A B A A A B
ZAER -

B R R ETTE - RAEBHAR
AEER  BASBRDEEERTE -

RBEBR NRAAIRZTETHE
190,472,87117 FE IR HE M RAT(E » W2 &
MARITEERE 2 EUETTE - AIEARR A
WIRARANEET  HEBUEBEINET
190,472,871 IR A A Rl LB REE AR
#£ 15,242,000 7T 2 BN AS (HIBR 1T E A
Al e

RUENERERERZ B - RARRZAE

T4 187,610,856 10 ERR#E M AR 1T1E - HE
RARRERZ BB BTN K 7.99% °

foti

rEE

(@) BimE
B RERREIN 2 BRRSER
BEEE -

(b) BERBER

REBENEHMBAIERIEE 20065 %
2007 FRBEHEANR RIRMHEBBHR
FiT R i ) AN SR B 1T e AR PR
U BE BT B A Rl A BB B AN (B 4R RE 22
RRBIFTEATIERRIAKIR M EED
ZE o RARRIFEMAMAT - BRA
AR AR BB R BRR R AR E
EEEAE -
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35. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents the additional contribution made
by the shareholders of the Company’s subsidiaries and, in the
case of acquisition of an additional non-controlling interest of a
subsidiary, the difference between the cost of acquisition and
the book value of the non-controlling interest acquired.

Statutory surplus reserve and statutory
reserve fund

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and
the respective articles of association of the PRC group
companies, each of the subsidiaries of the Group that is
domiciled in Mainland China is required to allocate 10% of its
profit after tax, as determined in accordance with the PRC
Accounting Regulations, to the statutory surplus reserve
(the “SSR”) until such reserve reaches 50% of its respective
registered capital.

In addition, certain of the PRC group companies are foreign
investment enterprises which are not subject to the SSR
allocation. According to the relevant PRC regulations
applicable to foreign investment enterprises, each of these
subsidiaries is required to allocate a certain portion (not less
than 10%) of its profit after tax, as determined in accordance
with the PRC Accounting Regulations, to the statutory reserve
fund until such reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital.

35. fitifi (#8)

(c)

(d)

&N

RA IR AR BB R R BR R
HERIMNE B R E R B A FR
SMNIFFRARRAE - WRB RN AR AT RE IE
PR A R AR HOZHR

EEBBRABREEERS

RIBFEARDERTEEERRS B
HAEBEIZAA - AR E AR A
SES M B R RARB ERBIE B
B10% (RIBEFE G EREE) =
EEBBAB(DEERKATE]D
HEERALREEAZAEMERN
50% °

BEAN - ARETHREEERRRINE
X WHABRNEEAERBARE -
REBEBEARINERFENA BHEDX
R ZEMBARSARETE S
ERIFFEE MR RN BENE TS
(TIR10%) BELZELEBE  BEE
IR E R B M E R H) 50% °
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35. RESERVES (CONTINUED) 35. & (#8)
Company RAF
Retained
Share Exchange profit/ Share
premium fluctuation (accumulated option
account reserve losses) reserve Total
30 EX REIE/ BRI
BBk REEE  (REER) it @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETE ARETR AREKTE ARETE
At 1 January 2013 2013%F1 R 1H 2,983,238 (468,125) (123,619) 99,839 2,491,333
Total comprehensive FAZAEERESE
loss for the year - (74,657) (82,396) - (157,053)
Equity-settled share s EREL b
option arrangements = = = 62,308 62,308
Transfer of share option REERER K
reserve upon the o i e B
forfeiture or expiry FElRERE
of share options — = 4,440 (4,440 =
Proposed final 2013 dividend B 2013 FE RN R - - (42,617) - (42,617)
At 31 December 2013 R20134%12A31H
and 1 January 2014 %2014 1818 2,983,238 (542,782) (244,192 157,707 2,353,971
Total comprehensive FREEEREE
loss for the year - 11,742 (20,439) - (8,697)
Equity-settled share g SRR
option arrangements - - - 2,207 2,207
Repurchase A (16,986) - - - (16,986)
Transfer of share option REERREZ K
reserve upon the o R R
forfeiture or expiry R
of share options - - 3,589 (3,589) -
At 31 December 2014 2014%12A31H 2,966,252 (531,040) (261,042) 156,325 2,330,495
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances detailed elsewhere in

these consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following

36. ABEG X 5

BRI A SIS IRR TR BB R R 5 R AEERSD -
AEBRNERNERBB T ETT THIEAR

material transactions with related parties during the year: 2 :

(8 Compensation of key management personnel of the Group @ AEEXZEEEABNFM(EREE
which comprises the remuneration of the directors disclosed M) ERMITES HEE o
in note 8.

(o) As disclosed in note 21, the Group provided loans to (o) AR PTHEER - AREE R 201445
Jiangsu Jiarun Real Estate Co., Ltd. with an amount of MItaEEXEARARREAR
RMB390,931,000 for an annual interest rate of 9% (2013: nil) # 390,931,000 TR E R « FF &5
in 2014 with no fixed repayment terms. 9% + fEEEERAN (20134 : &) »

() As disclosed in note 27, the Group had balances due from ) WBIFE27 ATIEEE - 72014 F % 2013
related parties at 31 December 2014 and 2013. The balances F12 8318 » ANEE A EKEE S 4
due from related parties were arising from non-trade activities, B o FEUNEERSE T AR FEAZ BB M
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. EHE - DEER SERREREE

i o

(d As disclosed in note 32, the Group’s borrowings of @) WAFTEES2PTHEER - 120144512 A 31
RMB922,000,000 (2013: RMB1,493,000,000) were B - NEEMEFKARE 922,000,000
guaranteed by Mr. Shi Zhongan at 31 December 2014. T0(20184 : AR#1,493,000,0007T)

FRHEAR &5 A TR o
37. COMMITMENTS 37. BFKiE

The Group had the following commitments for property development RIERR - AEEREHERE T HAE

expenditure at the end of the reporting period: RAEFEAT
2014 2013
2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETFT

Contracted, but not provided for: EHESEESEH

Properties under development FEER Y 2,071,415 1,723,747
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38. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 38. {§ & & &ik
As lessor fEREBAA
The Group leases out its investment properties under operating AEBREBELEHETHHEAEIEEYE
lease arrangements on terms ranging from one to fifteen years and MENF—Z=+RF - WrEERIEAR
with an option for renewal after the expiry dates, at which time all BEEHNEEEEMER NEZIFHE -

terms will be renegotiated.
201412 31 B - AEERFHEEMES

At 31 December 2014, the Group had total future minimum lease RIS )R] RESR A S THE A 51 B R 2 Ef
receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants 7 B RIREWRFEEFRBRELNT ¢

falling due as follows:

2014 2013
2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREET T

Within one year —FR 89,626 70,284
In the second to fifth years, inclusive FE_EZFRF(ERMEBEBEN) 231,585 150,111
After five years AFE 74,765 46,301

395,976 266,696
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38. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
(CONTINUED)

As lessee

The Group leases certain of its office premises under operating
lease arrangements, negotiated for terms of five years with an option
for renewal after the expiry dates, at which time all terms will be
renegotiated.

At 31 December 2014, the Group had total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as

38. {EEHE&E (|)

EREBEA

AEEREREHERHHREETRAR
W - HBKHERAHRSE - WALERERE
HIRRESHER 2GRN TERIEE -

R2014512 A31 H @ REERE A
RETAEMN THIEAR 2 B 14 KK ER
FEFIB@ENT

follows:
2014 2013
2014 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Within one year —FR 6,646 6,172
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EFRAF(HEMFEBEEN) 15,659 15,096
After five years hFE 24,222 27,966
46,527 49,234
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39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 39.XFAR

B ISR R M &

2014 2013
2014 & 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Guarantees given to banks for: BLLATIE B 48 TERITHV IR
Mortgage facilities granted REEYHEERER
to purchasers IRITIRIBE R

of the Group’s properties

The Group provided guarantees in respect of the mortgage
facilities granted by certain banks to the purchasers of the Group’s
properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantee arrangements,
in case of default on mortgage payments by the purchasers,
the Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage
loans together with any accrued interest and penalty owed by the
defaulted purchasers to the banks. The Group is then entitled to take
over the legal titles of the related properties. The Group’s guarantee
periods commence from the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage
loans and end after the execution of individual purchasers’ collateral
agreements.

The Group did not incur any material losses during the reporting
period in respect of the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities
granted to purchasers of the Group’s properties. The directors
consider that in case of default on payments, the net realisable value
of the related properties can cover the repayment of the outstanding
mortgage loans together with any accrued interest and penalty,
and therefore no provision has been made in connection with the
guarantees.

2,520,813 2,094,348

AEERETRITAANEEMENERE L
MIRIBEE H AYER o RIBIERZ PGS -
B REEEREFR - AEEAAER
fﬂﬂ EEERERNG TIZIBER L EH

REIR - AREERAERZBEREDED
Ei?ﬁﬁ&% o AKEMERARKLAREZ
BERAHEEER BRI L ERHHER
1k

RmEH  AEBEYWERAEEYENE R
ER T HIRIBE B IR R M E £ (A
BEAEE - EFRR - MHEREERNB
S R EN R BIRHE R N EER TR
BIBESR A B R ER - E I Z
FRRIELRE
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

40. LIRS em T R

ERERTARREMRNREENT

2014 Group 2014 REH
Financial assets SREE
Financial
assets
at fair value
Available- through
for-sale profit or loss
Loans and financial ~ UAAEE
receivables assets FTEAHZFH
EXR AHEE FAEHER Total
ElkE SREE  HWEREE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETR AR¥Tz  AR®Tx
Available-for-sale investments AfHERE - 3,300 - 3,300
Long term deposit REEX 62,365 - - 62,365
Loans and receivables from joint ventures ~ JRE—HASMCERNET K EMFIE 420,700 - - 420,700
Trade and bills receivables W E BEFRER 16,954 - - 16,954
Financial assets included in prepayments, st ATERTFUE - 124 R E
deposits and other receivables FUFEFMEREE 203,452 - - 203,452
Equity investments at fair value NARAEEFTEAEES)
profit or loss STAE BB R - - 815 815
Restricted cash X IR & 620,123 - - 620,123
Cash and cash equivalents ReRALEEY 969,306 - - 969,306
At 31 December 2014 2014512 A31H 2,292,900 3,300 815 2,297,015
Financial liabilities SREE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

RIS AT

SREE

RMB’000

ARET T

Trade payables FERTE SR 1,784,709

Financial liabilities included in ST AE MR FRIE K&

other payables and accruals A ERTHEHEE 487,015
Interest-bearing bank and FHESRITER M EAMER

other borrowings 6,966,234

9,237,958
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% e
40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 0.l EndsmemI A
CATEGORY (CONTINUED) (48)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial EHeMTARREHROEREBEWT -
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (%)
(continued)
2013 Group 2013 rEE
Financial assets SMEE
Financial
assets
at fair value
through
Available-  profit or loss
Loans and forsae  WAAREE
receivables financial assets  sTEEH&F)
ERR e  FAEDER Total
[EWFE SREE HEmEE Bt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRE  ARBTLT ARBTT ARETR

Available-for-sale investments HHERE - 3,300 - 3,300
Long term deposit REER 35,984 = = 35,984
Trade and bills receivables B E SRR 22,980 - - 22,980
Financial assets included in prepayments,  sT ATERZUE « & R EA

deposits and other receivables EYGIER S REE 118,748 - - 118,748
Equity investments at fair value NARBETEAEE

profit or loss AR BiERnEREE - = 1,077 1,077
Restricted cash XBHERE 397,472 - - 397,472
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEN 1,234,975 - = 1,234,975
At 31 December 2013 201312 A31H 1,810,159 3,300 1,077 1,814,536
Financial liabilities SWMasE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

birg: 3Dz

CRARE

RMB’000

ARETTT

Trade payables JES B SRR 1,794,221

Financial liabilities included in ST AEL A AT IR K2

other payables and accruals st ERTHSRE E 452,966
Interest-bearing bank and FHESRITTER R EAE K

other borrowings 5,456,294

7,703,481

mrEEERAR 2 —Z-pmEs 225



Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR MR

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 40.LBHNEsMmERIR

CATEGORY (CONTINUED) ($8)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial EHeMTARNBEHROEREWT -
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (%)

(continued)

2014 Company 2014 F RKATF

Financial assets SREE

Financial assets

at fair value
through
profit or loss
Loans and DA REE
receivables STEREHEEE
I-¢7954 sTAEHER Total
P RIE HemEE #st
Financial assets included in sEAFER R - 1E
prepayments, deposits and R HoAth R IE AR
other receivables BB R & 11,597 - 11,597
Amounts due from subsidiaries LR BT B A Bl kI8 364,031 - 364,031
Equity investments at fair value AR EEZREEE
through profit or loss FTAE R EaERRE - 815 815
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMIREEEY 2,322 - 2,322
377,950 815 378,765
Financial liabilities cREE
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
R A
o= =R
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Financial liabilities included in ST AEL AP FRIE K
other payables and accruals ErrERATHEmEaE 1,166
Amounts due to subsidiaries AR EPNGIE e 255,118
256,284
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY (CONTINUED)

40.LEMNBSHENIR

=
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial EHeMTARNREHRNOEREWT -
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (%)
(continued)
2013 Company 2013 &F RATF
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets
at fair value
through
profit or loss
Loans and ARAAEE
receivables TERHS
ERK T AE HiEs Total
JFEURIE HEmEE RET
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT ARET T
Financial assets included in FPATERRIE - &e
prepayments, deposits and T B FE I R IB AR
other receivables HeREE 565 - 565
Amounts due from subsidiaries Dy ENEIE ez 1,830,798 - 1,830,798
Equity investments at fair value A AR EEZ R EEE
through profit or loss STAEB R RHERIRE - 1,077 1,077
Cash and cash equivalents ReERRESEEY 88,091 - 88,091
1,919,454 1,077 1,920,531
Financial liabilities SREE
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
R R AN
TRIAE
RMB’000
ARETTT
Financial liabilities included in ST ARt FE T RIE &
other payables and accruals EEtERFRNERAE 2,035
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN DEINEIE e 187,044
189,079
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41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 41. %

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s and the
Company’s financial instruments, other than those with carrying
amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

5>

MITANLARKRER
RRERE

AEERARFEHMTANFRERAAE
BT - EREEREAABEAEEEER
S

Group REH
Carrying amounts Fair values
IREE AREE
2014 2013 2014 2013
2014 % 20134 2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTT AR®BTR AREKETET
Financial liabilities TREE
Interest-bearing bank and ETRIRITE
other borrowings ﬁmﬁ?x 6,966,234 5,456,294 6,797,406 5,265,761
Company NN
Fair values of the Company’s financial instruments approximate to AARERMTANARBEEREEMRES °

the carrying amounts
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41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, the current portion of restricted cash, trade and bills
receivables, loans and receivables from a joint venture, trade
payables, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables, financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals, and amounts due from/to subsidiaries approximate to
their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of
these instruments. The non-current portion of restricted cash, long
term deposit and available-for-sale investments approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the insignificant amount and short
remaining maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices. The fair values of unlisted available-for-sale equity
investments have been estimated using a discounted cash flow
valuation model based on assumptions that are not supported
by observable market prices or rates. The valuation requires the
directors to make estimates about the expected future cash flows
including expected future dividends and proceeds on subsequent
disposal of the shares. The directors believe that the estimated fair
values resulting from the valuation technique, which are recorded
in the consolidated statement of financial position, and the related
changes in fair values, which are recorded in other comprehensive
income, are reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate
values at the end of the reporting period.

MeTAHNLIRARERS

RRESRE (&)

HREEREEFEY  XRVESHRED
o BREZERNFE RE—HeE
EENERRERFOR - BAE SRR - &t
ABRNFOR - Ze R EMEKFIRT SR
BE  FIARMENRIARESERTNE
e B R RN ETH B A R IER B
I MEEERRREFTAAABEREE
FREEARE - XREIRSOERBHD - &
HERRAHE SR EREREERS X
ETHNZETANSRTIEARREHA
FE -

THEERRENAABENZTIARBERE
57 (MIFRETERHE)ERRZH TH
ARZEEAR - THIDERKRRII AR
HRAEIE:

SRRITERRAMERN AR BETER
B TRRBOUSTAENNE - FERR
RHB TR AR RKRSRE M

s
= o
=57

ERREERENAABERTSREEE
FEMAHHERERENRIAEBEERA
AR SR E MEAL RRILE A ERL
MSEBRKAREE - AERRESEE
BRRERE (BREEFARRERERE
ERMEFFERIB) EL b - ERRRMA
ERMERNET AR EERREFHFBR
ARAR) RAABENEBES (REME
R ARR) THE A I R E SRS R &E
EHIA(E
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41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of

the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2014:

5
i
#
o
i

N\,

N EERE

TRITAEE SR TANA R BELEE

BARBETENEE :

R20144F 12 31 H

Fair value measurement using

AABEFEFRALA

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
EDNCIE S E BEARARTA
SRS RE B BEYE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
E—& -t =R et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT ARBTT ARBTR
Equity investments at fair value AR EEERHR
through profit or loss AR HEEN
BRRE 815 - - 815
As at 31 December 2013: R2013%F 12431 H :
Fair value measurement using
RRBENBRATE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
E-WNGIE 28 E-vNal|
AR5 IRE 2R BEaus
(F—#4) (F=#) (F=R) st
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREF T ARETF T ARBTF T
Equity investments at fair value AR EETEAHR
through profit or loss EE A HIERN
BRRE 1,077 - - 1,077

230 Zhong An Real Estate Limited 2014 Annual Report



Notes to Financial Statements

R AR M

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and
trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes. The board of directors review and agree policies
for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below:

(a) Interest rate risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets. The
Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank and other
borrowings with floating interest rates. The Group has not
used any interest rate swaps to hedge its interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to change
in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate
borrowings) and the Group’s equity assuming all increase/
(decrease) are dealt with in profit and loss account, without
consideration of interest capitalization.

42. MEREEE HRREE

FEENSRITATEZEORERS RSB
f’F% ZREINS M ERITERREME

cBUTHMTATIBANAAEEZES
‘iéé cAKEHEREMEREERAE
I E SR RENE SRR - RE&K
MHEEESL

AEE SR T EELN T EE R 2N KR
% SNERR - FEERBRIREE SRR o
AEETERERBITIESRMTAEER
Rz - AT REFERNYRSZEE LT
TREREBRBE

(a) FEER

AEBAYJBERFEEE - AEEH
T 45 ) % o 4 Fﬁﬁkxé’]ﬂ&}%ﬁi
AEEWTERITERREMERE
B e ﬂi‘i.*ﬁﬁﬁﬁfiﬁﬂ—?—?ﬁ,ﬁﬂﬁ
HREMEER -

TRIGAEEET - FBFEFE
BENFE - NREBERBATFERA
& B U E(Fﬁﬁﬁ’r@l%ﬁ%
HAE IHRAAEMCRD
MNERREE HT%F@%UE%K
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

2. HERREEERRKE

(#8

(CONTINUED)
(a) Interest rate risk (continued) (a) FIREBE ()
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity
BEEhem R A0 A 7 e,
Om2) R G2
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT AREBT T
2014 2014 F
RMB AREE 50 (33,333) (25,000)
uss$ =S 50 (1,285) (964)
HK$ BT 50 (213) (160)
RMB AR (50) 33,333 25,000
us$ ETT (50) 1,285 964
HK$ BT (50) 213 160
2013 20134
RMB AREE 50 (26,013) (19,510)
uss ETT 50 (1,280) (960)
RMB AR (50) 26,013 19,510
uss$ ETT (50) 1,280 960
(b) Foreign currency risk (b) Hh¥E R B

The Group’s businesses are located in Mainland China and
all transactions are conducted in RMB. Most of the Group’s
assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB, except for
certain bank balances and bank loans denominated in US$

and HK$.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
US$ and HK$ exchange rates, with all other variables hold
constant, of the Group profit before tax and the Group’s

equity.

REBREE 2 AT BEAMETT -
MEBERZHRBARE - REE KA
DEERBBEUAREE  &TMN
ELRBTTAHERSRITESRRRITE

RSN

TRIVRAEEBRTBATFE R ASE
BaERNRERREXTRBTEERS
R RE BB BRIE - MEPTA B AR AT

BERERSTE -

232 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

2014 Annual Report



Notes to Financial Statements

B R R B =
42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 2 BWHERBREEARRBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (¥8)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Foreign currency risk (continued) (b) MNP (%)
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) Increase/
foreign in profit (decrease)
currency rate before tax in equity
SEER RRBE 51 A HEm
£, Gfd) #im, ORd) i, ORd)
% RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
2014 2014 5§
If HK$ weakens against US$ ik T H R (E 5 (15,844) (11,883)
If HK$ strengthens against US$  fi#/57T X E L HHE (5) 15,844 11,883
If RMB weakens i AR ¥ B E Tz E
against the US$ 5 3 2
If RMB strengthens i AR A ETTAHE
against the US$ 5) ) (2
2013 20134
If HK$ weakens against US$ fiw BT 2T A 5 (14,767) (11,075)
If HK$ strengthens against US$  fi#/8 7T i E T HHE (5) 14,767 11,075
If RMB weakens i AR HE TR E
against the US$ 5 1,888 1,416
If RMB strengthens fig ABRHE W 2T HHE
against the US$ (5) (1,888) (1,416)
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk

The Group has no concentration of credit risk. The Group’s
cash and cash equivalents are mainly deposited with
overseas banks and state-owned banks in Mainland China.
The carrying amounts of the other receivables, loans and
receivables from a joint venture restricted cash and cash and
cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of
financial position represent the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk in relation to its financial assets. The Group has
no other financial assets which carry significant exposure to
credit risk. The Group has arranged bank financing for certain
purchasers of its property units and has provided guarantees
to secure the obligations of such purchasers for repayments.
Detailed disclosures of these guarantees are made in note 39.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets
(e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows from
operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank and
other borrowings.

2. HERREEERRKE

(#8

(c)

(d)

EERRE

AEBEYEETHEERR - A%E
MR RAESEENTIBRTFRES
HMRAT R B At B & SRITEN AT 3K
B B SRS ZR R AT 51 ) EL fth 8 UK
B RE—BEEEENERRER
FE - XRVBeRASRRSEE
YRR ESANEENESREEMN
EENESEERR o AKE LM
TEAGFERBRNEGMSREE - K
SEARHEETHEEMNERLY
RITRELIREERAREERNE
REE  BAZSEROFARESR
TAPIRES9 °

RBE SRR

AEERBRFERBDESTETA
EREESRBRAR ZTAZEH
SRTARSREE (NEEKE SR
) ME B RERREEEE 2R
BEE i

AL B B 5B BRI ST R
B BRESTEN RTINS
BT -
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(d) Liquidity risk (continued)

2. HERREEERRKE

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at

the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

(¥

(d) REBESER(HE)

RIBFTHWARBIRNT - "EEERE
ERIREHARNIIE AT -

Group RE
2014
2014%
Less than 3 to less than 1to5 Over
On demand 3months 12 months years 5 years Total
3fEAZE
RER  SH3EA  DHR12f8A 1E5% 55 @zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®TR ARBTR ARBTT ARETR AR¥TR
Interest-bearing bank SERITER
and other borrowings REMER - 1,128,636 917,000 4,294,972 625626 6,966,234
Interest payable in relation  ARARITREME
to bank and other RS
borrowings - 130,952 414,437 522,159 104546 1,172,004
Trade payables EREZER 1,784,709 - - - - 1,784,709
Guarantees given to FETAEEYE
banks in connection BEXNEBER
with mortgage BTHRITMER
facilities granted to
purchasers of the
Group’s properties - 2,130,171 - 390,642 - 2,520,813
Other payables H A E(IFE
and accruals REEGHER 200,239 - - 286,776 - 487,015
1,984,948 3,389,759 1,331,437 5,494,549 730,172 12,930,865
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(d) Liquidity risk (continued)

2. HERREEERRKE

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at

the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual

=

(d) RBEER(E)

REBFTORFTAMNK > AEE SR
BENRERRNEHBERIOT -

undiscounted payments, is as follows (continued): (&)
Group ANEEEF
2013
20135
Lessthan 3 to less than 1105 Over
On demand 3months 12 months years 5 years Total
3EAZE
w2k SW3EA SR12EA 1255 5FLLE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETE ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Interest-bearing bank FTERITER
and other borrowings  REAb{ER - - 835890 4,109,404 511,000 5,456,204
Interest payable in relation A RISR1T R A AR
to bank and other HIREIRS
borrowings = 113,146 321,244 591,630 108,727 1,134,747
Trade payables FEHE IR 1,794,221 = = = - 1,794,221
Guarantees given to PR TASEDE
banks in connection BEXMIRIBER
with mortgage BT RTAER
facilities granted to
purchasers of the
Group’s properties - 1,835,358 - 258,990 - 2,094,348
Other payables Hit (I
and accruals RIE &R 178,273 - - 274,693 - 452,966
1,972,494 1,948,504 1,157,134 5,234,717 619,727 10,932,576
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 2 BWHERBREEARRBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (§8)
(CONTINUED)
(d) Liquidity risk (continued) (d) REBEEERER (&)
The maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities as RIBFTHORMIRER  AEBES@E
at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual BERIREERN BB BRI T (8):
undiscounted payments, is as follows (continued):
Company VN |
2014
20144
Less than 3 to less than 1to5 Over
Ondemand 3 months 12 months years 5years Total
3ERZE
BER  DSH3EA S12{8A 1255 5FEHE @t

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETRT ARBTT ARKTR AR®TR AR®TRT ARETZR

Due to subsidiaries FEf Kt B A AR 255,118 - - - - 255,118
Other payables HibE{I5RE

and accruals RIE B 1,166 - - - - 1,166

256,284 - - - - 256,284

2013
20136
Less than 3 to less than 1t05 Over
On demand 3months 12 months years 5 years Total
EAZE
BER  LR3EA PR12MEA 1E5%F 5FME 5t

RVB'O00 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETE ARETR ARETT ARETR

Due to subsidiaries ERIB A RFUE 187,044 - - - - 187,044

Other payables HAE(I5RE
and accruals RIEFER 2,035 - - - - 2,035
189,079 - - - - 189,079
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(e) Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade payables,
other payables and the accruals, less cash and cash
equivalents. Capital represents equity attributable to owners
of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the end of each of the
reporting periods were as follows:

42, ?ﬁ%ﬁll‘ﬁ’é‘ﬁﬁ%&l’&%

() EXEHE

AEEEREENTIEBNEERE
REERAFELERBFERNE
ALE  AXBEEBRERREE
RAE °

AEEBTEEBARERE - WRKRLE
AR 5L B % B) T AR B & B A BB R
HEEHFE - BEFARERE
1 ANEBE R R AR T TR AR
B #BERRETRRERETHR
1 o BEiZE2014F % 2013512 H31 H
LEFE  NEEMERERNEENE
2 BERSRF R EE -

AEBEREERBLXREREER
HZEERBLRBFEARABEAM
FEE - FERBEBRITERL
HiER - BN E SRR RE RN
FIREEEER  BRERREEE
Yo BRTIBRBBIREGER -
BEREMRNEERBLENT ¢
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 42 MERIEERB KRR BUE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES B
(CONTINUED)
(e) Capital management (continued) (e) EXRER
Group AEE
2014 2013
2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTR ARETTT
Interest-bearing bank and TESRITER R EMER
other borrowings 6,966,234 5,456,294
Trade payables JE B SRR 1,784,709 1,794,221
Other payables and accruals H A B R IERTE A 507,943 495,389
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B REeRIReEEY (969,306) (1,234,975)
Net debt JREIE 8,289,580 6,510,929
Equity attributable to BAREE AEGER
owners of the parent 6,002,548 5,886,902
Capital and net debt B AN FEER 14,292,128 12,397,831
Gearing ratio BEAMELEX 58% 53%
43. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 43. MR TR

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by

the board of directors on 24 March 2015.

ZEEEMN20154F 3 A 24 B BB BERERD
=4 IR T E o
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Properties Held for Investment

FHERENY=

As at 31 December 2014 742014412 531 H

Percentage
of interest
Existing use at GFA attributable to Lease term
31 December 2014 (sq- m.) the Group of land
Address M 2014 F EEEE AEEENG fuk: :4: O i
ik 12A31BNRERAZE (FHXK) HEENEIEL HHR
1. Basement 1 to Level 15, Guomao Building, Shops and portion 12,225 59.2% Medium (Note)
No. 93 Shixin Road, Chengxiang Town, of it is vacant,
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang and serviced
Province, the PRC apartments
FETIEMMNMARILRBRERET UMK O35 AMMBH=ERER 12225  59.2% o 8 (BEE)
BIBEREME1EEE15/E BARE
2. A retail shop unit on L1, Shanghai La Vie, No. Shop 341 65.8% Medium
433 Chang Le Road, Xuhui District, Shanghai,
the PRC
hE DETIRER R 4335 RN & 341 65.8% R
E1EH 1 EREH
3. Portion of Level 1, the whole of Level 2 to Shops and portion of 5,913 65.8% Medium
Level 4, Integrated Service Center, East it is vacant
Xiaoran Road and Jinjiagiao Road, Xiaoshan
District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the
PRC
REUINIEMMTRILERARBEEERE BENHO=E 5,913 65.8% HEf
AR R OE1EHOME2EE4[E
4. Retail shop units of Level 1 to Level 5 in Shops and portion of 60,014 65.8% Medium
Block 2 to Block 5 of Highlong Plaza, Shanyin it is vacant
Road and Gongren Road, Xiaoshan District,
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the PRC
HEMDT AT LRILBEMTARE EHNFO=E 60,014  65.8% H
BESFE2REFELMZE 1 EE 5 ERIEH
5. Office units in Block 2 of Highlong Plaza, Office and portion of 24,491 65.8% Medium
Shanyin Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, it is vacant
Zhejiang Province, the PRC
RBUINIEMMTRILRILBKRERESSE HABNMBHEE 24,491 65.8% Ef
2R Z P NIE (L
o. Serviced apartment units in Block 3 and 4 of ~ Serviced apartments 21,094 65.8% Medium
Highlong Plaza, Shanyin Road and Gongren
Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province, the PRC
HEMDTEMNTRELRILBEMTARE REXLS 21,094  65.8% AR

[EESEIREEIRZBRBALRE
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Properties Held for Investment

FERENYE

As at 31 December 2014 22014412 431 H

Percentage
of interest
Existing use at GFA attributable to Lease term
31 December 2014 (sq. m.) the Group of land
Address M 2014 F EEEE AEEENG ub:oA: O ]
ik 12831 BWREAZE (FHK) EEHEIEE HOBHR
7. Retail shop units of Level 1 to Level 2 (Phase Shops and portion of 10,885 65.8% Medium
1) and the whole block of No.43 commercial it is vacant
building (Phase 2), Landscape Garden,
Shushan Road and Panshui Road, Xiaoshan
District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the
PRC
FREUII A MMM RILES LEFEKEL  EEEHn = 10,885 65.8% apei
IKFBE 1 BAZE 1 E 5 2 [E S ) B 2 HR AR 43
i
8. Retail shop units of Hidden Dragon Bay, Shops and portion of 24,328 67.6% Medium
Wenxing Village, Wenyan Town Xiaoshan it is vacant
District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the
PRC
REANT AN TR L REEEREMNEE e EE 24,328  67.6% h HA
B
9. Blocks 2, 3, 4, and 6 of Hangzhou Vacant 68,550 73.1% Medium
International Office Centre, Ningwei Town,
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province, the PRC
RENT AN TR LR EEERNERE =8 68,550 73.1% rh Hf
RAEN2 3 4R6IR
10. Retail shop units of Level 1 to Level 2 in Phase  Shops and portion of it~ 4,659 100% Medium
| of Vancouver City, Jinhua Yuan, Remin is vacant
Road, Huaibei, Anhui Province, the PRC
PR EEEIETRLEARKRTERE ®HENSO=E" 4,659 100% A
EHFE1RE2EMH

MiaE © REIER ARMTEEERE - SR e AR
Note: Medium is defined as the term of land use rights granted remaining unexpired at the WA ERE IR NRE0F » B NRI0F -
end of the financial year is less than 50 years but not less than 10 years.
i DERIHEHENREME

* Investment property classified as held for sale
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

HERRRNHENYE

% of
Land Cost interest
per sq.m. attributable
(RMB)  Land Cost to the Group Site Area
BERE  (RMB'000) 550 (squm))
Project City/District Location Project Type (AR%T/  LiHERA FEfE R #EER  Project GFA*
EE4R Wi/ B frBER NERENE k) (AE¥TFR) WEA (FhK) BREREER"
Zhejiang Province
HTE
1 Landscape Bay Xiaoshan, Hangzhou  Centre of new districtin -~ Residential 485 145,367 92.6% 215,334 300,012
Ve /& Tier 2 cty [
-
2 Hidden Dragon Bay Xiaoshan, Hangzhou  Centre of new districtin -~ Residential/retail/office 1,491 360,360 67.6% 89,178 241,69
Bii i/ Tier 2 city /55 /B0
ZHamRD
3 Huifeng Plaza (A) Xiaoshan, Hangzhou  Town centre of Tier 2 city  Residential/retail 147 5490 90.0% 13910 37,320
ELESW il /L “BHRTD ftz/ B4
4 Huifeng Plaza (B) Xiaoshan, Hangzhou  Town centre of Tier 2 ¢ty Commerciel 679 8,500 90.0% 11,340 12,520
EEE5B) il /& ISR B%
5 Phase A, International Office ~ Xiaoshan, Hangzhou  Tier 2 city with high growth - Commercial 210 215,246 73.1% 92,610 798,795
Centre UM/l potential [
BRHARLAS “hEER
6 Phase B &G, International Xiaoshan, Hangzhou  Tier 2 cty with high growth - Commercial 458 502,512 73.1% 207,390 1,098,065
Office Centre /Il potential BE
BR#ARLBCH “hEER
7 White Horse Manor Xaoheshan, Tier 2 city with high growth  Residential 2,259 550,000 90.0% 145,265 243,497
BSILE Hangzhou potentia fiE
M/l “hEER
8 Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Run ~ Qiandao Lake, Tier 2 city with high growth  Residential/hotel 4,734 220,747 73.1% 119,328 46,628
Zhou Resort Hotel Hangzhou potential frz/ Bk
IITSHENEREE Wi/ TEH ZhEER
9 loeal Bay Yuhang, Hangzhou ~ Town centre of Tier 2 city  Residential/retail 1,648 834,000 459% 168,743 538,856
ihe i/ & IR ftz/
10 Chaoyang No. 8 Xiaoshan, Hangzhou  Town centre of Tier 2 city  Residential/retall 3,696 736,390  90%/65.8% 46,703 199,224
585 /L SR {F/ma
Subtotal for Hangzhou 1,018 3,578,612 1,099,366 3,516,612
it
11 Dragon Bay Yuyao, Ningbo Town centre of Tier 2 ¢ty Residential 8,892 1,750,013 90.0% 330,135 196,809
i3 B /20 ZHEERD frz
12 Jade Mansion Yuyao, Ningbo Town centre of Tier 2 ity Residential 3,804 1,113,764 93.0% 271,458 292,807
HRne B/ ZRBERD i
13 Zhong An Times Square Yuyao, Ningbo Town centre of Tier 2 city ~ Commercial/hotel 1,154 362,640 65.8% 65,159 305473
(Phase ) B/ 40 AR Hx/EE
TENRES—H
14 Zhong An Times Square Yuyao, Ningbo Town centre of Tier 2 city  Residential/office/hotel 1,030 332,760 93.0/68.0% 71,519 322935
Phase ) B/ R0 IR fte/H0g/BE
TENRESZH
15 Znhong An Landscape Garden,  Cixi, Ningbo Tier 2 city with high growth  Residential/office/ 482 238080  90.0/685.8% 197,655 404,138
Cixi B/ %Z potentia commercia
BERZINGE ZhEER fz/hneg/m%
Subtotal for Ningbo 2,349 3,781,247 935,926 1,612,162
BRG
Subtotal for Zhejiang 1,436 7,365,859 2,035,792 5,128,774
ML

242 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

2014 Annual Report



Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

BERRRHENNE
Land Bank (sq.m.)
LI (FRK)
Development Phases Types
Including GEL REKLE
Total GFA*™  investment Hold for
(sq.m.) properties  Completed for Under future  Residential & Commercial &
Address BREmE Ahaf sale® development? development®  Facilities| Hotel Il Office Ill
it (FAX) REnx BIREY REHC BHAREZ®  fEZRERI EEN EEREAN
Ningwei Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang 107,014 107,014 101,312 5,702
Province
MIATRILEZEE
Wenxing Road, Wenyan Town, Xiaoshan District, 143,067 24328 143,067 115,859 21,208
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province
mLAnNTRILEERARRR
Yucai Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang 37,320 37,320 37,320
Province
HIanNTRILEET %
Yucai Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang 12,520 11,320 12,520 12,520
Province
HLanNTRILEET %
Qianjiang Century Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, 798,795 516,405 328,367° 470428 308,59 101,500 393,700
Zhejiang Province
LanNTRILES TR
Qianjiang Century Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, 1,098,065 998,015 1,098,065 1,098,065
Zhejiang Province
mLanNmRILES TR
Liuhe Road, Xianlin Town, Yuhang District, Hangzhou, 243,497 243,497 237,498 5,999
Zhejiang Province
AT ARER AR
Southwest of Qiandaohu Town, Chunan, Hangzhou, 46,628 23,801 46,628 22821 23,801
Zhejiang Province
MLANNTERT & HEES
Yuhang Economic Development Zone, Hangzhou, 538,856 538,856 522,648 16,208
Zhejiang Province
HIENTANEEREE
Shushan Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang 199,024 199,224 146,192 53,032
Province
mLanNTRILESLEE
3,224,986 1,573,868 578,448 1,028,205 1,618,333 2,585,316 125,301 514,369
Xinjtan North Road, Yuyao, Zhejiang Province 58,386 58,386 58,386
ARG
Xinjian North Road, Yuyao, Zhejiang Province 264,823 77,455 187,368 264,823
ITARNHARLH
Xinjian North Road, Yuyao, Znhejiang Province 305473 132,886 305473 114,671 20,624 170,178
AR5
Xinjtan North Road, Yuyao, Zhejiang Province 322,935 322,935 203,088 71,679 48218
IMIA Rk
Longshan New Town, Binghai District, Cidong, Cix, 494,138 142,965 404,138 351,178 142,965
Zhejiang Province
MIAREER BRRLIA
1,445,755 275,851 135,841 1,309,914 992,091 92,308 361,361
4,670,741 1,849,719 714,289 2,338,119 1,618,333 3,577,407 217,604 875,730
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

BERER RHENYE
% of
Land Cost interest
per sq.m. attributable
(RMB)  Land Cost  to the Group Site Area
BERE  (RMB'000) 550 (squm))
Project City/District Location Project Type (AR%T/  LiHERA FEfE R #EEE  Project GFA*
AR Wi/ B L EEH NEREME k) (AE¥TFR) R (ThHR) BRAREER"
Anhui Province
2HE
16 Phase 1B, Green Harbour Hefel, Anhui Centre of new districtin -~ Residential 266 11,645 84.2% 64,376 43718
REEER1BY 28 /A8 Tier 2 ciy fFE
AL
17 Phase 1C, Green Harbour Hefei, Anhui Centre of new districtin -~ Residential 302 27,356 84.2% 58,728 90,453
BEBEEICH 2/ AR Tier 2 oty [z
i T
18 Phase 2, Green Harbour Hefel, Anhui Centre of new districtin -~ Residential 376 40,708 84.2% 269,000 108,200
BEsESE RH /AR Tier 2 ity [z
&AL
19 Phases 3-6, Green Harbour ~ Hefel, Anhui Centre of new districtin -~ Residential 532 298,100 84.2% 1,395,000 560,300
BEBEZE6H ZH/ A Tier 2 city fiz
ki T
Subtotal for Hefei 4n 377,809 1,787,099 802,671
SRR
20 Phase 1, Vancouver City Huaiei, Anhui Centre of new districtin -~ Residential 35 5809 100.0% 197,000 168,088
RFERE 1S 28/ Tier 3 city =z
@A
21 Phase 2 South, Vancouver City - Huaibel, Anhui Centre of new districtin -~ Residential 3b 3483 100.0% 151,247 100,771
RETEAE 8 2/ Tier 3 iy [z
=R
22 Phase 2 North, Vancouver City - Huaibei, Anhui Centre of new districtin -~ Residential 34 2,554 100.0% 84,330 75,027
B 28/l Tier 3.ty iz
@A
23 Phase 3A, Vancouver City Hualbel, Anhui Centre of new districtin -~ Residential 3 4974 100.0% 139,383 143,941
B ESE AR 2/ Tier 3 iy fiz
=R
24 Phase 38-3D, Vancouver City  Huaibel, Anhui Centre of new districtin -~ Residential 35 10,708 100.0% 214217 309,712
BEFENEBRDE ZH /% Tier 3 city =z
@A
25 Phase 4 North, Vancouver Gity - Huaibel, Anhui Centre of new districtin -~ Residential 35 10,286 100.0% 296,704 297,636
BEFEAEB) 2/ Tier 3 ciy [z
=AD
26 Phase 4 South, Vancouver City - Huaibel, Anhui Centre of new districtin -~ Residential 35 3,863 100.0% 82,540 111,787
BEERE LR ZH/ Tier 3 city iz
@A
21 Phase 5 North, Vancouver City - Huaibel, Anhui Centre of new districtin -~ Residential 3b 2,336 100.0% 265,310 67,607
REFEAES B 2/ Tier 3 ciy iz
=D
28 Phase 5 South, Vancouver City - Huaibel, Anhui Centre of new districtin -~ Residential 3 1,228 100.0% 81,511 35,521
BEEAE R 28/l Tier 3 clty fix
@A
29 Phase 6, Vancouver City Hualbel, Anhui Centre of new districtin -~ Residential 2 1,952 100.0% 35,386 60.808
ATEE0H 2/ Tier 3 iy fiz
=AD
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

BERRR SRHENYE
Land Bank (sq.m.)
TibGEE (TRk)
Development Phases Types
Including GEL REKLE
Total GFA*™  investment Hold for
(sq.m.) properties  Completed for Under future  Residential & Commercial &
Address BREmE Ahaf sale® development? development®  Facilities| Hotel Il Office Ill
it (FAX) REnx RIHE" BER?  GHAREES  AEREEI EEN EEREAN
Landu Road, Baohe District, Hefei, Anhui Province 14,625 14,625 6,598 8,027
TR IRRER
Landu Road, Baohe District, Hefei, Anhui Province 54303 54,303 54303
ZHASET AT RRER
Landu Road, Baohe District, Hefei, Anhui Province 108,200 108,200 108,200
AT IRRER
Landu Road, Baohe District, Hefei, Anhui Province 560,300 560,300 560,300
2R e AT RRER
737,428 68,928 668,500 729,401 8,021
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 4,659 4,659 4,659 4,659
ZHRELTALRARRE
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Hualbel, Anhui Province 8,093 8,093 8,093
REAEIMELEARE
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 10,091 10,091 10,091
ZHRELMALRARRE
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Hualbel, Anhui Province 6,173 6,173 6,173
REARIMELEARE
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 309,712 132,637 177,175 302,061 7,661
ZHRELTALRARRE
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Hualbel, Anhui Province 53,051 53,051 53,051
REARIMELEARE
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 111,787 11,787 11,787
ZHREL AR AR
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Hualbel, Anhui Province 57,606 57,606 57,606
REAEIMELEARE
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 35,021 36,021 35,021
ZHREL AR AR
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Hualbel, Anhui Province 60,808 60,808 30,289 30,619

e mALEARSE

2rEEARAT —Z—mEesR 245



Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

BERRE RHEENYHE

% of
Land Cost interest
per sq.m. attributable
(RMB)  Land Cost  to the Group Site Area
BEME  (RMB'000) 15H (squm,)
Project City/District Location Project Type (AR%T/  LiHERA FEfE R #EER  Project GFA*
AR it /B L EEH NEREME ¥i%)  (AR¥TR) R (ThHR) BRAREER"
30 Phase 6D, Vancouver City Huaioei, Anhui Centre of new districtin -~ Hotel 30 2,025 100.0% 60,768 67,061
BTEE6DH RH/ Tier 3 iy BE
=il
31 Phase 7, Vancouver City Huaibei, Anhui Centre of new districtin -~ Residential 3 4721 100.0% 80,201 136,772
BEEAETS 28/ Tier 3 clty fix
=T
32 Southwest of Times Square, ~ Huaibel, Anhui Centre of new districtin -~ Residential
Vancouver City /¥ Tier 3ty [z
maEi(BEREARE) =AY
33 Northeast of Times Square, ~ Huaibei, Anhui Centre of new districtin -~ Residential 3 2,862 100.0% 87,072 82,815
Vancouver City 2/ Tier 3 oty frE
RFEN (BREZEL) =T
Subtotal of Huaibei K/} 56,802 1,835,759 1,657,546
N
Subtotal of Anhui 177 434,611 3,622,858 2,460,217
RENG
Jiangsu Province
THE
34 Suzhou Indlustrial Park Suzhou,Jiangsu Tier 2 city with high growth  Residentialcommercial 1,445 363,240 32.9% 21,367 251,391
HI%EE &,/ potentia tz/m%
“BRER
Subtotal of Jiangsu 1,445 363,240 21,367 251,391
STHG
Overseas
b7
% AmberRise EBFRLD/RFE —HETH frz 11,208 86,497 100.0% 15,715 7,719
Total 1,051 8,250,207 5,695,732 7,848,101
&3t

5 Total GFA=D+@+@ =1+ Il + Il

@ under renovation

including those with land use right and contractual interests
including those with construction being completed but not sold and delivered

* BEERG LI BREARES SR i

* BRERTERHERRMOZEDD

# BREERE=O+Q+O =1+1+II

@ KIETIZETH
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

BERRR SRHENYE
Land Bank (sq.m.)
TibGEE (TRk)
Development Phases Types
Including GEL REKLE
Total GFA*™  investment Hold for
(sq.m.) properties  Completed for Under future  Residential & Commercial &
Address BREmE Ahaf sale® development? development®  Facilities| Hotel Il Office Ill
it (FAX) REnx RIHE" BER?  GHAREES  AEREEI EEN EEREAN
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 67,061 67,061 67,061 67,061
ZHAEHRILEARR
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 136,772 136,772 136,772
ZHAEHREILEARRE
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province
ZHAEHRILEARR
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 82,815 82,815 82,815 82,815
ZHAEHREILEARRE
944,149 154,535 139,678 260,406 544,070 731,178 67,061 139,910
1,681,577 154,535 208,601 260,406 1,212,570 1,466,579 67,061 147,937
Suzhou Indlustrial Park, Jiangsu Province 261,391 62,975 251,391 122,886 44,551 83,954
THeEN TFER
251,391 62,975 251,301 122,886 44,551 83,954
2185 Union Avenue, West Vancouver, 7,719 7,719 7,719

British Columbia, Canada
NEAERTRITER
TR RE2185%:

6611428 2067229 922890 2857635 2830903 5174591 329216 1,107,621
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Summary of Financial Information

MBENBE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the

AEEBFKEEAHNEBRRPYBRROKIR
ERBEREFEREE  ARERIFHERESAH

published audited financial statements. EEBT -
Results E4
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BILEE
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
2014 5 20134 20124 2011 4F 20104
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETT ARETT ARETT AREBTT
Revenue A 1,550,105 2,437,605 2,395,625 1,688,699 1,243,871
Profit before tax BrAR AT FE 639,413 824,174 696,831 687,238 640,483
Income Tax FriSHi (237,657) (366,160) (306,778) (308,671) (227,223)
Profit for the year F N FHE 401,756 458,014 390,053 378,567 413,260
Attributable to: AT (L -
Owners of the parent ISYNEIL 2PN 319,725 420,539 336,228 351,391 379,759
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR A 82,031 37,475 53,825 27,176 33,501
401,756 458,014 390,053 378,567 413,260
Assets, Liabilities and Non-controlling Interests (& - EERFZRER
31 December
12A31H
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
2014 5 20134 20124 2011 4F 20104
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®STR ARETRT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Total Assets BEE 20,760,707 17,143,648 14,885,603 13,648,782 11,139,299
Total Liabilities BwEE (13,767,310) (10,954,046)  (9,184,457)  (8,380,674)  (6,324,956)
Non-controlling Interests VAR A (990,849) (302,700) (303,925) (205,400) (178,224)
6,002,548 5,886,902 5,397,221 5,062,708 4,636,119

248 Zhong An Real Estate Limited 2014 Annual Report



KB
ZHONG AN REAL ESTATE
(ﬁ'fﬁf‘tfﬁ' Stock Code : 00672.HK)



	封面
	目錄
	公司資料
	主席報告
	管理層討論與分析
	企業管治報告
	社會責任
	董事及高級管理人員履歷
	董事會報告
	獨立核數師報告
	合併損益表
	合併全面損益表
	合併財務狀況表
	合併權益變動表
	合併現金流量表
	財務狀況表
	財務報表附註
	持作投資的物業
	持作發展及╱或銷售的物業
	財務資料概要
	封底

